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Section I

Purpose and content 

of this guide

Introduction

This guide contains recommendations that listed companies may follow when pre-
paring management reports that accompany financial statements which, in accord-
ance with the related legislation, must contain a fair review of the entity’s business 
development and performance, together with a description of the main risks and 
uncertainties that it faces.

The demand for information on companies arises from the users’ need to assess the 
companies’ past and forecast performance in order to form an opinion and to create 
a basis for future decisions.

The users of the information are the existing and potential investors, and other eco-
nomic and social players -financial analysts, credit institutions, suppliers and credi-
tors, customers, employees, regulators, governments and the general public- who 
use it to satisfy various types of needs including: investment decisions and assess-
ment of the entity’s capacity to pay dividends, meet its financial obligations on the 
maturity date or meet its obligations with regard to the employees’ post-retirement 
benefits.

According to the International Accounting Standards Board1 (IASB), the objective of 
financial statements is to provide information on the financial position, perfor-
mance and changes in the financial position of entities in order to satisfy users’ 
needs and to be useful for users when creating a basis for taking economic decisions.

Since the financial statements relate mainly to past events, they are unlikely to con-
tain all the information that users need as a basis for their investment decisions and, 
accordingly, they should be complemented in at least two different ways:

(1)  by offering explanations on the decisions taken, based on the chosen strategy 
followed in the operating, investing and financing areas; and

(2)  by providing information on the foreseeable evolution and performance of the 
business carried on by the entity, placing them in the context of the objectives 
and strategies that have been set.

It is precisely this need that justifies the requirement for documents such as the 
management report which, in Spain, is obligatory for all corporate groups that pre-
pare consolidated financial statements2 and for all other companies, except for those 

1 IASB: “Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements” (amended in 2010) 

(now called “The Conceptual Framework for financial Reporting”), included in the International Financial 

Reporting Standards (IFRSs) (London, 2012).

2 Consolidated directors’ report, regulated by Article 49 of the Spanish Commercial Code, as worded by 

Law 16/2007, of 4 July, reforming and adapting Spanish corporate law on accounting matters for its in-

ternational harmonisation, based on European Union regulations. 
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that prepare abridged balance sheets and statements of changes in equity3, so that 
the directors may explain their conduct of business and, in order to do this, provide 
other data relating to the entity not included in the annual financial statements.

Since the current trend is towards accounting harmonisation of financial statements 
in Spain and worldwide, it is desirable to pursue the same objective in relation to 
the management report4. Greater comparability through the harmonisation of con-
tent enhances usefulness both externally, by making information of various entities 
comparable, and internally, by presenting financial statements -together with ac-
companying, complementary information- with content and a structure that are 
consistent and uniform over time.

Comparability is sought because it provides a better understanding of each compa-
ny’s activity, performance over time and position with regard to its peers. Greater 
comparability of financial statements among entities helps better protect users’ in-
terests, makes it easier to obtain equity and debt, reduces costs and enhances trust 
among economic players, which in turn enables the markets to be more efficient in 
allocating resources.

With the main purpose of issuing a guide for preparing the information contained 
in the management report that helps increase its overall quality, comparability and 
value, a Working Group was created and promoted by Spanish National Securities 
Market Commission (CNMV) which prepared this document.

The Working Group took into consideration the existence of a proposal to amend 
the Transparency Directive5, which included the need to harmonise the content of 
the documents that accompany the financial statements. This proposal, which ulti-
mately did not come to fruition, envisaged the publication by the European Securi-
ties and Markets Authority (ESMA)6 of certain guides that would specify the infor-
mation that should be included in the management report.

In the case of Spain, a need was detected to prepare a recommendation guide that, 
in line with the spirit of the EU proposal, helps entities with the task of preparing 
the information that should form part of the content of management reports.

In addition, this guide helps to maintain and improve the level of security of the 
members of boards of directors, who are responsible for preparing the management 
report in accordance with Article 35 ter of the Spanish Securities Market Law, with 
regard to compliance with all the requirements set forth in Article 49 of the Spanish 
Commercial Code (Com. Code) and Article 262 of the Spanish Limited Liability 
Companies Law (SLLCL).

3 Article 262 of the Consolidated Spanish Limited Liability Companies Law, approved by Legislative Royal 

Decree 1/2010, of 2 July.

4 This conclusion had previously been reached in the report by the Spanish Accounting and Audit Insti-

tute (ICAC) on the situation of accounting in Spain and guidelines for its reform (Informe sobre la sit-

uación de la contabilidad en España y líneas básicas para abordar su reforma) (Madrid: ICAC, 2002). Conclu-

sion number 99 of the “white paper” on reforming accounting in Spain recommended issuing guidelines 

in relation to the standardisation of the directors’ report and the collection and dissemination of docu-

ments on the best practices followed in its preparation. 

5 Draft amendment to Directive 2004/109/EC (on Transparency) on the harmonisation of transparency 

requirements in relation to information about issuers whose securities are admitted to trading on a 

regulated market (Interinstitutional File 2011/0307).

6 European Securities and Markets Authority; a body established by Regulation (EU) No 1095/2010.
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Therefore, the directors will be in a better position when declaring that “to the best 
of their knowledge” the management report “includes a fair review of the develop-
ment and performance of the business and the position of the issuer (...) together 
with a description of the principal risks and uncertainties that they face7”.

Lastly, the publication of this guide aims to raise awareness among companies of 
the importance of the management report for the users of the information, and of 
the real need to enhance the scope and quality of the information it contains and to 
improve the presentation of this information.

The lack of specific details provided in Article 49 of the Spanish Commercial Code 
and Article 262 of the Spanish Limited Liability Companies Law concerning the 
minimum content of the management report did not contribute to the perception of 
the importance of the report on the part of the persons responsible for its prepara-
tion in relation to the scope and content that it should have, and did not enable the 
enhancement in its quality or comparability. If the management report did not con-
tain key information, the users of business information would be significantly lim-
ited when creating a basis for their economic decisions.

The objetives and the scope of the Working Group are described below.

Objective and scope

The Working Group was established in order to prepare a set of recommendations 
relating to the management reports of Spanish listed entities, in line with the need 
already detected at European level, with the following remit, which constituted its 
work programme:

(a)  To analyse the EU and Spanish regulatory framework regarding management 
reports, including a brief comparison with that of other countries (Germany, 
France, the UK, Canada and the US) and the recommendations issued by the 
IASB.

(b)  To prepare a general recommendation guide that specifies the content of Arti-
cle 49 of the Com. Code and Article 262 of the SLLCL. The purpose of the 
above is to make it easier for entities to prepare the management report in or-
der to meet the following objectives:

 –  To provide data that place in context all the financial information con-
tained in the financial statements.

 –  To furnish additional, complementary information, not contained in the 
financial statements, that is useful for the users of the financial informa-
tion.

 –  To standardise the information contained in the management reports, so 
that it is comparable, firstly, for the same entity over various financial 

7 Article 4.2.c) of Directive 109/2004/EC.
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years and, secondly, among various entities, with regard to the content 
and nature of the information and analysis provided.

 –  To provide enhanced security for the board members responsible8 for 
preparing and publishing the management report with regard to the com-
pleteness of its content.

(c)  To establish, based on the entities’ experience, a framework of good practices 
relating to the information that should be provided in the management report, 
with regard to content, presentation and format. The purpose of all the above 
is for the document to comply with the task assigned to it under the related 
legislation (namely, to complement the financial statements by providing ad-
ditional information not contained in the financial statements and making the 
content thereof easier to understand).

  For this purpose, a set of suggestions was prepared, together with examples 
and illustrations on the treatment that may be given to the various matters 
contained in the management report in order to comply with the principles 
established in the document.

(d)  To provide for the specific characteristics of certain sectors through the prepa-
ration of recommendation guides and specific indicators that complement 
those contained in the general guide.

The main results obtained by the Working Group were embodied in the parts of this 
guide that are described below:

(a)  A proposal for regulatory developments with regard to the management report.

(b)  A reference framework of recommendations and good practices that estab-
lishes principles on the minimum content that should be included in the man-
agement report, in accordance with the related legislation (Article 49 of the 
Com. Code and Article 262 of the SLLCL). The reference framework consists of 
three pillars: I) Objectives of the management report; II) Content of the man-
agement report; and III) Principles and rules for the preparation of the man-
agement report.

(c)  A set of general recommendations on the minimum content included in the 
reference framework to be included in the management report.

(d)  Specific recommendations as a complement to the general guide in certain sec-
tors that will help to adapt it to the particular economic characteristics of cer-
tain sectors of activity of special significance.

(e)  A glossary of terms.

The document prepared by the Working Group is aimed at listed Spanish entities in 
general which, on account of their status as such, are obliged to publish a manage-
ment report together with their financial statements, both separate and consolidat-
ed, regardless of their size, level of capitalisation or nature of the securities traded. 

8 Article 35 ter of the Securities Market Law introduced by Law 6/2007, of 12 April.



13

Section I

Purpose and content 

of this guide

However, the Group prepared and included a specific guide for listed small and 
medium-sized enterprises which is included in Section V.

This guide contains recommendations referring to the content of the consolidated 
annual management report (or the annual management report of the separate finan-
cial statements if the entity is not obliged to present consolidated financial state-
ments). Nevertheless, it also offers listed entities the possibility of implementing the 
philosophy and content of the recommendations, to the extent that they are useful, 
in the management reports of the separate or individual financial statements of the 
companies comprising the group. The entities may include, at the beginning of the 
management report, a statement that the report was prepared in line with the guide, 
provided that, in compliance with the recommendations set forth in the reference 
framework (pillars I, II and III of section II of the guide), they took into considera-
tion the advisability of including any details contained in Section III that are rele-
vant for describing their position and performance.

Lastly, this guide may also be useful for any other Spanish entities that have to pre-
pare and publish a management report, particularly those that intend to be listed on 
the equity markets in the future, for those that usually raise funds from banks and 
financial institutions and, in general, for any entities that, in an exercise of transpar-
ency, wish to provide comparable, high-quality information on management, so 
that these recommendations may be used as a tool for enhancing the content of 
their management reports.

Regulatory framework

EU Directives

The EU regulations on the area covered in this document arise from two long-stand-
ing accounting Directives which have undergone various amendments over their 
lifetimes:

•  Fourth Council Directive of 25 July 1978 based on Article 54 (3) (g) of the 
Treaty on the annual accounts of certain types of companies (Directive 78/660/
EEC).

•  Seventh Council Directive of 13 June 1983 based on Article 54 (3) (g) of the 
Treaty on consolidated accounts (Directive 83/349/EEC).

In 2003 Directive 2003/51/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council intro-
duced a significant amendment to Directive 78/660/EEC, specifically to Article 46, 
the purpose of which was to detail the content of the management report and the 
indicators to be taken into consideration for the preparation thereof. The aim of this 
reform was to ensure that such reports were able to present a fair review of the de-
velopment of the business and of its position, in a manner consistent with the size 
and complexity of the business.

Subsequently, in 2004, Directive 2004/109/EC of the European Parliament and of 
the Council of 15 December 2004 on the harmonisation of transparency require-
ments in relation to information about issuers whose securities are admitted to trad-
ing on a regulated market, known as the Transparency Directive, was published.



14

CNMV

Guide for the preparation 

of management reports 

of listed companies

The Transparency Directive9 establishes that issuers whose shares are admitted to 
trading on a regulated market in the European Union, in addition to the annual 
and half-yearly reports, must also publish and distribute an interim management 
statement (management report) each quarter. The interim statement must contain 
an explanation of material events and transactions that have taken place in the 
relevant period and their impact on the financial position of the issuer and its con-
trolled undertakings, together with a general description of the financial position 
and performance of the issuer and its controlled undertakings during the relevant 
period.

In 2006 Directive 2006/46 was issued which, among other requirements, introduced 
the obligation for companies whose securities are admitted to trading on a regulated 
market and which have their registered office in the Community to disclose an An-
nual Corporate Governance Report as a specific and clearly identifiable section of 
the management report.

Lastly, there are currently two proposal for Directives of the European Parliament 
and of the Council:

•  A draft Directive10 regulating the annual financial statements, consolidated fi-
nancial statements and other similar reports of certain types of companies 
which would repeal the aforementioned accounting Directives and replace 
them and the numerous amendments they have undergone with a single Di-
rective.

•  A draft Directive11 amending accounting Directives 78/660/EEC and 83/349/
EEC to include certain new disclosures relating to the exercise of corporate 
social responsibility which extend the content of the separate and consolidated 
management reports.

The first proposal for a Directive does not introduce any noteworthy amendments 
in relation to the management report and states in the explanatory memorandum 
that “there are no substantive changes to the provisions governing the content of 
this report compared to those currently provided by the Fourth Council Directive 
78/660/EEC and the Seventh Council Directive 83/349/EEC”.

The second proposal is geared towards large companies, which are considered to 
be companies whose average number of employees exceeds 500 and exceed 
either a balance sheet total of EUR 20 million or a net turnover of EUR 40 million. 
When explaining their business evolution and performance, these companies 
must also provide information on aspects relating to the following: employees, 
social issues, the environment, respect of human rights and anti-corruption and 
bribery, including: (i) a description of their policies; (ii) the results of the policies; 
and (iii) the risks related to these areas and how the companies manage them. 
The explanation must include financial and non-financial key performance indi-
cators. The approval of this Directive will change both the scope and content of 
this guide.

9 This Directive, transposed into Spanish legislation through Law 6/2007 and Royal Decree 1362/2007, of 

19 October, is currently subject to review.

10 Interinstitutional File 2011/0308.

11 Interinstitutional File 2013/0110.
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In addition, Article 28 of Commission Regulation (EC) no. 809/2004 of 200412 in-
cludes, in addition to other documents, the financial statements and management 
reports as documents that may be incorporated by reference as base information for 
the preparation of securities issuers’ prospectuses.

Current regulations in Spain

The Spanish regulatory framework relating to the management report can be found, 
on the one hand, in Article 262 of the Spanish Limited Liability Companies Law and, 
on the other hand, in Article 49 of the Spanish Commercial Code. Both include 
stipulations on the minimum content of the management report and the consoli-
dated management report, respectively.

Otherwise, to date no framework has been developed on management reports and 
no guidelines have been established on the content, terms and definitions concern-
ing the information to be published.

Annual Corporate Governance Report

The Spanish Securities Market Law13 requires listed companies to publish an An-
nual Corporate Governance Report (ACGR), which must include the management 
report as an independent section, thereby forming a part thereof.

The ACGR must provide shareholders with at least easily accessible key information 
on the corporate governance practices applied, including a description of the main 
characteristics of the risk and internal control management systems in place in rela-
tion to the financial reporting process. This guide does not cover the content of the 
ACGR, which has already been regulated, but does contain comments on overlap-
ping information contained in the two types of report and provides recommenda-
tions to avoid unnecessary repetitions.

Audit Committee

The Securities Market Law requires issuers of securities admitted to trading on an 
official secondary securities market to have an audit committee which will be re-
sponsible for supervising the financial information on the entity.

The Committee must therefore control the completeness of the financial informa-
tion, which is important because that information will then be given context and 
supplemented by the management report; and moreover, the report itself must con-
tain financial and non-financial information and information on the internal control 
over financial reporting, the accuracy, completeness and authenticity of which must 
first have been supervised by the Audit Committee.

12 In relation to the implementation of Directive 2003/71/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council 

as regards information contained in prospectuses as well as the format, incorporation by reference and 

publication of such prospectuses and dissemination of advertisements.

13 Article 61 bis of Securities Market Law 24/1998, of 28 July, (Amended by Sustainable Economy Law 

2/2011, of 4 March).
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Auditors

With respect to the, in this case partial,14 supervision of the management report, the 
SLLCL entrusts this task to the auditors (Article 263). This mandate is developed 
further in various regulatory texts such as, inter alia, Legislative Royal Decree 
1/201115 or the Spanish Accounting and Audit Institute (ICAC) Resolution of 21 
December 2010. After performing the necessary review, the auditors issue an opin-
ion on whether the accounting information contained in the management report is 
consistent with that included in the financial statements which the report accompa-
nies, but their task does not go beyond that.

The auditors must issue “an opinion on whether or not the management report is 
consistent with the financial statements relating to the same year, if the financial 
statements are accompanied by a management report16.

Likewise, the auditors’ report must contain in an additional paragraph in which the 
external auditors describe firstly that such report is not an integral part of the finan-
cial statements and concludes on whether or not the accounting information in the 
management report is consistent with that contained in the financial statements.

Regulatory framework of the principal markets

The guide is part of the effort that has been made by international bodies and na-
tional regulators to provide a structure and content for management reports. In this 
regard, particularly worthy of note are the documents prepared by the IASB and 
IOSCO, as well as the proposals by national regulators of countries such as Germany, 
Canada, the US and the UK.

Due to Spain’s close links with the international bodies, it is especially important to 
note that the model issued by the IASB, IFRS Practice Statement on Management 
Commentary (in December 2010) has been taken as a model, as well as the guide 
published in February 2003 by the Technical Committee of the International Or-
ganization of Securities Commissions (IOSCO), entitled General Principles Regard-
ing Disclosure of Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition 
and Results of Operations.

The following table shows a summary of the main characteristics of the regulatory 
frameworks analysed in relation to the principal attributes and content of the man-
agement report.

14 Consisting of verifying that the accounting information contained in that report is consistent with that 

contained in the audited financial statements.

15 Legislative Royal Decree 1/2011 approving the Consolidated Spanish Audit Law.

16 Article 3.1.d) of Legislative Royal Decree 1/2011 approving the Consolidated Spanish Audit Law.
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d 
in

te
rm

ed
ia

te
 p

er
io

d 
fo

r w
hi

ch
 th

e 
p

re
se

nt
at

io
n 

of
 fi

na
nc

ia
l s

ta
te

m
en

ts
 is

 
re

qu
ire

d,
 n

am
el

y:
1.

  T
he

 c
au

se
s 

of
 s

ig
ni

fic
an

t c
ha

ng
es

 
fr

om
 o

ne
 y

ea
r t

o 
an

ot
he

r i
n 

ite
m

s 
of

 
th

e 
fin

an
ci

al
 s

ta
te

m
en

ts
.

2.
  I

nf
or

m
at

io
n 

re
la

tin
g 

to
 a

ll 
th

e 
se

gm
en

ts
 in

to
 w

hi
ch

 th
e 

co
m

p
an

y 
is

 
di

vi
de

d.
3.

  T
he

 S
EC

 o
p

te
d 

fo
r t

he
 p

ub
lic

at
io

n 
of

 
a 

se
t o

f g
ui

de
lin

es
 o

f a
 g

en
er

al
 

na
tu

re
 o

n 
th

e 
p

re
p

ar
at

io
n 

of
 th

e 
M

D
&

A
 (M

an
ag

em
en

t D
is

cu
ss

io
n 

an
d 

A
na

ly
si

s)
 s

o 
th

at
 th

e 
co

m
p

an
ie

s 
m

ay
 

ad
dr

es
s 

th
e 

sp
ec

ifi
c 

fe
at

ur
es

 o
f t

he
 

in
du

st
ry

 in
 w

hi
ch

 th
ey

 o
p

er
at

e 
by

 
ad

ap
tin

g 
th

e 
in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
th

at
 th

ey
 

w
ill

 p
ub

lis
h.

 C
on

te
nt

 o
f t

he
 M

D
&

A
:

  
 –

  L
iq

ui
di

ty
.

  
 –

  C
ap

ita
l r

es
ou

rc
es

.
  

 –
  R

es
ul

ts
 o

f o
p

er
at

io
ns

.
  

 –
  O

ff
 b

al
an

ce
 s

he
et

 tr
an

sa
ct

io
ns

.
  

 –
  C

on
tr

ac
tu

al
 o

b
lig

at
io

ns
.

  
 –

  Q
ua

lit
at

iv
e 

an
d 

qu
an

tit
at

iv
e 

di
sc

lo
su

re
s 

on
 m

ar
ke

t r
is

k.

Th
e 

M
D

&
A

 s
ho

ul
d 

ad
dr

es
s 

an
y 

si
gn

ifi
ca

nt
 in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
th

at
 m

ay
 n

ot
 

b
ee

n 
co

m
p

le
te

ly
 re

fle
ct

ed
 in

 th
e 

fin
an

ci
al

 s
ta

te
m

en
ts

, s
uc

h 
as

:
1.

 C
on

tin
ge

nt
 o

b
lig

at
io

ns
; 

2.
 F

ai
lu

re
 to

 m
ee

t d
eb

t o
b

lig
at

io
ns

; 
3.

  O
ff

 b
al

an
ce

 s
he

et
 fi

na
nc

in
g 

tr
an

sa
ct

io
ns

;
4.

 C
on

tr
ac

tu
al

 o
b

lig
at

io
ns

;
5.

  T
re

nd
s 

an
d 

ris
ks

 th
at

 s
ha

p
ed

 th
e 

fin
an

ci
al

 s
ta

te
m

en
ts

 in
 th

e 
p

as
t a

nd
 

ar
e 

re
as

on
ab

ly
 li

ke
ly

 to
 s

ha
p

e 
th

em
 

in
 th

e 
fu

tu
re

; 
6.

  I
nf

or
m

at
io

n 
on

 th
e 

qu
al

it
y 

an
d 

p
ot

en
tia

l v
ar

ia
b

ili
ty

 o
f t

he
 c

om
p

an
y’

s 
p

ro
fit

 a
nd

 lo
ss

es
, a

nd
 c

as
h 

flo
w

s 
so

 
th

at
 in

ve
st

or
s 

m
ay

 a
na

ly
se

 if
 p

as
t 

p
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 w
ill

 b
e 

us
ef

ul
 fo

r 
de

te
rm

in
in

g 
fu

tu
re

 p
er

fo
rm

an
ce

.

A
rt

ic
le

 4
6 

of
 D

ir
ec

ti
ve

 7
8/

66
0/

EE
C

, C
on

te
nt

 o
f t

he
 a

nn
ua

l r
ep

or
t:

1.
 A

 fa
ir 

re
vi

ew
 o

f t
he

 d
ev

el
op

m
en

t a
nd

 p
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 o
f t

he
 c

om
p

an
y’

s 
ac

tiv
it

y.
 

2.
 A

 d
es

cr
ip

tio
n 

of
 th

e 
m

ai
n 

ris
ks

 a
nd

 u
nc

er
ta

in
tie

s 
th

at
 it

 m
us

t f
ac

e.
Bo

th
 m

at
te

rs
 s

ho
ul

d 
b

e 
ad

dr
es

se
d 

ta
ki

ng
 in

to
 c

on
si

de
ra

tio
n 

th
e 

co
m

p
le

xi
ty

 a
nd

 s
iz

e 
of

 th
e 

b
us

in
es

s;
Th

e 
an

al
ys

is
 s

ho
ul

d 
in

cl
ud

e,
 w

he
re

 n
ec

es
sa

ry
, t

he
 k

ey
 in

di
ca

to
rs

 o
f fi

na
nc

ia
l a

nd
 n

on
-fi

na
nc

ia
l p

er
fo

rm
an

ce
 th

at
 a

re
 re

le
va

nt
 

fo
r t

he
 s

p
ec

ifi
c 

ac
tiv

it
y.

 In
fo

rm
at

io
n 

sh
ou

ld
 a

ls
o 

b
e 

in
cl

ud
ed

 in
 re

la
tio

n 
to

 th
e 

en
vi

ro
nm

en
t a

nd
 e

m
p

lo
ye

es
;

3.
 T

he
 re

p
or

t s
ho

ul
d 

al
so

 in
cl

ud
e 

in
fo

rm
at

io
n 

re
la

tin
g 

to
:

(a
) 

A
ny

 s
ig

ni
fic

an
t e

ve
nt

 th
at

 m
ay

 h
av

e 
oc

cu
rr

ed
 s

in
ce

 th
e 

en
d 

of
 th

e 
re

p
or

tin
g 

p
er

io
d.

(b
) 

Th
e 

co
m

p
an

y’
s 

lik
el

y 
fu

tu
re

 d
ev

el
op

m
en

t.
(c

) 
Re

se
ar

ch
 a

nd
 d

ev
el

op
m

en
t a

ct
iv

iti
es

.
(d

) 
In

fo
rm

at
io

n 
on

 th
e 

ac
qu

is
iti

on
 o

f t
re

as
ur

y 
sh

ar
es

. 
(e

) 
Ex

is
te

nc
e 

of
 c

om
p

an
y 

b
ra

nc
he

s.
 

(f
) 

 In
 re

la
tio

n 
to

 th
e 

us
e,

 b
y 

th
e 

co
m

p
an

y,
 o

f fi
na

nc
ia

l i
ns

tr
um

en
ts

, a
nd

 w
he

n 
it 

is
 s

ig
ni

fic
an

t f
or

 th
e 

m
ea

su
re

m
en

t o
f i

ts
 

as
se

ts
, l

ia
b

ili
tie

s,
 fi

na
nc

ia
l p

os
iti

on
 a

nd
 re

su
lt

s.
 

 
– 

 Th
e 

co
m

p
an

y’
s 

fin
an

ci
al

 ri
sk

 m
an

ag
em

en
t o

b
je

ct
iv

es
 a

nd
 p

ol
ic

ie
s,

 in
cl

ud
in

g 
th

e 
p

ol
ic

y 
fo

r e
ac

h 
of

 th
e 

m
ai

n 
ty

p
es

 o
f 

fo
re

ca
st

 tr
an

sa
ct

io
n 

to
 w

hi
ch

 h
ed

ge
 a

cc
ou

nt
in

g 
is

 a
p

p
lie

d.
 

– 
 Th

e 
co

m
p

an
y’

s 
ex

p
os

ur
e 

to
 p

ric
e,

 c
re

di
t, 

liq
ui

di
ty

 a
nd

 c
as

h 
flo

w
 ri

sk
.

A
d

d
it

io
n

al
 re

q
ui

re
m

en
ts

 in
 th

e 
U

n
it

ed
 

K
in

g
d

om
:

1.
  R

ec
om

m
en

da
tio

ns
 o

n 
th

e 
am

ou
nt

 to
 

b
e 

di
st

rib
ut

ed
 a

s 
di

vi
de

nd
. 

2.
 F

ix
ed

 a
ss

et
s.

3.
  L

is
te

d 
co

m
p

an
ie

s.
 F

or
ec

as
t e

ar
ni

ng
s 

an
d 

ad
di

tio
na

l e
xp

la
na

tio
n 

if 
th

e 
ea

rn
in

gs
 fo

r t
he

 re
p

or
tin

g 
p

er
io

d 
di

ff
er

 b
y 

m
or

e 
th

an
 1

0%
 fr

om
 th

e 
es

tim
at

es
 p

ub
lis

he
d 

b
y 

th
e 

co
m

p
an

y.

A
d

d
it

io
n

al
 re

q
ui

re
m

en
ts

 in
 F

ra
n

ce
:

Th
e 

sa
m

e 
re

qu
ire

m
en

ts
 a

s 
th

e 
co

nt
en

t 
of

 th
e 

D
ire

ct
iv

e.
 N

o 
ad

di
tio

na
l 

re
qu

ire
m

en
ts

.

A
d

d
it

io
n

al
 re

q
ui

re
m

en
ts

 in
 G

er
m

an
y:

Th
e 

sa
m

e 
re

qu
ire

m
en

ts
 a

s 
th

e 
co

nt
en

t 
of

 th
e 

D
ire

ct
iv

e.
 N

o 
ad

di
tio

na
l 

re
qu

ire
m

en
ts

.
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U
S

C
an

ad
a

U
K

Fr
an

ce
G

er
m

an
y

A
pp

ro
va

l o
f 

th
e 

m
an

ag
em

en
t 

co
m

m
en

ta
ry

M
an

ag
em

en
t i

s 
re

sp
on

si
b

le
 fo

r 
p

re
p

ar
in

g 
th

e 
co

m
p

an
y’

s 
M

D
&

A
 in

 
ac

co
rd

an
ce

 w
ith

 th
e 

ru
le

s 
an

d 
re

gu
la

tio
ns

 a
do

p
te

d 
by

 th
e 

SE
C

. T
he

 
p

re
p

ar
at

io
n 

of
 th

e 
M

D
&

A
, i

n 
ac

co
rd

an
ce

 
w

ith
 th

e 
ru

le
s 

an
d 

re
gu

la
tio

ns
 a

do
p

te
d 

by
 th

e 
SE

C
, r

eq
ui

re
s 

m
an

ag
em

en
t t

o 
in

te
rp

re
t t

he
 c

rit
er

ia
, t

o 
ob

ta
in

 th
e 

co
rr

ec
t h

is
to

ric
al

 d
at

a 
fr

om
 th

e 
co

m
p

an
y’

s 
ac

co
un

tin
g 

b
oo

ks
 a

nd
 

re
co

rd
s,

 to
 ta

ke
 d

ec
is

io
ns

 o
n 

th
e 

re
le

va
nc

e 
of

 th
e 

in
fo

rm
at

io
n 

to
 b

e 
in

cl
ud

ed
, a

nd
 to

 p
re

p
ar

e 
th

e 
es

tim
at

es
 

an
d 

as
su

m
p

tio
ns

 re
la

tin
g 

to
 th

e 
di

sc
lo

su
re

s.

Bo
th

 th
e 

an
nu

al
 a

nd
 th

e 
in

te
rim

 M
D

&
A

s 
sh

ou
ld

 b
e 

ap
p

ro
ve

d 
by

 m
an

ag
em

en
t 

p
rio

r t
o 

b
ei

ng
 p

ub
lis

he
d.

 H
ow

ev
er

, 
m

an
ag

em
en

t m
ay

 d
el

eg
at

e 
ap

p
ro

va
l o

f 
th

e 
in

te
rim

 M
D

&
A

 to
 th

e 
A

ud
it 

C
om

m
itt

ee
.

Th
e 

re
p

or
t s

ho
ul

d 
b

e 
ap

p
ro

ve
d 

by
 

m
an

ag
em

en
t a

nd
 s

ig
ne

d 
on

 it
s 

b
eh

al
f 

by
 a

 d
ire

ct
or

 o
r t

he
 s

ec
re

ta
ry

.
Th

e 
in

cl
us

io
n 

of
 fa

ls
e 

or
 m

is
le

ad
in

g 
st

at
em

en
ts

 in
 th

e 
re

p
or

t w
ill

 g
iv

e 
ris

e 
to

 
th

ird
-p

ar
ty

 li
ab

ili
ty

 if
 m

an
ag

em
en

t w
as

 
aw

ar
e 

of
 th

es
e 

st
at

em
en

ts
 o

r a
ct

ed
 

ne
gl

ig
en

tl
y 

in
 th

is
 re

sp
ec

t. 
C

on
ce

al
m

en
t 

of
 s

ig
ni

fic
an

t f
ac

ts
 b

y 
a 

di
re

ct
or

 w
ill

 a
ls

o 
gi

ve
 ri

se
 to

 th
ird

-p
ar

ty
 li

ab
ili

ty
.

Th
e 

b
oa

rd
 o

f d
ire

ct
or

s,
 m

an
ag

em
en

t o
r 

ex
ec

ut
iv

es
 s

ho
ul

d 
p

re
p

ar
e 

th
e 

in
ve

nt
or

y 
an

d 
fin

an
ci

al
 s

ta
te

m
en

ts
, (

...
) 

an
d 

sh
ou

ld
 p

re
p

ar
e 

a 
m

an
ag

em
en

t 
re

p
or

t e
xp

la
in

in
g 

th
e 

p
os

iti
on

 o
f t

he
 

co
m

p
an

y 
in

 th
e 

p
re

vi
ou

s 
re

p
or

tin
g 

p
er

io
d,

 a
 fo

re
ca

st
 o

f i
ts

 fu
tu

re
 

p
er

fo
rm

an
ce

, t
he

 s
ig

ni
fic

an
t e

ve
nt

s 
th

at
 

ha
ve

 o
cc

ur
re

d 
si

nc
e 

th
e 

en
d 

of
 th

e 
re

p
or

tin
g 

p
er

io
d 

un
til

 th
e 

da
te

 o
f 

p
re

p
ar

at
io

n 
of

 th
e 

re
p

or
t, 

an
d 

th
e 

re
se

ar
ch

 a
nd

 d
ev

el
op

m
en

t a
ct

iv
iti

es
.

Bo
ar

d 
of

 d
ire

ct
or

s.

A
ud

ito
r’s

 
fu

nc
tio

n
To

 in
di

ca
te

 th
e 

de
gr

ee
 o

f c
on

si
st

en
cy

 
b

et
w

ee
n 

th
e 

in
fo

rm
at

io
n 

p
ro

vi
de

d 
in

 
th

e 
M

D
&

A
 a

nd
 th

e 
co

m
p

an
y’

s 
fin

an
ci

al
 

st
at

em
en

ts
 o

r w
ith

 th
e 

in
fo

rm
at

io
n 

ob
ta

in
ed

 b
y 

th
e 

au
di

to
rs

 in
 th

e 
co

ur
se

 
of

 th
ei

r w
or

k.
 T

he
 a

ud
ito

rs
 m

ay
 

w
ith

ho
ld

 th
ei

r r
ep

or
t o

r r
ef

us
e 

to
 ta

ke
 

p
ar

t i
n 

th
e 

au
di

t e
ng

ag
em

en
t i

f t
he

 
in

co
ns

is
te

nc
ie

s 
or

 e
rr

or
s 

th
ey

 fi
nd

 a
re

 
ve

ry
 s

ig
ni

fic
an

t. 
N

or
m

al
ly

 th
e 

ex
te

rn
al

 
au

di
to

rs
 w

ou
ld

 re
st

ric
t t

he
m

se
lv

es
 to

 
di

sc
us

si
ng

 th
is

 ty
p

e 
of

 is
su

e 
w

ith
 

m
an

ag
em

en
t w

ith
 a

 v
ie

w
 to

 re
so

lv
in

g 
it.

Th
e 

ex
te

rn
al

 a
ud

ito
rs

 re
ce

iv
e 

in
fo

rm
at

io
n,

 fo
r e

xa
m

p
le

 th
e 

M
D

&
A

s,
 

p
ub

lis
he

d 
in

 re
p

or
ts

 c
on

ta
in

in
g 

th
e 

fin
an

ci
al

 s
ta

te
m

en
ts

 o
n 

w
hi

ch
 th

ey
 w

ill
 

ex
p

re
ss

 a
n 

op
in

io
n 

fo
r t

he
 p

ur
p

os
e 

of
 

ch
ec

ki
ng

 th
at

 th
er

e 
ar

e 
no

 
in

co
ns

is
te

nc
ie

s 
b

et
w

ee
n 

th
e 

fin
an

ci
al

 
st

at
em

en
ts

 a
nd

 th
e 

ot
he

r i
nf

or
m

at
io

n.

Th
e 

ex
te

rn
al

 a
ud

ito
rs

 a
re

 re
qu

ire
d 

to
 

ex
p

re
ss

 a
n 

op
in

io
n 

on
 w

he
th

er
 th

e 
co

nt
en

t o
f t

he
 m

an
ag

em
en

t r
ep

or
t i

s 
co

ns
is

te
nt

 w
ith

 th
e 

in
fo

rm
at

io
n 

co
nt

ai
ne

d 
in

 th
e 

co
m

p
an

y’
s 

ac
co

un
ts

.

To
 c

he
ck

 th
e 

co
ns

is
te

nc
y 

an
d 

au
th

en
tic

it
y 

of
 th

e 
co

m
p

an
y’

s 
fin

an
ci

al
 

st
at

em
en

ts
 w

ith
 in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
ob

ta
in

ed
 

fr
om

 th
e 

m
an

ag
em

en
t c

om
m

en
ta

ry
 

ai
m

ed
 a

t i
nv

es
to

rs
 o

r s
ha

re
ho

ld
er

s 
in

 
re

la
tio

n 
to

 th
e 

co
m

p
an

y’
s 

fin
an

ci
al

 
p

os
iti

on
 o

r t
he

 fi
na

nc
ia

l s
ta

te
m

en
ts

 
co

lle
ct

ed
 d

ur
in

g 
th

e 
au

di
t. 

Th
e 

au
di

to
rs

 
sh

ou
ld

 a
ls

o 
ch

ec
k 

th
e 

co
ns

is
te

nc
y 

an
d 

ac
cu

ra
cy

 o
f t

he
 c

on
so

lid
at

ed
 fi

na
nc

ia
l 

st
at

em
en

ts
, a

nd
 th

e 
co

nt
en

t o
f t

he
 

G
ro

up
 m

an
ag

em
en

t c
om

m
en

ta
ry

.

– 
 To

 s
ta

te
 w

he
th

er
 th

e 
in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
p

ro
vi

de
d 

in
 th

e 
m

an
ag

em
en

t r
ep

or
t 

(L
ag

eb
er

ic
ht

) a
nd

 th
e 

gr
ou

p
 

m
an

ag
em

en
t r

ep
or

t 
(K

on
ce

rn
la

ge
b

er
ic

ht
) i

s 
co

ns
is

te
nt

 w
ith

 
th
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In addition, Appendix D includes a section containing summaries of the foregoing 
regulations that were used as a reference point for wording many of the recom-
mendations of this document. This Appendix describes in detail, firstly, both the 
international regulations and the regulations applicable to each of the countries 
under analysis and, secondly, the minimum content they establish for manage-
ment reports. Also, certain aspects governed by specific national regulations were 
taken into consideration such as the approval of the document and the role of 
auditors.

An analysis was also made of the existence of recommendation guides at national or 
international level that may be useful for interested parties in the preparation of the 
information that accompanies financial statements.

The analysis of the information contained in Appendix D and the subsequent iden-
tification of best practices were used as a basis by the Working Group for preparing 
the reference framework (Section II) and the set of recommendations, both general 
and specific (Section III), presented herein.

Content of Working Group proposals

Regulatory developments

Having analysed current legislation with regard to the Management Report, the 
Management Report Working Group (MRWG) considers that certain changes to its 
regulation could be made in order to enhance its usefulness for investors and to re-
duce entities’ administrative expenses.

For the purposes described above, the proposed changes are as follows:

–  To avoid duplication between the content of the financial statements or the 
ACGR and the management report. It has been seen that there are certain mat-
ters that can be repetitive including, among others: disclosures on treasury 
shares, events after the reporting period, information on risks and uncertain-
ties and information on financial instruments (see Appendix C).

–  It is proposed that the duplications indicated above be avoided by regulating 
the content of the management report by exception, so that the information 
already included in the financial statements or the ACGR does not have to be 
repeated in the management report.

–  That the related legislation expressly provide for the possibility of including 
the ACGR, in any event, by reference in the management report.

–  In the event of a regulatory development with regard to the content of the 
management report, that the contributions made herein by the MRWG be 
taken into consideration for listed entities at least.

Taking into consideration the various reports required of listed entities and having 
analysed that, in certain cases, information is duplicated among them, the MRWG 
proposes that a project be undertaken with the purpose of producing a report that 
groups together and simplifies the disclosure requirements for listed entities, in or-
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der to provide information that is useful for investors and other users and that is 
verifiable for the auditors.

Furthermore, with regard to audits, guidelines could be given by the auditor’s bod-
ies for regulating any review engagements that the entities might commission, on a 
voluntary basis, from auditors on the content of the management report.

Reference framework

With the purpose of having a set of principles and good practices relating to the in-
formation contained in the management report, with regard to its content, presenta-
tion and format, the Working Group established a reference framework17 on which 
to base its recommendations.

This reference framework consists of three pillars that summarise the philosophy 
that encouraged the Group to act and it is proposed as the set of principles and rules 
that is recommended to be taken into consideration in the preparation of the man-
agement report.

Pillar I establishes the reporting objectives that the management report should pur-
sue. Pillar II offers a classification of the information to be included therein. Pillar II 
details and lists the principles and rules to be observed in the report preparation 
process.

Recommendation guide

With the objective of standardising the content of the management reports of Span-
ish listed companies, the Working Group prepared this guide which includes recom-
mendations18 on the specific content that companies may regard as relevant to in-
clude, which is related to legal requirements, and the form in which it may be 
included. The guide contains suggestions on the types of information to be pre-
sented and the manner in which to do so, including certain reference indicators that 
the listed companies may use for preparing the content of their respective manage-
ment reports.

Although there are several ways in which to comply with the provisions of Article 
49 of the Com. Code and Article 262 of the SLLCL, in relation to the application of 
this guide, it is considered that any entities that decide to abide by it and follow its 
recommendations when preparing their management reports will be complying not 
only with legislation but also with the spirit of enhancing the information used for 
preparing these reports, namely, to increase the quality of the financial information 
by providing a set of explanations and complementary information that enhance it 
for the users’ benefit.

The particular characteristics of specific sectors were also taken into consideration 
through the preparation of recommendations that may complement or help to ap-

17 Content in Section II hereof (Reference framework).

18 Content in Section III hereof (Recommendation guide for the preparation of the information contained 

in the directors’ report).
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ply the general guide. In particular, recommendations were included in relation to 
the banking sector and listed small and medium-sized enterprises (LSMEs). The 
former case involves complementing the information and the indicators in certain 
critical aspects of the management of credit institutions. The latter involves a sim-
plification of the recommendations of the guide so that it may be applied by LSMEs 
without giving rise to an excessive workload or costs, in line with the Explanatory 
Memorandum in the proposed amendments to the Transparency Directive19.

19 Draft amendment to Directive 2004/109/EC (on Transparency) on the harmonisation of transparency 

requirements in relation to information about issuers whose securities are admitted to trading on a 

regulated market (Interinstitutional File 2011/0307).
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General issues

Content and scope

The management report is a document whose function is to provide certain infor-
mation that places the content of the financial statements in context, in order to 
enable users to interpret them appropriately, and to include additional information 
not included in the financial statements. This information should present fairly the 
directors’ point of view with respect to the entity.

The reference framework comprises a set of general principles and good practices 
that may be taken into account by those preparing the management report. These 
principles will only be applicable to the preparation of the management report, 
since they aim to fulfil the role assigned to this document, which may not necessar-
ily coincide with that attributed to other documents composing the corporate regu-
latory information, but which in all cases is complementary to the information pro-
vided by the financial statements that it accompanies.

The analysis of the principles and good practices included in this framework reveals 
that, in the management report preparation process, it is important to bear the ad-
dressees in mind when deciding on the content that should be included and how 
this content should be presented. In short, the entity’s management should take the 
users’ needs into consideration when selecting, processing and presenting the infor-
mation. 

Responsibility

Directive 2006/46/EC20 establishes that the responsibility for the preparation and 
publication of the financial statements and the management report, at separate and 
consolidated level, will be based on national law. In the case of Spain, the rules gov-
erning responsibility are contained in Article 35 ter21 of the Spanish Securities Mar-
ket Law, which establishes that the responsibility for the preparation and publica-
tion of the management report “should fall on, at least, the issuer and its directors 
in accordance with any conditions that may be established in regulations”. The di-
rectors are therefore responsible in so much as they are the authors of the manage-
ment report. 

Therefore, in order to encourage credible processes for issuing financial informa-
tion, the members of the bodies responsible for preparing a company’s financial 
information guarantee that the financial information included in the financial state-

20 Directive 2006/46/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 14 June 2006.

21 This was added by Law 6/2007, of 12 April, reforming Spanish Securities Market Law 24/1988, of 28 July, 

amending the regime for takeover bids and the transparency of issuers, the implementation of which is 

regulated by Article 10 of Royal Decree 1362/2007, of 19 October.
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ments presents fairly the activity and results in the period in question, while the 
management report should explain the entity’s performance in a fair and sufficient 
manner, the factors behind its performance and the risks and opportunities associ-
ated with its activity in the future. 

For its part, the Audit Committee22 is responsible for supervising the process of 
preparing and presenting regulated financial information, including the manage-
ment report. Therefore, its mission with respect to this document is similar to that 
which it has in relation to the financial statements. In particular, it should check that 
it contains all the mandatory disclosures and that it includes sufficient information 
in order to fulfil its purpose.

Voluntary nature

The reference framework is not binding. Therefore, in order to respect the voluntary 
principle, a set of comments and recommendations is offered in order to contribute 
to the dissemination of good practices aimed at enhancing comparability among 
listed entities and, ultimately, the satisfaction of the needs of the information users. 

However, any entities that have followed the recommendations contained in this 
guide may state so in the title of the management report. Statements of partial com-
pliance do not guarantee that the principles and criteria contained in this guide 
were followed.

The potential addressees of the recommendations of this reference framework are 
listed entities in Spain in general that are obliged to publish a management report 
together with their financial statements, both separate and consolidated, regardless 
of their size, level of capitalisation or nature of the securities traded. 

Since the intention of the Working Group, promoted by the CNMV, in issuing this 
framework is to promote a set of good practices with regard to the management re-
port, it is considered necessary to allow the entities’ directors to exercise discretion 
and to adapt the information to be published to each entity’s particular characteris-
tics. This intention was achieved through the publication of a non-mandatory refer-
ence framework supplemented by suggestions and examples for whichever entities 
decide to use it.

Identification of the management report

Since the management report is an obligatory document for entities whose securi-
ties are listed on an official market, as are the financial statements and the auditors’ 
report, it is usual and highly recommendable for it to be identified in the annual 
report or other equivalent document submitted for the purpose of approving the 
entity’s management.

This identification is very useful for users of the report who may therefore know the 
information which enjoys special protection due to its inclusion in the management 
report. Generally speaking, unless otherwise stated, the introductory sections of an-

22 See “Audit Committee” in Section I.
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nual reports or equivalent documents (chairman’s letter, summary of changes in 
figures, etc.) do not form part of the management report.

Principles and good practices

The principles and good practices recommended in this framework, in the case of 
Spain, are based on the regulations applicable23 to the management report and its 
content, and, at international level, on the content of two international reference 
documents, IFRS Practice Statement on Management Commentary issued by the 
IASB and General Principles Regarding Disclosure of Management’s Discussion and 
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations published by the Interna-
tional Organization of Securities Commissions (IOSCO). Regulations in force in 
other countries with developed markets were also taken into consideration24.

The aforementioned documents were chosen in view of the broad, global accept-
ance of the two bodies that issued them25. Furthermore, the recommendations con-
tained in these reports are potentially applicable to Spain’s case, since they both 
develop reference frameworks of a general nature and, therefore, in the words of 
the Technical Committee of the IOSCO “irrespective of the terminology used in dif-
ferent jurisdictions to describe this type of disclosure” (MD&A in the United States, 
OFR in the United Kingdom, etc.) what matters is that “this qualitative information 
about a company’s operations and financial conditions is a critical component of 
information that public companies provide to the markets”.

This reference framework is structured around three pillars, which contain the ob-
jectives (pillar I), the minimum content (pillar II) and the principles and rules to be 
followed when preparing the management report (pillar III).

Pillar I. Objectives of the management report

The main objective of the publication of the management report is to provide infor-
mation with which an entity’s results and financial position may be interpreted. 
Similarly, it offers, as part of its content, an explanation of the company’s past per-
formance and outlook. Furthermore, the management report aims to explain the 
risks, uncertainties and opportunities facing the entity, which determine its current 
situation and performance and may help to explain its future performance.

In its report, the Technical Committee of the IOSCO indicated that “a listed compa-
ny should publish, in very general terms, all information that may be material to an 
investor’s investment decision”. This objective is very general and may not be very 
workable in practice since it involves the difficulty of choosing the relevant informa-
tion from all that is available. 

As a result, entities are recommended to focus the content of the report so that no 
potentially important information is omitted in order to enable current and poten-

23 See “EU Directives” and “Current regulations in Spain” in Section I (Regulatory framework).

24 See “Regulatory framework of the principal markets” and Appendix D.

25 The International Organization of Securities Markets (IOSCO) comprises the regulators of more than 90% 

of the world’s securities markets.
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tial investors to form their opinion on the entities and create a basis for taking deci-
sions. In view of the fact that other stakeholders, apart from investors, are also users 
of the management report, their needs should also be taken into account when de-
signing its form and content.

This reference to the content, which is rather broad in principle, may be specified 
using four objectives that should act as a guide for a listed entity in preparing its 
management report. These objectives are as follows:

1.1.  To provide a fair explanation of the situation of the entity and its business 
performance. The management report is the mean by which management 
may communicate with users interested in the financial statements and other 
financial information issued by the entity. The authors place the actions car-
ried out over the reporting period in the context of the economy and com-
ment on them in the light of the entity’s objectives and overall strategy and 
forecasts, for the purpose of accountability and predicting future performance. 
This enables investors and other users to take their particular decisions de-
pending on their relationship with the entity. The analysis to be performed 
should be balanced and complete, so that the targets set may be assessed. 

1.2.  To disclose the entity’s risks, uncertainties and opportunities. Since the 
management and administration of any entity are carried out in an environ-
ment of risk and uncertainty, the management report is the appropriate 
place for placing on record the main operational and financial risks faced by 
the entity, in order to convey to the user the relative degree of security with 
which the activity is carried on. Similarly, the opportunities and advantages 
enjoyed by the entity and that it may leverage for its benefit in the future 
should be disclosed in the management report. The provision of prospective 
information should be understood and assumed in a context of risk or un-
certainty, and as such should be described and explained accordingly.

1.3.  To supplement the information contained in the financial statements. Ar-
ticle 49.1 of the Spanish Commercial Code establishes that “the consolidated 
management report shall include, if applicable, supplementary references 
and explanations on the amounts detailed in the consolidated financial 
statements”. A similar wording is included in Article 262 of the Spanish 
Limited Liability Companies Law with regard to separate financial state-
ments. In addition, in section 5 of both Articles, it is stated that “the infor-
mation contained in the management report shall, under no circumstances, 
justify the absence of financial statements where this information should be 
included in accordance with the provisions of the preceding Articles and the 
related implementing legislation”. Therefore, the management report is de-
signed to be a different document from the financial statements and it pro-
vides another type of information, both financial and non-financial, that 
enables users to place the financial information it contains in the economic 
and management context of the entity. Accordingly, it complements and 
supplements the financial statements and completes the view that a user of 
the financial information may form of the entity and its group on the basis 
of the financial statements.

  Therefore, the management report is provided as part of an information 
package the central part of which relates to the financial statements for the 
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period. As explained above, the main function of the management report is 
to place the figures of the financial statements in their context, so that they 
may be understood in relation to the objectives, strategy and actions of man-
agement. It also provides information and analyses that go beyond the 
scope of historical accounting data, covering both financial matters not ad-
dressed in the accounting information (e.g. action plans in relation to inno-
vation or forecasts of future activity), and non-financial aspects of the enti-
ty’s performance (e.g. environmental or social data). The content of this 
information is occasionally required by legislation. On other occasions, the 
decision on whether to include and subsequently expand upon this informa-
tion is determined by the users.

1.4.  To present information that is relevant, reliable, understandable, verifia-
ble, timely and useful for the user. The information provided should meet 
the qualitative characteristics of relevance and reliability. It should also be 
worded in such a way that it may be understood by any user with general 
knowledge about the entity and its activities; it should contain sufficient, 
timely information that may be verified in the case of quantitative data; and 
it will be justified by the usefulness it provides to current and potential in-
vestors and to all other groups interested in the entity’s performance.

Pillar II. Content of the management report

The aim of the second pillar of this reference framework is to establish recommen-
dations on the content of the management report as required under current applica-
ble regulations, and to highlight other types of information that, since they are 
commonly provided, give rise to the need to set minimum recommendations for 
making the information comparable and understandable. 

The specific recommendations for including this minimum content in the manage-
ment report are explained and clarified in Section III below. How to deal with pos-
sible duplications between the content detailed below and the information to be 
provided in other mandatory and voluntary documents is explained in Appendix C, 
which includes recommendations for differentiating the information and avoiding 
unnecessary duplication as far as possible.

These recommendations include all the requirements arising from the applicable 
regulatory framework, including EU regulations and national laws that transpose its 
content to Spanish legislation.

Furthermore, publication of the recommended information will also contribute to 
achieving the objectives pursued by disseminating the management report, which 
comprise the content of pillar I of the “reference framework”.

It is therefore recommended that the management report presented by the entity 
contain, at least, the following sections:
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2.1. Situation of the entity

	 	2.1.1.	 Organisational	 structure: the management report should contain in-
formation relating to the company’s organisational structure and its deci-
sion-making process for managing the business. To the extent that it is rel-
evant, it is recommended that entities provide information about the 
decision-making in each of their segments or components. 

	 	2.1.2.	 Modus	operandi: the management report should also provide infor-
mation on the entity’s objectives and strategies for action. This information 
should help the users of the information to understand not only the entity 
and, where appropriate, the group it heads, but also the environment in 
which it operates. It is also designed as a starting point for explaining and 
understanding performance, results and future prospects. 

2.2. Business performance and results

  The entity shall provide an analysis of the performance and results of its 
businesses, in which it will include explanations on the entity’s performance 
and evolution during the reporting period and its position at the end thereof. 
These explanations offer the users of the financial information the views of 
management with regard to the factors and trends affecting the businesses, 
and explanations of how they had a positive or negative effect on the perfor-
mance reflected in the financial statements. It is recommended that the en-
tity compare the performance in the reporting period with that in the prior 
period, insofar as this analysis may provide guidance on future performance. 
The entity should include, with the level of detail required in order to facili-
tate understanding of these aspects, the following:

	 	2.2.1.	 Key	financial	and	non-financial	indicators; among the latter, the law26 
pays particular attention to issues relating to the environment and employ-
ees, to which more attention is devoted in subheading 2.2.2. The entity 
should include any financial or non-financial indicators used by manage-
ment to assess the degree to which the set objectives were met through the 
actions carried out. “Key indicators” are understood to be the variables used 
by management to measure the entity’s development, evolution, perfor-
mance or market position. The use of key indicators enables the entities to 
convey their target actions and simplifies analysis by the users of the infor-
mation of the degree to which these objectives were met.

  Although it is advisable to use widely accepted indicators that are valid for 
all sectors, in order to enhance comparability, certain economic activities 
may be better understood by using indicators that relate to the economic 
sector to which they belong. Management of the entity should disclose the 
relevance of the indicators, particularly those that are only applicable to the 
economic sector in which the entity operates.

  For the purpose of achieving comparability, the entity is expected to pro-
vide figures that enable users to see the trend in key indicators including, at 
least, the periods covered by the financial statements.

26

26 Article 262.1.3 of the Spanish Limited Liability Companies Law.
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  Since most indicators are not standardised, if the entity uses measures or 

indicators not defined or required by the relevant regulatory financial re-
porting framework, it should provide the definition, need and timeliness of 
their use, and should state whether they should be reconciled with other 
standardised measures contained in the financial statements. 

  Therefore, where the measures (e.g. EBITDA, units produced per employ-
ee or recurring net income) are not defined in the relevant accounting 
legislation, or where the indicators may vary significantly depending on 
who calculates them (e.g. ROCE, regulatory capital or share return), it is 
recommended that the entity: (1) explain why it considers that it is a sig-
nificant aggregate that will enable investors to understand the financial 
position, results or cash flows; (2) describe its calculation methodology, 
the variables and data used, and their source; and (3) reconcile, where ap-
propriate, these measures with the aggregates defined in the accounting 
regulations that are presented in the financial statements, or include non-
accounting factors or variables (units produced per employee, sales per 
outlet, fair value per unit of surface area, etc.) that are not or were not de-
fined differently from other, similar, generally accepted measures, and ex-
plain and reconcile any differences with the latter. Furthermore, if the 
entity decides to change the methodology or certain sources for obtaining 
data, or to cease publishing them, it should explain the reasons for the 
change or discontinuation and should adapt the values shown for com-
parison purposes.

	 	2.2.2.	 Issues	relating	 to	 the	environment	and	employees: users of financial 
information particularly value knowledge on certain non-financial aspects 
of the entity’s performance, which include most notably social matters -with 
particular emphasis on the development of human resources within the 
company- and its environmental management. 

  On occasions, entities prepare special, separate reports that are designed 
under the dual perspective described above in order to meet certain users’ 
needs. This guide does not cover these reports, which have their own par-
ticular standards, but rather addresses the practice of including indicators 
and other information prepared in the management report in order to re-
port the achievements and difficulties of a social and environmental nature. 
When the entity includes information of this nature, it should disclose at 
least the following aspects:

 •  The objectives, strategy and action plans for each area, making refer-
ence to the main risks assumed.

 •  The actions performed in the period, together with the indicators con-
taining the results of the management performed. 

 •  Comparison with other periods or with the targets set, explaining the 
improvements achieved and the difficulties encountered.

 •  The future plans and commitments, and the likelihood that they will 
be carried out or fulfilled satisfactorily.
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2.3. Liquidity and capital resources

  The company shall describe and analyse the source of the most significant fi-
nancial resources and the policy followed with regard to their use. This infor-
mation is highly significant in assessing the company’s outlook and even its 
possibilities of success. In particular, it is recommended that, when addressing 
this issue, the management report make reference to the following matters:

	 	2.3.1.	 Liquidity: sources and uses of liquidity, with a commentary on the 
related outlook.

	 	2.3.2.	 Capital	resources: structure of, and trend in, long-term financing to 
cater for the entity’s investment plans.

	 	2.3.3.	 Analysis	of	contractual	obligations	and	off	balance	sheet	transactions, 
insofar as future liquidity has been committed in this connection.

  In view of the possibility that the information whose inclusion is covered in 
this heading was published in the notes to the financial statements, the en-
tity may make the required cross-references to this document, thereby 
avoiding duplication of content.

2.4. Main risks and uncertainties

  The description of the main risks and uncertainties, both operational and 
financial, faced by the entity should form part of the content of the manage-
ment report. Information should be disclosed in relation to the entity’s ex-
posure to operational, financial, price, credit, liquidity and other risks and 
mention should be made, where necessary, of the management objectives 
and policies relating to the risks to which the entity is most sensitive. It is 
recommended that at least the following types of risk, if they are relevant to 
the entity, be addressed:

 2.4.1. Operational	risks.

        A) Regulatory risk

        B) Other operational risks

 2.4.2. Financial	risks.

        A) Market risk

           A.1. Interest rate risk

           A.2. Foreign currency risk

           A.3. Financial instrument price risk

           A.4. Commodity price risk

        B) Credit risk.

        C)  Liquidity risk (to the extent that it is not addressed under 2.3 “Li-
quidity and capital resources”).

  When preparing the management report, information should be disclosed 
in relation to the most important risks to which the entity is exposed, to-
gether with the planned actions for mitigating them. The description of 
these risks should encompass not only the entity’s exposure to negative con-
sequences but also any potential opportunities they may represent. 
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2.5. Significant events after the reporting period

  It is recommended that the management report contain information relat-
ing to any events that have occurred after the end of the reporting period. 
These are defined as events, favourable and unfavourable, that occur be-
tween the end of the reporting period and the date on which the financial 
statements are authorised for issue. Two types of event can be identified:

 •  Those that provide evidence of conditions that existed at the end of the 
reporting period. The material effect of these events would be the ad-
justment of the aggregates reflected in the balance (adjusting events 
after the reporting period).

 •  Those that are indicative of conditions that arose after the reporting 
period that do not adjust the balance sheet aggregates since these 
events did not exist prior to end of the reporting period (non-adjusting 
events after the reporting period).

  The entity should focus on only disclosing significant events and should 
explain any consequences they might have for its outlook of the entity, tak-
ing into consideration the strategy for managing their effects, both favour-
able and unfavourable. 

2.6. Information on the outlook for the entity

  The management report should include a section devoted to forward-look-
ing information, containing an analysis of the entity’s outlook. 

  The financial statements, in view of their nature, focus on providing infor-
mation on past events. However, users find it useful to know manage-
ment’s views on the entity’s outlook, in order to make their own predic-
tions. Accordingly, the entity should disclose this type of forward-looking 
information in the management report and analyse it as a whole in rela-
tion to the entity’s stated objectives and the strategies deployed to achieve 
them.

  The forward-looking information should not necessarily be quantified. It 
may instead consist of a qualitative narrative detailing the current situation, 
the decisions taken and the situation that may be expected to exist in the 
future. Moreover, since the entity does not exist in isolation, it is understood 
that the assessments of its outlook will depend on the performance of the 
economy and of the sector in which it operates, together with other varia-
bles of an economic and political nature, which the entity’s ability to influ-
ence may be very low or non-existent. 

2.7. R&D&I activities

  Research, development and innovation activities are directly connected 
with the entity’s future development, since they will enable it to continue to 
offer higher-quality or more economical products or services to its custom-
ers or users. The efforts made in R&D&I activities, determined by the enti-
ty’s specific strategy and objectives that the users of the management report 
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should know, are closely linked to its medium- and long-term performance 
since they will enable it to maintain or even increase its activity. On certain 
occasions the entity may not be able to survive over time without consider-
able R&D&I efforts.

2.8. Acquisition and disposal of treasury shares 

  The management report obliges the entity to provide information on the ac-
quisition and disposal of treasury shares (Article 148.d) of the Spanish Lim-
ited Liability Companies Law). Treasury share transactions may change the 
value of the shares held by shareholders and, accordingly, the users of the 
management report need to know the objectives pursued by the entity in 
relation to these transactions and the way in which the related actions have 
been, or will be, instrumented. It would also be interesting to know the im-
pact of treasury share transactions on shareholder returns or the share price.

2.9. Other salient information

	 	2.9.1.	 Stock	market	information: listed entities usually include information 
in the management report on the performance of the securities issued on 
the market and on the return achieved over the period covered by the man-
agement report. It is highly recommendable to include this type of informa-
tion, prepared in an objective, comparable and comprehensive manner, be-
cause it has a bearing on the facts and figures that directly affect the current 
investors, and may have a significant impact on potential investors. 

	 	2.9.2.	 Other	information: after analysing its past performance and current 
situation, the entity should identify any other information that may be nec-
essary to enable users to assess its current position and make forecasts on 
its outlook, and include it in the management report. For example, it might 
be advisable to offer information on matters such as the dividend policy or 
the management of the credit rating.

Pillar III. Principles and rules for the preparation of the management report

Once the objectives pursued in relation to the publication of the management report 
(pillar I) and its content (pillar II) have been defined, it is advisable to explain the 
main principles and rules that the entity should observe when preparing the infor-
mation that it will include in the management report.

Although compliance with these principles is voluntary, entities are recommended 
to apply them in order to maximise the qualitative requirements of comparability, 
verifiability and understandability, and to create a link between the report’s content 
and the objectives pursued through its publication (pillars I and II). 

Accordingly, on preparing the director’s report, the entity should take the following 
recommendations into consideration:
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3.1. Discussion through the eyes of management

  The publication of the management report should enable users of the infor-
mation to view the entity through the eyes of management. This would en-
able them to assess the entity’s performance adequately and to appraise in 
this context the set of actions carried out in order to achieve its objectives in 
accordance with the strategies and expectations.

	 	All governing bodies develop a deliberation and decision-making style, 
which involves the use of a type of information with well defined content 
and format. This management style should permeate the preparation of the 
management report, so that the users may gain an idea of the reasons why 
the decisions were taken, and the timeline over which they will be projected. 
Although the entity’s decision-making style should be reflected in the man-
agement report, the degree to which the information is broken down should 
be designed in such a way that it does not jeopardise the confidentiality and 
secrecy of the data that are inherent to all decision-making processes.

3.2. Clear, concise and consistent wording

  Any interested user with reasonable knowledge of economic activities and 
of the business world should be able to understand the management report 
without difficulty. It is also recommendable to present it in a format and 
with a wording that enhance the understanding of the issuer’s financial 
statements, which involves referring continually to specific figures from the 
financial statements or the notes thereto. The use of figures (histograms, 
tables, figures, organisation charts, flow charts, etc.) should facilitate under-
standing and support the information and arguments provided in the narra-
tive paragraphs. 

3.3.  Objectiveness when explaining and analysing events, plans, forecasts 
and their consequences

  The value of the report lies more in the discussion and analysis of the cours-
es of action taken than in their endorsement. Each action and decision has 
its advantages and disadvantages. Furthermore, choosing a particular objec-
tive and course of action necessarily means forgoing others. Therefore, an 
explanation that is a success story runs the risk of becoming irrelevant, 
thereby damaging the potential usefulness of the document. In this regard, 
the description should be fair and should provide explanations more than 
justifications.

3.4.  Specification of the sources, bases and assumptions contained in the for-
ward-looking information

	 	In view of the obligation to describe the entity’s outlook in the management 
report, it is necessary to disclose any factors that were taken into considera-
tion in preparing the information included with regard to future perfor-
mance. Future performance may be estimated by using predictive or fore-
casting models that use data and reasonable assumptions, and economic 
forecasting methodologies, formalised or otherwise, the results of which 
may be presented either quantitatively or quantitatively. The users of the 
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management report would have to know the quality of all the factors sur-
rounding the obtainment of the information referring to the future by the 
company. For this purpose, it should include a summary of the main factors 
in the text of the report to support any estimates, predictions and forecasts 
it uses.

3.5. Consistency with prior reports

  It is common for a particular entity to develop its own style for designing 
and presenting its management report. This style includes common content 
in the various periods and a manner of explaining, analysing and discussing 
the data provided. It is useful if there is continuity from one report to the 
next and that, in subsequent reports, an explanation is provided of the out-
come or result of the main measures proposed in previous reporting periods. 

3.6.  Avoid, to the extent possible, duplication with the financial statements 
and other information

  On certain occasions, legislation requires the inclusion of information in the 
management report on the same facts that it requires be reflected in the fi-
nancial statements, as occurs for example with events after the reporting 
period and treasury share transactions. In these cases, it is recommended 
that a detail of the accounting recognition or a description of the events be 
included in the notes to the financial statements, in accordance with the ac-
counting standards, and that the analyses and considerations about their 
causes, consequences or future relevance be left for the management report. 
However, it is not useful to include figures from the financial statements, 
even if they are the result of summaries or aggregation, without providing a 
related commentary. As far as possible, it is recommended that information 
already included in the financial statements or in other mandatory docu-
ments (e.g. the ACGR) should not be duplicated. A cross-referencing system 
should be used to help the user refer to the information addressed in vari-
ous parts (see Appendix C for the recommendations on avoiding duplica-
tion in the main points where this may arise).

3.7.  Avoid immaterial information that renders the report scantly useful or 
unmanageable 

  When preparing the management report, it is necessary to select the infor-
mation, to include only that which is relevant for the user. It is recommend-
ed that any information that is inconsequential or relates to immaterial 
amounts be avoided. The materiality or relative importance of the informa-
tion will vary for each particular entity. Information on matters that are 
immaterial or irrelevant for the company is not necessary and would make 
it more difficult to identify important information. 

  Moreover, when including figures or commentary, it is important to take 
into consideration the principle of materiality, the most important effect of 
which is to allocate resources and space to issues that are relevant for the 
entity’s management and may be so for whoever reads the document. How-
ever, it is important to note that the materiality of the quantitative does not 
always match that of the qualitative information and they can often not be 
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determined mutually. Therefore, they should be assessed separately. A situ-
ation or circumstance that did not have a significant effect in the reporting 
period may be relevant, and therefore necessary, for understanding the en-
tity’s outlook. 

3.8. Avoid the use of generic or standard disclosures

  It is recommended that standard or boilerplate clauses should not be used. 
Even if they are technically acceptable, from an information standpoint, 
they do not provide the users of the information with the appropriate infor-
mation to make their assessments and take their decisions. Using this type 
of resource conveys the notion of inadequate treatment of the information, 
which may reduce the perception about the quality of the analyses and the 
conclusions offered. 

3.9.  Identify information from external sources and that produced by the 
entity

  Many figures are used in management reports to support the explanations, 
diagnoses, analyses and predictions. Figures from external documents 
should be identified as such, and the source from which they were obtained 
and the date of publication provided. Similarly, the figures that were pre-
pared by the entity should be identified and described as such.

3.10.  Tailor the management report to the nature of the business, taking into 
account the size and complexity thereof

  It is recommended that the content of the management report should be 
balanced and adapted to the activity carried on by the company and to the 
size and complexity of its operations. In particular, the content of the man-
agement reports of listed small and medium-sized enterprises should be 
consistent with their size, which may involve summarising or abridging the 
content recommended herein to ensure that preparation costs are not dis-
proportionate (see Section V in this regard, with specific recommendations 
for listed small and medium-sized enterprises).
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Introduction

This section contains a review of the main issues that could be included in the 
preparation of the management report. The aim of this Section III is to provide a set 
of guidelines to help develop the pillars of the reference framework and to make 
specific proposals that can be assessed and adapted based on the nature of each en-
tity, thereby aiding compliance with the content requirements of Article 49 of the 
Spanish Commercial Code and Article 262 of the Spanish Limited Liability Compa-
nies Law.

The recommendations presented below were prepared by the Working Group, 
which based its work on current best practices to select all the content items that 
should be included in the management report so that:

–  They contribute towards increasing the quality, completeness and usefulness 
of the content of the management report with respect to any relevant issues or 
issues that are required to be disclosed.

–  They help harmonise the content of management reports, thereby increasing 
the comparability of certain aspects of reports from a dual standpoint:

 •  Between different entities, at least in terms of the content and nature of 
the information and analysis furnished.

 • Between different financial periods for a single entity. 

–  They increase the level of understanding of the users of the information, which 
potentially aids economic decision-making. 

In preparing the points in this section, apart from the international guidelines issued 
by the IASB and IOSCO, references and initiatives in this respect in other markets in 
our economic area (France, the United Kingdom and Germany)27, have also been 
taken into account, as well as in the United States and Canada. These guidelines have 
been analysed and considered from a best practices standpoint and they have been 
used as inspiration to prepare content tailored to the particular case of Spain. 

Definitions

The application of this document, which includes both a reference framework and 
a set of suggestions in the way of “best practices”, in line with the preceding section, 
is voluntary. Accordingly, it is the addressees of the document, in other words, the 

27 See Section I, “Regulatory framework of the principal markets” and Appendix D.
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issuers of securities listed on official markets, who should decide whether to apply 
it when preparing their management reports.

However, the quest to seek harmonisation and the protection of the use of the infor-
mation that has inspired the preparation of this document means that certain im-
portant concepts used have been defined and explained in Appendix E. The main 
reason lies in their importance to the task of interpreting the content of the recom-
mendations appropriately. Therefore, if an entity considers it appropriate to use any 
of the terms included in Appendix E with a different meaning to that proposed, it 
should give a brief description of the differences in order to avoid any possible con-
fusion when determining the meaning of certain key concepts.

Recommendations regarding the points to be 
included

For each of the nine sections making up the structure of the management report, as 
described in pillar II, set forth below and substantiated are the aspects regarding 
which each entity, based on the materiality and, therefore, on its own particular 
circumstances, should evaluate the need to include information, taking into account 
its usefulness for investors.

1 Situation of the entity

To place an entity’s management into context, it is considered useful to know its 
structure and modus operandi, including the manner in which it is organised and in 
which its governing bodies take decisions. 

1.1 Organisational structure 

It is advisable for an entity to provide a brief description of its structure and that of 
any entities belonging to it, and of the area of its activities, as well as the industries 
and geographical areas it covers. If an entity’s structure is in the process of changing 
or evolving, it could be necessary to describe the key issues and the reasons giving 
rise to such change or evolution. Accordingly, it is recommended that entities con-
sider whether they should include information on the following: 

1.  The organisational structure of the entity as a whole and of any sub-entities 
belonging to it, as well as the organisation of its board or of the bodies to 
which the board delegates its decisions, including the control functions and 
the policy with respect to the group’s non-controlling interests. This expla-
nation may be completed with a description of the main reasons for the divi-
sion of the components (segments, divisions, business units, etc.) into which 
the entity is structured for decision-making purposes, identifying such com-
ponents if this information has not been provided in any other mandatory 
documents.
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1.2 Modus operandi

Knowing about how an entity functions enables the user of the management report 
to understand the characteristics of the objectives, plans, activities and projects in 
which it is involved which, in turn, serves to justify the initiatives taken.

Accordingly, it is recommended that entities consider whether they should include 
information on the following:

2.  The main objectives the entity wishes to achieve with its activities, as well 
as the steps taken to accomplish this. A description of the business model 
could be one way of explaining how strategies are organised to achieve the 
entity’s objectives. Also, it is recommended that information be provided on 
the following:

 •  Legal and economic factors affecting the entity, including, where ap-
propriate, the regulatory environment governing its activities. 

 •  The main products and services, as well as the production processes 
used to obtain them.

 •  If the following information is available, has been prepared by third 
parties and may be verified: 

  –  the markets in which the entity operates and its competitive position, 
with the outlook regarding its performance or any changes; and 

  –  the entity’s market shares in the various segments in which it 
operates.

 •  Information of the seasonal trends of the main segments or compo-
nents of the entity, to the extent that they are relevant for explaining 
the generation of profits or cash flows for the entity.

2 Business performance and results

The purpose of this section is to explain, from the standpoint of the conduct of busi-
ness and bearing in mind the entity’s objectives and strategies, the effects of the 
decisions taken with respect to the main variables that determine the performance 
achieved (either in the form of profits or cash flows) and the final situation attained. 
The aim is to explain the economic or financial reasons for the results or cash flows 
obtained in the reporting period, contrasting them, where possible, with the general 
performance of the economy and the industry in question, with respect to the deci-
sions taken by the entity. 

It would be advisable to provide an analysis of the entity as a whole and also of the 
main business segments28, which would help the users of the information to under-

28 In Appendix A containing examples, two tables illustrating the detail, by segment, of the total volume of 

revenue have been included. In practice, the presentation of the information would be determined by 

the manner in which the company manages its segments and reports on them.
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stand the reasons for the changes in revenue and results in the reporting period. The 
entity could take the opportunity to explain certain items whose performance has been 
different from the usual performance in the reporting period (for example, describing 
the casus of singular items that give rise to exceptional or non-recurring results).

Accordingly, it is recommended that entities consider whether they should include 
information on the following:

3. If the changes in revenue and the result for the period are attributable to:

 a. Price increases/decreases.

 b. An increase/decrease in the volume of goods and services sold.

 c.  The introduction of new products and/or services or the discontinua-
tion of previously marketed products and/or services.

 d.  Any other significant factor that could have given rise to changes in 
total revenue.

4.  Changes in the most important cost components, gross margin or equivalent 
measure depending on the sector of activity in which the entity operates, in-
cluding changes in prices. If for the purposes of its management the entity 
uses a classification by nature of the components of its results, in the descrip-
tion and explanation the main expense items (procurements, staff costs, out-
side services, the depreciation and amortisation charge, etc.), which aid under-
standing of the profit or loss from operations, must be taken into account.

5.  Any trend that may have had a significant positive or negative impact on 
the net sales, revenue or results from continuing operations, and that may 
persist over time. For example, recurring increases in labour costs or raw 
material prices. In addition, a description could also be provided of the im-
pact of inflation, exchange rate fluctuations or price changes on the entity’s 
net sales and results from continuing operations in the reporting periods 
presented in the financial statements. The foregoing is not incompatible 
with the fact that an entity may analyse its conduct on the basis of a simula-
tion at constant prices or exchange rates in order to separate the rest of the 
changes from those that result from fluctuations in the exchange rates of 
the currencies in which it operates.

2.1 Key financial and non-financial indicators

Article 49 of the Spanish Commercial Code and Article 262 of the Spanish Limited 
Liability Companies Law state that “To the extent that it is necessary to understand 
the performance, results or situation of the company”, a balanced and exhaustive 
analysis of these aspects “shall include the key financial and, as the case may be, non-
financial indicators, that are relevant with respect to the specific business activity”.

For the users of the information, the financial and non-financial indicators are use-
ful for three main reasons, namely:

a)  To summarise the entity’s performance and the conduct of business in a series 
of key data; 
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b)  For the purpose of explaining the trends observed and the consistency of the 
figures with the objectives and strategies approved by the entity’s bodies; and

c)  In order to compare, where possible29, these indicators with others taken as 
reference for the sector of activity.

For such purposes, where the aforementioned legal text talks about key indicators, 
it appears to instruct entities to select a not very large number of indicators that in-
clude all the dimensions of an entity’s activities to be used in a consistent and uni-
form manner, so that the analysis performed using such indicators provides rele-
vant data for users. For better comprehension by users, entities are expected to 
describe the manner in which such indicators are calculated and, if necessary, the 
characteristic they aim to measure and their interpretation.

The comparability of the information among entities would be improved if the key 
indicators published by them were generally accepted and commonly used by enti-
ties and, in addition, those applicable to specific sectors were taken into account.

Without prejudice to the foregoing, what type of indicator is fundamental or “key” 
for an entity would have to determined on a case-by-case basis, based on the aggre-
gates used by the body responsible for decision-making at each entity in order to 
manage its business and the sector of activity or industry in which it operates. In 
this regard, in the event of a conflict, the objective of the representativeness of the 
indicators for the entity prevails over their comparability among entities.

Certain financial and non-financial key indicators often have less potential to pro-
vide useful information when they are used for the analysis of the company as a 
whole. Therefore, in addition to the disclosure of the indicators aimed at providing 
a global analysis of the group, it could also be advisable to disclose them by business 
segment or other components of the entity, to the extent that they are used by man-
agement to take management decisions.

The types of indicator are as follows:

A.  Operating measures and statistics that given an idea of the entity’s activity 
potential (sales in physical units, as a total or by segment; number of employ-
ees; number of subscribers, users or customers; number of website hits; etc.).

B.  Ratios and other measures calculated using data prepared in accordance with 
IFRSs, which may be the following:

 B.1.  Non-financial key indicators: at least one non-financial variable is used 
(such as productivity per employee).

 B.2.  Key financial indicators: financial variables are used (such as ROE or ROCE).

C.  Operating or other types of ratios or measures, not based on IFRSs, known as 
Alternative Performance Measures (APMs), specifically designed by the entity 
in order to demonstrate a facet of its activities, position or performance, which 
can originate from the financial reporting or may be of a non-financial nature.

29 Such a comparison may not be possible as each entity constructs the indicator in accordance with crite-

ria it considers appropriate.
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These APMs may refer to performance measures that differ from those presented in 
the entity’s financial statements or to liquidity measures that differ from the cash 
flows from the activities, calculated in accordance with accounting standards (IFRSs).

In general, all indicators that provide information which, although they may derive 
from amounts or quantities reflected in the entity’s financial statements (calculated 
in accordance with IFRSs), do not arise from measures envisaged in IFRSs or in the 
applicable regulatory framework are considered to be APMs. These measures are 
often referred to as non-GAAP measures.

Accordingly, it is recommended that entities consider whether they should include 
information on the following:30

6.  For each indicator30, its definition and the aim pursued in its use, the calcu-
lation method and value, with the corresponding comparative information. 
In addition, it may also be useful to indicate the relationship between the 
indicator and the purpose for which it is used. Disclosing and explaining the 
relevant changes in the construction of the indicators leads to a greater un-
derstanding thereof. Also, when such changes occur, it is advisable, where 
possible, and in order to provide a comparison between the current and 
preceding reporting periods, to include a pro forma indicator to replace that 
presented in the preceding management report, including the change oc-
curred in that reporting period.

7.  If the accounting measures considered by IFRSs and disclosed directly in 
the financial statements have been adjusted for inclusion in the directors, 
report, this should be indicated, and in this case it could be useful to provide 
a reconciliation with measures under IFRSs to facilitate an understanding of 
the nature of the adjustments made.

2.2 Issues relating to the environment and employees

2.2.1 The environment 

Environmental issues can have a serious potentially impact on an entity’s situation 
and performance, not only in terms of its financial dimension, but also with respect 
to other dimensions such as reputation, sustainability, obligations assumed by the 
entity or with stakeholders, etc.

Inappropriate management of energy and natural resources or waste can have an ad-
verse effect on an entity’s current or future performance, as well as on its market po-
sitioning and reputation. Therefore, companies pay particular attention to the envi-
ronmental impact of the supply, production and distribution chain, which goes 
beyond mere compliance with the environmental regulations in force. An entity’s re-
sponsibility as regards the environment transcends the purely economic, financial or 
legal arena and extends to responsibilities such as ethical or philanthropic questions.

30 Appendix B includes examples of indicators. Also, other general integrating references such as those con-

tained in the model proposed in the joint Document issued by the Committees on Corporate Social Respon-

sibility , New Technologies and Accounting and Accounting Principles and Standards of the Spanish Asso-

ciation of Accounting and Business Administration (AECA), entitled Integrated information: the Balanced 

Scorecard of Performance Indicators (CII-FESG) and its XBRL Taxonomy (Madrid, 2013) may also be used.
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Although environmental issues in general cover a wide range of areas, the issues that 
an entity will concentrate on will depend, on the one hand, on the sector in which it 
operates and, on the other, on the strategies adopted by management to mitigate the 
entity’s impact on the environment, thereby contributing towards sustainability.

The environmental dimension of sustainability relates to an organisation’s impacts 
on living and inert natural systems, including ecosystems, soil, air and water. Envi-
ronmental indicators include performance in relation to inflows (materials, energy, 
water) and outflows (emissions, effluents, waste). They also include performance re-
lating to biodiversity, environmental legal compliance and other relevant data such 
as environmental expenses or the impacts of the products and services provided.

There is a degree of consensus on fundamental environmental issues affecting all 
companies in general31. Some examples are given below to serve as reference for 
entities when dealing with information on the environment:

• Materials.

• Energy.

• Emissions, effluents and waste.

• Water.

• Biodiversity.

• Transport.

• Products and services.

• Regulatory compliance.

Therefore, taking into account EU legislation32 on environmental information to be 
provided33, it is recommended that entities consider whether they should include 
information on the following:

8.  The significant environmental issues for the entity, as well as of the manner in 
which it tries to minimise the impact caused by its activities and, in particular:

 •  The entity’s objectives concerning performance in relation to environ-
mental variables and the policy defining its general commitment to its 
conduct, including a description of the environmental management 
systems in place during the reporting period. It is recommended that a 
detail of the operative environmental management systems be includ-
ed, as well as a description of any related certifications obtained, indi-
cating the components of the entity to which they relate.

31 UN Conference on Trade and Development: Integrating Environmental and Financial Performance at the 

Enterprise Level (New York: UN, 2000). Similarly, “Information on the environment” contained in Note 15 

to the financial statements of the Spanish General Accounting Plan approved by Royal Decree 1514/07, 

of 16 November; the disclosure requirements of IAS 37, Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent 

Assets, or the model report derived from the Global Reporting Initiative (the related guides can be viewed 

at https://www.globalreporting.org/ reporting/guidelines-online/Pages/default.aspx).

32 Article 46 of Directive 78/660/EC.

33 Recommendations based on the following interpretative communications: concerning certain Articles 

of the Fourth and Seventh Council Directives on accounting [Official Journal C 16 of 20/1/1998]; and on 

the recognition, measurement and disclosure of environmental issues in the annual accounts and an-

nual reports of companies, of 30 May 2001 (2001/453/EC). In Spain, environmental information in finan-

cial statements was regulated in the Spanish Accounting and Audit Institute (ICAC) Resolution of 25 

March 2002, approving the rules for the recognition and measurement of, and reporting on, environ-

mental issues in financial statements (Official State Gazette of 4 April 2002).
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 •  Available resources to meet the aforementioned objectives, including 
the policy for attending to any complaints and litigation that may arise.

 •  The procedures relating to training and awareness of environmental 
issues, as well as any monitoring and measurement procedures and 
corrective and preventive actions, including:

  –  Main plans for the implementation of policies or the achievement 
of environmental objectives.

  –  Main successes and weaknesses, as well as risks and opportuni-
ties relating to environmental issues.

  –  Main changes made to in the systems or structures in the report-
ing period to improve performance.

9.  Public incentives for the protection of the environment used, such as grants 
and tax relief, and it is also recommendable to supply a description of the 
level of application of any environmental protection measures that have 
been or are in the process of being implemented due to changes in legislation.

In addition, as indicated in Appendix C, this information may be provided as a sup-
plement to the information contained in the notes to the financial statements on 
environmental assets, liabilities and expenses that individual companies subject to 
Spanish law are obliged to provide.

1.1.2 Employees

Entities recruit and retain the employees required to implement their strategies and 
achieve their objectives. Accordingly, the risks and uncertainties associated with 
recruitment, management and retention of employees could have a significant im-
pact on an entity’s current and future performance.

IFRSs do not require disclosure of the composition of the work force in the financial 
statements, although listed entities usually include this information in their finan-
cial statements, as also established in the Spanish General Accounting Plan for indi-
vidual and separate financial statements. Therefore, some of the information recom-
mended below could be included as usual in the notes to the financial statements, in 
which case it would not be necessary to repeat it in the management report, al-
though it is recommendable to make the corresponding references (see Appendix C 
on information also included in other documents).

Therefore, it is recommended that entities consider whether they should include 
information on the following:

10.  Human resources polices, including those on recruitment, development/
promotion, risk prevention and training, providing data on the following:

 •  Employment; total number of employees and the breakdown thereof 
by relevant classes (categories, gender, disabilities, etc.) with an expla-
nation of any changes since the last reporting period and the related 
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   reasons. Procedures for the recruitment and, where applicable, reten-
tion of employees.

 •  Company/employee relationship, data on the working environment, 
employee satisfaction or motivation and employees’ identification 
with the entity.

 •  Occupational health and safety; statistics on injuries, illness, etc. and 
the results of occupational risk prevention initiatives.

 •  Training and education; encouragement for obtaining general or pro-
fessional qualifications, hours of training on general and job-related 
topics, study grants for employees and their family members, the pro-
motion of cultural activities carried out by employees, etc.

 •  Diversity and equal opportunities; data can be provided on the policy 
for inclusion of groups with difficulties accessing employment and on 
the policies for promoting equal opportunities for men and women, 
including the figures for the reporting period and the related effect on 
the managing bodies.

3 Liquidity and capital resources

Users of the management report find it useful to have an analysis of the solvency of 
an entity through a description of the sources and use of liquidity, as part of its fi-
nancial and investment strategy, in order to draw conclusions on whether an entity 
is able to meet its current or capital obligations with the resources currently at its 
disposal or that it plans to have available. This type of information is important for 
assessing the company’s outlook and even the probability that it will continue as a 
going concern.

Some of the data used in this section may come from the information included in 
the financial statements, which is supplemented by other data on the steps followed 
or to be followed in the generation and use of cash by the entity. A liquidity analysis 
and a description of the related structure and foreseeable outlook, based on all of 
these data, form the genuine content of this part of the management report.

In this section the entity describes the sources of its liquidity, as well as how it uses 
the cash generated by its operating, investing and financing activities, explaining 
any trends observed and providing information on possible changes therein, in-
cluding any non-recurring transactions. It is of particular interest to comment on 
the policies on short- and long-term borrowing, as well as projections concerning 
the substitution of debt with equity and the related effect on the cost of the re-
sources used.

Information on liquidity and capital resources may be presented together provided 
that both aspects are interrelated.

Short-term liquidity and capital resources relate to cash needs in a period of up 
to twelve months from the reporting date. These cash needs and related financ-
ing sources relate to the disbursements required as a result of an entity’s day-to-
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day operations, as well as any significant obligations acquired by an entity which 
mature within twelve months following the reporting date of the last financial 
statements.

Also, the long-term liquidity and capital resources analysis relates to especially sig-
nificant investment needs or commitments, significant payments or other types of 
payment generated as a result of long-term obligations and any other needs or obli-
gations, the maturity of which is known or is reasonably foreseeable. Any off bal-
ance sheet transactions entailing payment obligations or that will require the use of 
liquid resources should be included in the corresponding heading, as applicable. 
The available and forecast sources of financing to meet such obligations should also 
be indicated. 

In the analysis of this information it should be taken into account that the aim is to 
give a true and fair description of the entity’s capacity to generate cash and meet 
both its existing and its reasonably foreseeable expense and investment obligations 
with a view to achieving the objectives set. The short-term analysis tends to be more 
accurate that the medium- or long-term analyses and, therefore, it can also be car-
ried out in more detail.

3.1 Liquidity

In general terms, the purpose of this point is to identify and describe internal sourc-
es (transactions by the entity and the issue of equity instruments) and external 
sources (borrowings and other debt) for obtaining liquidity. As the aim is to provide 
investors with relevant information enabling them to understand trends that have 
affected past performance or that are expected to be a determining factor in future 
periods, it is also recommended to that information on any known trends, obliga-
tions, events or uncertainties that may result in a significant change in the entity’s 
liquidity be disclosed.

Therefore, it is recommended that entities consider whether they should include 
information on the following:

11.  The main sources of liquidity, as well as the amounts expected to be ob-
tained from each source. In addition, it could be useful for the company to 
mention the possible existence of any available sources of liquidity (credit 
facility, loan option, etc.) which has not been used or for which negotiations 
are underway. It could also be important to include indications on which 
items should be taken into account in order to assess the entity’s liquidity.

12.  The entity’s capacity to generate the cash required to continue operating 
and finance the activities aimed at achieving the short- and long-term objec-
tives. If these resources are insufficient, reference may be made to how the 
entity envisages it will obtain the funds required. 

13.  Any restrictions that could affect the forecast cash flows, describing the na-
ture and extent of any economic, contractual or legal limits on a subsidiary 
or joint venture transferring funds to the company in the form of cash divi-
dends, loans or advances. In addition, details can be provided on the impact 
that such restrictions have had or will have on the company’s capacity to 
meet its payment obligations.
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14.  The expected trends or fluctuations with respect to the company’s liquidity, 
taking into account any complaints, obligations, activities relating to the 
business or uncertainties.

15.  The company’s level of debt at the end of the reporting period, analysing the 
composition thereof by maturity periods, any significant changes and the 
foreseeable effect they could have on liquidity.

3.2 Capital resources

The purpose of this point is to describe, firstly, any significant firm commitments 
made by the entity with respect to the obtainment of capital resources, either from 
internal or external sources of financing, placing them in the context of the financial 
policy followed by the entity. Where applicable, information may also be provided 
on expected investment plans that it will be attempted to finance using capital re-
sources.

A description may also be included of any favourable or unfavourable expectations 
or uncertainties which could affect the level of the entity’s capital resources, includ-
ing the effect on the capital structure (the debt to equity ratio) and on the cost of the 
financing sources.

Therefore, it is recommended that entities consider whether they should include 
information on the following:

16.  The changes in the structure and cost of capital resources. It may also be 
useful to provide an analysis of the foreseeable changes with respect to the 
company’s capital sources and needs, in both the short and long term.

17.  The nature and maturity of firm investment commitments or any that are 
likely in the foreseeable future, indicating:

 a. The amount, nature and purpose of such commitments.

 b. The sources of financing for such commitments.

18.  Significant disbursements that have not yet been committed but which are 
necessary to maintain the company’s capacity, in order to meet its growth 
expectations or finance its development activities.

If the entity uses a concept of capital defined by the regulator or in its financial re-
sources management strategy, the aforementioned analyses must also refer to that 
concept. The conclusions reached must also set forth the main milestones reached 
in the reporting period and their relationship with the objectives set in terms of the 
amount and composition of the capital under consideration, including where ap-
plicable an explanation of the level of compliance with potential external require-
ments during the reporting period, and the prospects regarding future changes34.

34 The information on disclosures concerning capital management is found in paragraphs 134-136 of Inter-

national Accounting Standard 1, Presentation of Financial Statements.
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3.3 Analysis of contractual obligations and off balance sheet transactions

The purpose of this point is to provide aggregate information on the contractual 
obligations, contingent liabilities and other firm commitments35 in order to: 1) in-
crease transparency in relation to the entity’s liquidity and capital resources require-
ments; and 2) provide information on the context to evaluate the role played by 
contractual obligations in relation to liquidity and capital resources.

Therefore, it is recommended that entities consider whether they should include 
information on the following:

19.  Analysis and description of any contractual obligations giving rise to an fu-
ture outflow of liquidity, whatever their maturity date. 

In addition, the aim of this point is to provide information on the off balance sheet 
transactions that have had, or may foreseeably have, a material effect on the entity’s 
financial position, the structure of income and expenses, the results from operations, 
liquidity, capital expenditure or equity.

Guarantees provided in the course of the entity’s operations are not considered to be 
off balance sheet transactions for the purposes of the disclosures addressed here, to 
the extent that, at the date of preparation of the management report, they are not 
expected to have an effect on any of the aforementioned aspects, particularly on the 
changes in liquidity. 

The information on off balance sheet transactions relates only to situations where 
there is a final binding agreement or an agreement subject only to the habitual 
terms and conditions or, if no such agreement exists, the transactions will be clas-
sified in this category only if they give rise to a payment obligation that is not re-
flected in the balance sheet. Contingent liabilities arising from litigation, arbitra-
tion proceedings or other regulatory measures are not considered to be off balance 
sheet transactions.

It is recommended that off balance sheet transactions and the corresponding obliga-
tions be grouped together in groups or categories to ensure that the information is 
provided efficiently and clearly, provided that the necessary degree of confidential-
ity be observed in order not to hamper the entity’s ability to manoeuvre.

Therefore, it is recommended that entities consider whether they should include 
information on the following:

20.  The nature and purpose of the off balance sheet transactions carried out by 
the entity, including a description of the counterparties.

35 Firm commitments are considered to be any commitments acquired with respect to a counterparty that 

is not related to the entity, which is binding upon both parties and generally enforceable by law with the 

following characteristics:

	 •	 	All	the	significant	terms	and	conditions	have	been	specified,	including	amount,	price	and	times	for	

the execution of the transaction; and

	 •	 	The	agreement	contains	such	costly	penalties	for	the	breach	thereof	that	such	breach	is	highly	unlikely.
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21.  The importance for the entity of the off balance sheet transactions with re-
spect to the generation of cash and the changes in liquidity, including the 
amounts of cash inflows and outflows arising from them.

4 Main risks and uncertainties

When drafting this section entities must select, on the basis of their objectives and 
strategies, the main sources of risk (operational or financial) to which they are ex-
posed36, in order to explain and assess appropriately what their effects are, or may 
be, on profitability and the financial position. As most risks are, due to their nature, 
foreseeable, entities must indicate, wherever possible, the management systems or 
tools used to mitigate their impacts, on the basis of their nature and importance, 
emphasising any priorities that may exist.

As regards the uncertainties regarding the evolution of the main variables involved 
in a company’s activity, entities must indicate those that are of most concern at pre-
sent or that have caused the most concern in the reporting period to which the 
management report relates. The entity must indicate their importance, the possibil-
ity that they may arise and result in an adverse future performance and any meas-
ures that have been or may be taken should they present themselves, including the 
existence of any contingency plans to tackle them.

It is important that users of the report are able to associate the measures adopted in 
the reporting period with the existence of the risks giving rise to them. 

With respect to the other compulsory information, there are already stringent dis-
closure requirements concerning financial risks but often it is the risks arising from 
operations (regulatory, operational, customer concentration-related risks, etc.) that, 
due to their negative evolution, lead to the appearance of financial risks. Therefore, 
it is very useful for users to know about such risks, a description of which may be 
provided elsewhere in the compulsory information, and how they are interrelated 
and tackled in the management plans, as well as any decisions taken in this regard 
in the reporting period. Some of the most common operational and financial risks 
are discussed in greater detail below.

4.1 Operational risks

4.1.1 Regulatory risk

Therefore, it is recommended that entities consider whether they should include 
information on the following:

22.  The requirements and limits established in specific legislation and regula-
tions affecting the conduct of the entity’s business, including any arising 
from industry-specific regulations, applicable tax regimes, professional obli-
gations or codes of conduct, for example, as well as any requirements that 
may give rise to the withdrawal of authorisation to operate or the imposi-
tion of penalties by public authorities.

36 This includes all risks that may have a material impact.
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23.  Where applicable, the risks arising from breach of contractual obligations of 
whatever nature, by both the counterparty (customer, supplier, employee, 
financial institution, etc.) and by the entity. 

24.  The circumstances in which such risks may result in criminal or civil pro-
ceedings (either directly or indirectly), a loss of business or damage to the 
entity’s image or reputation, provided that such circumstances are going to 
have a significant effect on the company’s activities.

4.1.2 Operational risk

This type of risk is closely linked to the type of activity in which the entity engages 
and encompasses the various aspects of its operations. Should any of these risks 
arise, the entity could incur losses or suffer a reduction of its volume of business. A 
series of examples are provided below:

• Accidents or attacks affecting the company or its employees.

• Internal control failures.

• Existence of barriers to entry.

• Prohibitions on operating.

• Fraud or embezzlement.

• Concentration of purchases from a limited number of suppliers.

• Information system failures or crashes.

• Risks relating to new investments.

• Country risk.

• Reputational risk.

Depending on the industry in which the entity operates, operational risks may be 
covered by specific regulations (particularly in the financial services industry).

Therefore, it is recommended that entities consider whether they should include 
information on the following:

25.  Qualitative and, as far as possible, quantitative information on the opera-
tional risks, as well as any existing uncertainties that could give rise to losses 
or affect the accounting estimates relating to operational aspects, together 
with the entity’s policies for mitigating them.

4.1.3 Customer concentration

Excessive concentration of activity with one or several important customers can be 
a source of vulnerability for entities. A customer may be considered to be a principal 
customer when the revenue from transactions with that customer accounts for 10% 
or more of the entity’s revenue, using the computation criterion indicated in para-
graph 34 of IFRS 8, Operating	Segments.

Therefore, it is recommended that entities consider whether they should include 
information on the following:
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26.  How management determines the existence of concentrations of activity 
with principal customers, describing the characteristics of the concentra-
tion, the quantity or total percentage of the revenue from customers consid-
ered to be principal customers, and identification of the segment(s) in rela-
tion to which such revenue is reported. In addition, the entity may explain 
how it manages the risks arising from such concentrations.

For the purposes of this section, if the entity knows that a group of entities is under 
common control, they should all be considered to be single customer. In the particu-
lar case of public sector customers, the criterion used to calculate the revenue from 
a single customer should be indicated. It is not necessary for the entity to disclose in 
the management report the identity of important customers or the amount of reve-
nue relating to each segment for such customers.

4.2 Financial risks

Financial risks arise from transactions that entail the use of collection rights or pay-
ment obligations as well as transactions in financial markets. A significant portion 
of the information on financial risks is contained in the notes to the financial state-
ments and, therefore, the recommendations below relate mainly to the description 
of the policies followed to mitigate the risks that could have the greatest effect on 
the entity’s situation and its results.

4.2.1 Market risk

It would be recommendable for the entity to disclose the information on this type 
of risk by category (interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, etc.).

A) Interest rate risk

It is recommended that companies disclose their level of exposure to fluctuations in 
interest rates and their policies to mitigate the impact of such risk.

Therefore, it is recommended that entities consider whether they should include 
information on the following:

27.  Fixed- and floating-rate financial assets and liabilities (indicating the specific 
benchmark interest rate in each case and whether limits on the amount 
thereof are envisaged), as well as the methods used by the entity to deal with 
the risk relating to interest rate fluctuations. It would be recommendable for 
this description to specify the connections between the entity’s strategies to 
try to mitigate interest rate risk, indicating, where applicable, the type of 
hedging instruments used.

To indicate the net exposure to interest rate risk, before and after taking into ac-
count any hedges arranged in each case, it would be advisable for the entity to pre-
sent this information in summarised form (for example, using tables such as those 
included in Appendix A containing examples).
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B) Foreign currency risk

In a context of variable exchange rates, any transaction implying future inflows or 
outflows of cash in foreign currencies may give rise to the appearance of foreign 
currency risk as the entity cannot precisely forecast the future value of the foreign 
currency in question. 

Foreign currency risk may be divided into three different sub-types of foreign cur-
rency risk37:

•  Operational; exchange rate fluctuations that affect transactions concerning op-
erating items (revenue flows, cost of sales, etc.).

•  Financial; associated with financial instruments in which exchange rate fluc-
tuations affect financial assets and liabilities.

•  Arising from investments in foreign operations; these may be significant 
when the financial statements of the consolidated subsidiaries are translated 
into the currency of the parent that prepares the management report (impact 
on equity).

Therefore, it is recommended that entities consider whether they should include 
information on the following:

28.  Foreign currency risks to which the entity is exposed, presenting the data 
for each of the three sources of risk separately (operational, financial and 
relating to investments in foreign operations) and explaining the entity’s 
policy for mitigating them.

Appendix A containing examples proposes a tabular format that could help with the 
presentation of the information recommended to be included in this connection 
(Table 2).

C) Financial instruments price risk

Entities invest in financial instruments in order to obtain returns from interest or 
dividends, on the one hand, and, on the other, from differences between the sale 
and purchase price. Although most of these instruments are assets, some may be 
classified, either temporarily or permanently, as liabilities.

In various parts of the compulsory information, quantitative information is pro-
vided on these risks and, therefore, the management report is the appropriate docu-
ment for explaining the objectives pursued by the entity in holding such instru-
ments, the control exercised when purchasing, holding and selling them and the 
risk reduction policies applied. 

Therefore, it is recommended that entities consider whether they should include 
information on the following:

37 The entity’s description of this type of risk should be consistent with its management thereof, regardless 

of whether or not the risk has been divided into three sub-categories.
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29.  How the investments are made and managed (decision-making, control and 
monitoring process), indicating how the financial instrument supervision 
and risk management systems are organised.

The law requires entities, where applicable, to include in the management report a 
description of their exposure to the risks arising from the holding and use of finan-
cial instruments and how such risks are managed.

The tables provided in Appendix A containing examples (Table 3) are merely for il-
lustrative purposes and may be used by the entity to provide the recommended in-
formation on this type of risk. For a greater understanding of the information, it is 
recommended that the entity include information on the financial assets and liabili-
ties, taken separately.

D) Commodity price risk

Apart from the supply risk, which is an operational risk, the entity may be subject 
to a significant risk in terms of fluctuations in the price of the raw materials it uses 
in its production processes, which may be mitigated using an active reduction poli-
cy through the use of instruments provided by the market itself.

In order to gain an understanding of the situation of the entity and the performance 
of its business, it may be necessary to provide information on obligations, risks and 
hedging transactions relating to raw materials. This will help the user of the infor-
mation to assess, on the one hand, the impact of the changes in prices and, on the 
other, the existing obligations concerning raw materials.

Therefore, it is recommended that entities consider whether they should include 
information on the following:

30.  The configuration and content of the existing obligations relating to raw 
materials. In addition information should be provided on how these obliga-
tions are supervised. The following should be discussed:

 •  The risks relating to the setting of prices, volatility and price trends, and

 • the hedging policies in place to minimise the impact of these risks.

Appendix A containing examples includes a table of contract purchases and sales, 
which the entity could use to present the information included in this Section. This 
information may be given for each significant type of raw material. 

4.2.2 Credit risk

Entities are exposed to credit risk arising from potential failure to comply with the 
payment obligations binding them to their counterparties (customers, suppliers, fi-
nancial institutions, shareholders, borrowers, etc.). 

Therefore, it is recommended that entities consider whether they should include 
information on the following:
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31. The significant amounts subject to credit risk.

32.  Relevant information on how the entity manages this risk, including infor-
mation on the systems relating to supervision of exposure, impairment of 
collection rights and management of the recovery of impaired amounts, as 
well as a description of the hedging methods used to mitigate credit risk.

4.2.3 Liquidity risk

The recommendations concerning the information on this type of risk and its poten-
tial impact on an entity and the policies implemented to mitigate it are contained in 
heading 2 of Section III on “Liquidity and capital resources” to which you are re-
ferred.

5 Significant events after the reporting period

The usefulness of describing and discussing the significant events after the report-
ing period goes beyond merely listing them. It also goes beyond detailing the ac-
counting treatment afforded to them, as this aspect may be included more appropri-
ately in the financial statements. If data on these events are included in the 
management report it is mainly to explain to the user the consequences that might 
arise from events that have occurred after the reporting period to which the annual 
information relates, indicating how the entity envisages dealing with them. 

In this regard, appropriate references may be made to avoid repetition, apart from 
mentioning the relevant figures in order to provide explanations on the management 
strategy and the results it has achieved or may achieve. Therefore, it is recommended 
that entities consider whether they should include information on the following:

33.  The consequences of significant events after the reporting period and, where 
applicable, any management measures envisaged by the entity.

6 Information on the outlook for the entity

The inclusion of information on the outlook for the entity is simply another way of 
supplying the recipients of the information with evidence of the foreseeable effects 
that decisions taken might have on the entity’s basic variables relating to its finan-
cial position, profitability and cash flows. The forward-looking information may be 
addressed in quantitative or qualitative terms and, therefore, may include the rea-
sons for the current situation, the decisions taken and the expected future situation.

It is the entity in its preliminary considerations regarding which information to fur-
nish, and where and when, that should define the scope and content of this section 
and include the data it considers most significant, notwithstanding confidentiality 
and avoiding generalities that are not very useful for users of the management report.

A company is not an isolated entity in the economic sphere and, therefore, its per-
formance is highly dependent on the general performance of the economy and of 
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the industry in which it operates, existing financial conditions and other political 
and economic variables. Therefore, any remarks on future performance should be 
supported by assumptions that factor in the conditions of the environment in which 
the entity operates, changes in which are often beyond the entity’s control.

However, the existence of plans that have been discussed and approved by the en-
tity’s managing bodies and are also based on such assumptions may serve as a 
source for the qualitative and quantitative data furnished. 

In addition, information on the outlook for the entity is not only included in a spe-
cial section with this name but in many other sections of the management report 
as it is the framework used by the entity to develop and justify its policies and ini-
tiatives.

When making forecasts, entities use their best knowledge of expected future events, 
but cannot offer assurance as to whether they will occur, which will depend on cir-
cumstances beyond their control. In any event, the forecasts must derive from the 
assumptions and suppositions used. The entity, where applicable, may include any 
cautionary statements it considers appropriate regarding management’s comments 
or forecasts.

Therefore, it is recommended that entities consider whether they should include 
information on the following:38

34.  The overall analysis of the information on the future provided under vari-
ous headings discussed previously and an explanation, where applicable, of 
the source of the information and any uncertainties inherent thereto. In 
addition, where forward-looking quantitative information is published, the 
analysis may include a detail of the assumptions used so that users can as-
sess the likelihood that the objectives set by the entity’s management will 
be met.

35.  A cautionary statement38 when assessing information on the future that 
sets forth the risks inherent to the inclusion of forward-looking information.

7 R&D&I activities

Depending on the industry in question, the information on research, development 
and innovation activities may be useful for users of the management report in order 
to better understand the entity’s possibilities of continuing to produce goods and 
services on competitive terms, while maintaining its position in markets or improv-
ing it, for the purpose of assuring its future activities.

38 The entity’s directors’ report contains certain forward-looking information that reflects its directors’ 

plans, projections or estimates, which are based on assumptions that they consider to be reasonable. 

However, the user of this report must be aware that the forward-looking information must not be con-

sidered a guarantee of the entity’s future performance since such plans, projections or estimates are 

subject to numerous risks and uncertainties that mean that the entity’s future performance may not 

necessarily coincide with initial forecasts. Such risks and uncertainties are described throughout the di-

rectors’ report, mainly, but not exclusively, in the section on the main risks and uncertainties faced by 

the entity.
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Therefore, it is recommended that entities consider whether they should include 
information on the following:

36.  The role played in the entity’s objectives and strategy by research, develop-
ment and innovation activities, taking into account the entity’s various com-
ponents, segments or units.

37.  The effort represented by research, development and innovation expendi-
ture in relation to the entity’s basic figures (sales or profit from operations, 
for example). In this respect, it is interesting to provide information on the 
resources used for these types of activities (investments or employment gen-
erated), as well as changes in the reporting period. In addition, a description 
may be provided of the policy determining the expenditure on these types 
of activities and whether any changes are envisaged in this regard.

38.  The most relevant results of the R&D&I activities that may be provided in 
financial terms (capitalised expenses, for example), non-financial terms 
(number of registered patents or procedures, for example) or both.

39.  The repercussions of the plans and activities on the company’s foreseeable 
performance, particularly if they will influence the maintenance of or in-
crease in production for sale or the launch of new business lines. This point 
may also be included in the section on the outlook for the company.

8 Acquisition and disposal of treasury shares

The management report should contain information on the acquisition and disposal 
of treasury shares by the entity preparing it as required by the Spanish Limited Li-
ability Companies Law39. However, the information on specific treasury share trans-
actions is included by many entities in the related note to the financial statements, 
leaving for the management report the disclosures and narrative regarding the ob-
jectives and policy in this connection.

The acquisition of treasury shares, while permitted with certain limits and caveats 
in corporate legislation, introduces the possibility of implementing strategies that 
could affect shareholders’ interests. What users of the management report expect 
from information of this nature is an explanation of the entity’s strategy based on 
the resolutions adopted by the board of directors.

Accordingly, the explanations to be included in the management report on transac-
tions with treasury shares, more than constituting a description of the transactions 
performed, should discuss how the resolutions by the board of directors have been 
managed and what effects have they had, or may have in the future, on the variables 
showing the share performance, expressed for example in terms of earnings per 
share, provided that the effect is significant.

In this regard, if the recommended information is included in any other compulsory 
document, such as the notes to the financial statements or the Annual Corporate 

39 The disclosure requirements are contained in Article 148.d) of the Spanish Limited Liability Companies Law.
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Governance Report, appropriate references may be made to avoid repetition, be-
sides mentioning the figures relevant to providing explanations on the management 
and results that such management has achieved or may achieve.

Therefore, it is recommended that entities consider whether they should include 
information on the following: 

40.  The reasons for performing the transactions with treasury shares based on 
the resolutions adopted in this respect, including a description of how sales 
and purchases are instrumented in practice. In addition, it may be useful to 
include a reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances relating to 
treasury shares showing the following:

 •  The quantity and par value of the shares acquired by the company and 
the sum paid as consideration for the acquisition of the shares, if ac-
quired for valuable consideration.

 •  The quantity and par value of the shares disposed of in the reporting 
period, as well the quantity and par value of those retired.

 •  Foreseeable use of the shares held at the end of the reporting period, 
provided that such use arises from firm commitments or resolutions 
adopted by the board of directors.

 •  Percentage of the voting power represented by the main changes de-
scribed above, calculated on the basis of the votes that may potentially 
be cast at the transaction date.

41.  The company’s policy relating to transactions with treasury shares. It 
would also be recommendable to explain the accretive or dilutive effect of 
transactions with treasury shares on the value of existing shares at the re-
porting date.

9 Other salient information 

9.1 Stock market information

The purpose of the recommendation to include a summary of the share performance 
in the management report is to provide users of the report and, in particular, current 
or potential shareholders, with an indication of the stock market performance of the 
shares and, where possible and if such relationship exists, explain to what extent 
the performance is related to management strategy and decisions taken in the re-
porting period or at another point in the past. 

Therefore, it is recommended that entities consider whether they should include 
information on the following:

42.  The selection of a set of simple indicators, relating to the market and the 
company itself, which are prepared and presented on the entity’s stock 
share performance, with the scope described above.
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9.2 Dividend policy

If the entity has followed in the immediate past, is currently following or is commit-
ted to following a certain policy with respect to the payment of dividends, including 
the frequency with which they are distributed each reporting period, it is recom-
mendable to describe it and discuss its effects, as well as the possibilities of main-
taining it in the future. Whenever possible, a connection should be made between 
the dividend policy and the outlook for the performance of the business and its re-
sults, in order to show the consistency between them.

Therefore, it is recommended that entities consider whether they should include 
information on the following: 

43.  The dividend policy followed, based on the results of the conduct of busi-
ness and the prospects regarding the continuation of this policy in the fu-
ture. It is also useful to provide information on the frequency of the pay-
ments made in the period.

9.3 Credit rating management 

As the entity will have a credit rating that will have evolved over the period, users of 
the management report will find it useful to know this rating and how it has changed 
over the reporting period, together with the strategy implemented by the entity to 
maintain or improve it.

Therefore, it is recommended that entities consider whether they should include 
information on the following:

44.  The steps taken in relation to the credit rating afforded to the entity and the 
reasons for any changes during the reporting period.

9.4 Other information

It is also recommended to include in the management report any information not 
contained in the preceding sections due to its not being compulsory that may be of 
interest to the users for forming an opinion on the way in which the entity has been 
managed or for making predictions for decision-making purposes.

Therefore, it is recommended that entities consider whether they should include 
information on the following:

45.  Any other news, circumstance or data relating to management, other than 
those included in the aforementioned sections, knowledge of which may be 
relevant for the users for forming an opinion on the management of and 
outlook for the entity.
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Introduction

The purpose of this specific guide is to supplement the sections of the general guide 
whose application to the banking industry, in view of the specific features of the 
latter, makes a specific industry-based adaptation advisable.

In more sophisticated markets, the users of financial information demand informa-
tion of this kind. In this connection, the case of the Unites States is paradigmatic. 
More specifically, item 303 of Regulation S-K addresses the nature and functions of 
the management report (“Management Discussion and Analysis”), as well as the 
general requirements relating to its preparation and content, and was used as a ref-
erence by this working group to draft the recommendations provided herein, to-
gether with other documents such as that issued by the “Enhanced Disclosure Task 
Force” (EDTF)40.

The aim of this industry adaptation is, on the one hand, to help banks prepare more 
transparent and relevant information that is responsive to the expectations of users 
of the information; and, thus to endeavour to contribute to restoring investors’ con-
fidence and trust in banks and, therefore, to improving the health of the financial 
system.

Furthermore, in view of the vital role played by financial reporting in the capital 
markets, investors expect financial information to enable them to conduct a more 
granular analysis of the banking operations and the situation of banks. The publica-
tion of this specific recommendation guide seeks to provide a response to these 
needs of the users of financial reports. 

Application of these recommendations, as in the case of the general guide, is consid-
ered to be voluntary. Accordingly, the entities to which the recommendations are 
addressed have to decide whether to use them as a framework to facilitate imple-
mentation of the applicable regulations when preparing their management reports. 
However, as already mentioned in the introduction to the general recommendation 
guide, enhanced transparency helps better protect the interests of users of the infor-
mation, which results in a better functioning of the capital markets. In this regard, 
it is to be expected that investors will reward the entities that choose to adopt these 
recommendations and that this will lead to easier access to, and better conditions 
for, financing.

40 Promoted by the Financial Stability Board, the EDTF is a private initiative comprising 30 representatives 

of investors, audit firms and credit institutions, whose mission was to prepare a series of recommenda-

tions on how to improve the disclosures supplied by banks in order to facilitate the adoption of invest-

ment decisions. The recommendations were set out in the report entitled “Enhancing the risk disclosures 

of banks”, published on 29 October 2012.
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General recommendations

As explained in the introduction, the purpose of this guide is to adapt the recom-
mendations of the general guide to the banking industry. Where there are no spe-
cific differences between the banking industry and other industries, the recommen-
dations of the general guide shall apply in full to the banking industry. For this 
reason and due to the supplementary nature of these recommendations, matters 
that do not have any particular features, such as organisational structure, R&D&I 
activities, events after the reporting period and the acquisition of treasury shares 
are not given a specific treatment.

Following are certain general recommendations for the preparation of management 
reports for credit institutions, which will then be expanded upon in a set of specific 
recommendations for the areas in which supplementary information can be pro-
vided. As mentioned in the general guide, both quantitative and qualitative informa-
tion could be mentioned by means of cross-references, where this information has 
already been disclosed in the financial statements41.

1 Risk management

Since the identification of banking risks (in particular market risk and credit risk, in 
addition to liquidity risk mentioned in recommendation 2 below, and other risks 
such as reputational risk) and the discussion of the entities’ risk profile and capital 
adequacy are dealt with extensively in the notes to the financial statements and the 
prudential relevance report (Pillar 3 disclosures), the management report risk disclo-
sures should be confined to describing the specific sources of exposure, their impor-
tance for and impact on the entity, the entity’s risk appetite or propensity, and the 
manner in which risk management is organised and its effectiveness. If the entity’s 
business model determines the manner in which risks are assumed and managed, a 
description of this model will reveal the evolution and impact of these risks and will 
enable users to make projections.

2 Liquidity risk and capital resources

It is recommended that an analysis be made of the available sources of funds and 
the charges associated with liquid assets, as well as of expected liquidity require-
ments and the capacity to generate cash flows. With regard to capital resources, the 
management report should establish the criteria to be used to distinguish between 
the various kinds of capital, on the basis of their loss-absorbing capacity, their avail-
ability, their term and their seniority in the event of liquidation, and it should indi-
cate the degree to which their use is conditional upon the continuity of the entity’s 
operations. In addition, the report could indicate the sources of uncertainty associ-
ated with any complex instruments issued by the entity.

3 Credit risk

Since credit risk constitutes a fundamental aspect of banking activity, it is impor-
tant to explain the context in which it is assumed, measured, monitored and con-

41 See appendix C of the general guide in this connection.
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trolled in each of the entity’s business segments or portfolios. In addition to supply-
ing quantitative information, it would be interesting to apprise report users of the 
management model for each of these segments or portfolios, as well as their future 
outlook, the loan recovery procedures in place and the foreseeable impact on the 
entity’s results.

4 Outlook

When discussing the manner in which risk is managed, it would be recommendable, 
provided no strategic information which might be harmful to the entity is revealed, 
to make references to the outlook for the entity, since both the type of strategy to be 
implemented and the intensity with which it is employed depend on the future 
scenarios being considered by management.

5 Implementation of new regulations 

The description of business performance and risk management, in light of the enti-
ty’s targets and the strategy pursued, needs to be supplemented by a precise indica-
tion of the measures and plans to implement any new regulations applicable for the 
first time in the reporting period, as well as of the objectives and prospects for future 
compliance, in particular when there is a schedule for adaptation or for the perfor-
mance of the main parameters defined by domestic or international regulators.

This reasoned structure is coherent with the philosophy that pervades and gives 
meaning to the management report. The management report has a function that 
justifies its existence as a report separate from the other documents prepared by the 
entities, namely that of furnishing the context for the information of a purely ac-
counting nature. As a result, the basic content of the management report is of a 
predominantly narrative nature.

The foregoing enables us to establish the context for the tables and example quanti-
tative disclosures attached hereto in the “Tables” appendix. They are intended, 
should an entity wish to use them, to serve only to systematise the information or 
to establish a basis on which to offer a more narrative description, with the nuances 
mentioned above.

Lastly, it should be noted that the list of the headings contained in this guide is not 
a “closed list” and, therefore, should any significant change arise with a material 
impact on the entity, this change should be addressed appropriately in the manage-
ment report, even if it cannot be classed under any of the proposed headings.

Specific recommendations

As mentioned in the general guide, both quantitative and qualitative information 
could be mentioned by means of cross-references, where this information has al-
ready been disclosed in the financial statements42.

42 See appendix C of the general guide in this connection.
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1  Distribution of assets, liabilities and equity; interest rates and interest 
rate spread

As already stated in the introduction, the aim of the information disclosures recom-
mended below is to eliminate the seasonal component inherent to the presentation 
of the income statement and the balance sheet at the closing date of the reporting 
period. This seasonality might be acceptable in other industries. However, in the 
banking industry, given its peculiar features, it can give rise to harmful effects that 
it would be advisable to remedy. Moreover, the greater granularity already described 
in general terms is particularly important in this area, since the market expects dis-
closures of this kind to enable it to conduct a more detailed analysis of the banking 
activity and of the situation of the entities operating in this industry.

Therefore, disclosure of the following information is recommended:4344

A)  For each reporting period, it would be recommendable to present an aver-
age balance sheet43. It would suffice to present a condensed version of the 
balance sheet presented as part of the entity’s financial statements44. An 
example tabular presentation is included under the Tabular presentations 
and examples heading (Table 1).

B)  For each reporting period, it is recommendable to present an analysis of net 
interest income, to include the following:

 1.  For each principal interest-bearing asset and liability category, the av-
erage outstanding balance and the interest accrued in the period.

 2.  The average interest rate for each of the principal interest-earning as-
set categories.

 3.  The average interest rate for each of the principal interest-bearing lia-
bility categories.

 4.  The average interest rate for all interest-earning assets and all interest-
bearing liabilities.

 5.  The net return on interest-earning assets (net interest income divided 
by total interest-earning assets).

 6.  In any case, entities may opt to present the information contained in 
this section using average balances, in keeping with the recommenda-
tion in heading A above.

43 Unless otherwise indicated, whenever the concept of “average balances” is used throughout these rec-

ommendations, it refers to average daily balances. Nevertheless, should the preparation of these data 

constitute a disproportionate burden for the entity, it may use average weekly or monthly balances, 

provided that they are representative. The entity should indicate this matter in the report.

44 In any case, the average balance sheet should include the most significant categories of interest-earning 

assets (loans, investments in charged and uncharged securities, interest-earning deposits held at other 

banks, Government bonds sold and fixed-income securities acquired under reverse repurchase agree-

ments, other short-term investments and any other significant categories, to be specified) and interest-

bearing liabilities (savings deposits, other term deposits, short-term debt, long-term debt and any other 

significant categories, to be specified).
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C) It is recommended that entities present, for the last two years:

 1.  The quantification in euros of the change in interest and similar in-
come; and

 2.  The quantification in euros of the change in interest expense and simi-
lar charges.

D)  It would be recommendable for the entity to provide a breakdown, for the 
changes in each of the main interest-bearing asset and liability categories, 
into amounts attributable to: changes in volume, changes in interest rate 
and changes in interest rate/volume45.

However, it is recommended that the entity include the possible impact of any 
other type of effect it may consider appropriate (non-performing loans, etc.). The 
disclosure could be made in a table similar to that contained in Table 2 of the 
Tabular presentations and examples heading.

4546

Guidance for preparation of the information corresponding to this section:

1.  It would be recommendable to explain the treatment afforded to non-inter-
est-earning loans in the analysis recommended in heading B.

2.  The calculation of changes in interest and similar income should exclude 
any item not realised or any adjustment not made in the reporting period. 
Entities are recommended to mention this exclusion in a footnote (indicat-
ing type of item and amount).

3.  It is recommended that entities disclose any material loan fees included in 
interest and similar income.

4.  If it is necessary to disclose information on activities in each of the markets 
over which the entity’s business is distributed46, it is recommended that 
the information required in headings A, B and C of section 1 be broken 
down, for each significant asset or liability category (established in accord-
ance with heading A), into domestic transactions and transactions in other 
markets. In addition, it would be recommendable to disclose the percent-
age of total assets and liabilities attributable to activities in other markets 
in which the entity carries on its business, based on the related average 
balances.

45 Change in interest rate multiplied by the change in volume.

46 It would be recommendable to disclose the information relating to activities in the various markets in 

which the entity carries on its business in each reporting period in which one of the following compo-

nents: (1) assets, (2) income (3) profit (loss) before tax, relating to transactions in currencies other than 

the functional currency, accounts for more than 10% of the corresponding amount reflected in the fi-

nancial statements.
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2  Financial assets held for trading, other financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss and available-for-sale financial assets

Disclosures of this kind require a combination of qualitative and quantitative infor-
mation. 

Accordingly, it would be recommendable for the quantitative information to include 
the following:

A)  At the end of each reporting period, the detail (see	Table	3) of the carrying 
amount of investments in:

 (1)  Debt securities issued by central, autonomous community and local 
governments, other similar regional public authorities and other po-
litical subdivisions, and public-sector companies; and issues for which 
suretyships or any other unconditional guarantee has been provided 
by the aforementioned institutions, with a breakdown of the debt by 
issuer country.

 (2)  Securities of other kinds, such as bonds, shares and debentures of enti-
ties, debt certificates issued by central banks, derivative financial in-
struments, etc.

B)  It is recommended that each of the instruments mentioned in the preceding 
paragraph be presented, as at the end of the reporting period, by grouping 
them together on the basis of their maturity dates into the buckets that the 
entity considers most appropriate, e.g.: 1 year or less, 1 to 5 years, 5 to 10 
years and more than 10 years. In addition, entities are recommended to 
publish the weighted average return for each maturity bucket (see	Table	4).

C)  When the carrying amount of the securities issued by a single issuer ex-
ceeds 10% of the equity of the reporting entity, it is recommended that the 
latter disclose the aggregate carrying amounts and market values of those 
securities. It would also be recommendable to include a reference to the risk 
associated with the securities.

  If this quantitative information is to be genuinely useful for users, it should 
be accompanied by additional comments to put it into context. In this con-
nection, it would be recommendable to provide an explanation of the poli-
cies for managing the trading book, in such a way as to make it possible to 
relate these policies to the level of measurements within the fair value hier-
archy and the methodology for determining and validating those measure-
ments.

3 Loans and credits

It is recommended that the entity disclose certain key matters which may help users 
of the information to understand the entity’s loan book. Thus, it is suggested that, 
first of all, the entity explain its lending policy. In this connection, it would be inter-
esting to apprise users of the manner in which the entity’s commercial and loan 
book risk management policies are incorporated into its loan approval procedures, 
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as well to provide an assessment of the possible effects of its lending policy on its 
credit loss coverage.

Furthermore, in order to provide useful information on the entity’s lending policy and 
its transaction approval process, it is recommended that certain indicators, such as, for 
example, the loan-to-value ratio, be presented broken down by customer segment. 

In addition to this information, in order to furnish the reader with the appropriate 
context, and provided that the related disclosures have not already been included in 
the financial statements, it would be recommendable for the entity to:474849

A)  Present (see	Table	5) the total amount of loans and credits at the end of the 
reporting period47, distinguishing between:

 Domestic area (International area48).

 1. Commercial, financial; agriculture and industry

 2. Finance leases by:

  – Companies
  – Public sector

B)  Maturity profile and sensitivity of loans and credits to changes in interest 
rates: it is recommended that the entity present, separately, the total amount 
of loans and credits for each of the above-mentioned categories49 (see	Ta-
ble	6)	maturing at: 1 year or less, 1 to 5 years; and more than 5 years.

  It is recommended that entities also present (see	Table	7) the total amount of 
the aforementioned loans and credits maturing at more than one year that 
earn interest at:

 (a) a predetermined fixed rate.
 (b) a floating rate.

  The entity could assess which type of breakdown it can include, due both to 
the relevance of the breakdown and to the fact that it is not included in the 
notes to the financial statements. Possible examples of breakdowns include 
those by nature, counterparty, (fixed or floating) interest rate, geographical 
area and industry.

  It is also recommended to link the above-mentioned breakdown with the 
entity’s credit risk distribution and, therefore, mention could be made of the 
distribution by geographical area or counterparty (individuals, companies, 
etc.) of credit risk.

47 This breakdown is presented for illustration purposes only. The entity must decide to what extent this 

breakdown applies to its particular case or to the manner in which it manages its loan book.

48 Where applicable,this heading would comprise the balances granted at Group branches or subsidiaries 

located abroad.

49 This would not be necessary for categories 3, 4 and 5; categories 6 to 9 could be presented in aggregate 

form.
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Guidance for preparation of the information relating to this section: 

1.  Scheduled repayments should be included in the maturity profile within 
which the payment is to be made.

2.  Demand loans, loans without a fixed repayment and maturity schedule and 
overdrafts shall be considered to mature at 1 year or less.

C) Risk elements.

1.  Associated with doubtful assets and any other classification specifically 
monitored by the entity (e.g. substandard assets); and restructured/refi-
nanced assets.

  It is recommended that at the end of each reporting period the entity es-
tablish the aggregate amount of loans corresponding to debt instruments 
that have been classified as doubtful or as pertaining to any other category 
being monitored by the entity, such as restructured/refinanced assets, for 
example.

  Users of the information would find it useful if the quantitative disclosure 
of loans of this kind were accompanied by some kind of explanation regard-
ing the policy implemented by the entity to manage and monitor them. 
Therefore, in relation to:

 1)  Doubtful assets or any other category specifically monitored by the 
entity, it is recommended that the entity disclose the type of policy 
adopted by it to classify a debt instrument as doubtful or as pertaining 
to any other category used by the entity.

 2)  Restructured or refinanced assets, in order to illustrate the entity’s 
management policy for these assets, it would be recommendable to 
provide information on how the assets were restructured/refinanced 
(restructuring/refinancing policy); namely, by means of loan term ex-
tensions, grace periods, additional guarantees, etc.

   With regard to both types of assets described above (1 and 2), it would 
be recommendable to furnish a summary of:

  –  Any movements in the reporting period among the various cate-
gories; and

  – The type of debt collection policy applied by the entity.

   In addition, it is recommended to provide a brief description of the 
changes in these debt instruments following implementation of the 
management policies described. Lastly, it would be advisable to pro-
vide information on what the entity considers to be the outlook for 
these debt instruments in the coming years.
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2.  Country risk50: it is recommended to provide the name of the country and 
the aggregate amount of any outstanding cross-border balances exposed to 
country risk and relating to foreign debtors from countries in which these 
balances exceed 1% of total assets at the end of the reporting period.

50

Guidance for preparation of the information relating to “country risk”:

1.  Outstanding cross-border balances susceptible to country risk refer to debt 
instruments (including accrued interest), interest-earning deposits held at 
other banks, other interest-earning investments and any other monetary as-
set, denominated in euros or another currency, which bears country risk. To 
the extent that such euro-denominated balances have not been hedged or 
have not been financed using local-currency loans, the related amounts 
should be considered to be outstanding cross-border balances. Commit-
ments such as irrevocable documentary credits should not be included as 
outstanding balances; however, where the related amounts are material, it 
would be recommendable to treat them in such a way as to distinguish them 
from the rest.

2.  It is recommended that amounts of cross-border balances be disclosed sepa-
rately, as specified above in section 3A.

3.  If any of the assets referred to in 3 C.1 (unpaired and restructured or refi-
nanced) represents significant outstanding balances with foreign countries, 
it is recommended to identify those countries and the relative outstanding 
balances.

4.  Loans granted or deposits placed at a branch of a foreign bank located in a 
country other than the country of origin of that bank will be considered for 
the purpose of disclosure as loans or deposits with the foreign bank.

5.  When the conditions of a given foreign country give rise to liquidity prob-
lems that may significantly affect the repayment of the principal or interest 
on loans to the public or private sector of that country pursuant to the orig-
inal terms of the loans, it is recommended to provide:

 (a) A description of the nature and impact of those terms.

 (b)  An analysis of the changes in the aggregate outstanding balances 
with debtors in that country, except where the country does not need 
to be included, given that the aggregate balances with all borrowers 
in the country, at the end of the reporting period, do not exceed 1% 
of total assets in the reporting period using the following or a similar 
format:

50 Although it has already been mentioned on numerous occasions throughout the text of this guide, enti-

ties are reminded once more that they should only disclose information that is relevant in their particular 

case and which will contribute added value for users of the information. Thus, the specific information 

relating to country risk should be disclosed only to the extent that the entity’s situation, the state of its 

business and its performance may be affected by this risk.
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Country A Country B

Aggregate outstanding balances (beginning of reporting period)   

Net change in short-term outstanding balances   

Changes in other outstanding balances   

Additional outstanding balances   

Accrued and recognised interest income   

Principal repayments received   

Interest payments received   

Other changes   

Aggregate outstanding balances (end of reporting period)   

   For the purposes of the table shown above, short-term outstanding bal-
ances are commercial loans and interbank deposits (and similar instru-
ments) which when granted had a maturity of one year or less. It would 
be recommendable for this table to be supplemented with a breakdown, 
by country, of the amounts of short-term outstanding balances includ-
ed in the aggregate amounts at the end of the reporting period.

 (c)  The total amounts accrued as interest income and the total interest re-
ceived during the reporting period with respect to all the outstanding 
balances for each country in accordance with subheading (b) of these 
general instructions, if the aforementioned totals are significantly differ-
ent from the amounts disclosed under subheading (b) for the items called:

  – Accrued and recognised interest income; and

  – Total accrued interest income.

   The amounts could be different if, for example, all or part of the out-
standing balances had been classified as doubtful and interest accrual 
had ceased.

 (d)  If a significant proportion of the outstanding balances, of any of the 
countries, identified under point 6.b were restructured/refinanced dur-
ing or after the reporting period, or if a significant portion of those 
balances might be restructured/refinanced following an agreement to 
that effect reached between the creditor and the debtor; it would be 
advisable to provide the following information:

  –  A description of the terms of payment of the outstanding bal-
ances before and after the restructuring; it is recommended to 
include at least the following information:

Country A Country B

Amount restructured (or to be restructured) EUR X EUR X

Weighted average maturity date (including deferrals)

 Prior to restructuring 20XX 20XX

 After restructuring 20YY 20YY

Weighted average interest rate

 Prior to restructuring X% X%

 After restructuring Y% Y%
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   The entity, if it deems it advisable, may elect to use a different tabular 
format to present this information; however, it is recommended that, 
at least, the items shown above be presented.

  –  A description of the commitments arising, or expected to arise, 
from the restructurings/refinancings.

  –  The amount of outstanding balances, broken down by country, 
that have been reclassified or are expected to be reclassified, and 
thus no longer classified as doubtful as a result of the restructur-
ings/refinancings.

6.  It is recommended that the names of any countries whose outstanding bal-
ances represent between 0.75% and 1% of total assets and the total amount 
of the outstanding balances attributable to them be disclosed.

3.  Risk concentration: taking as a reference the closing date of the reporting 
period, it is recommended to describe any risk concentration exceeding a 
certain percentage of total risk exposure that has not been classified in any 
other category under Section 3 of this specific recommendation guide. Cred-
it concentrations are deemed to exist when amounts have been lent to mul-
tiple borrowers that either are concentrated in a specific geographical area 
or carry on similar business activities, so that certain economic conditions 
of their industry, of the geographical area in which they are concentrated or 
of another kind would have a similar impact on all of them. It is also recom-
mendable to explain any difference between the way in which credit of this 
kind is managed and the policy applied to other loans.

4 Disclosure of the coverage of credit losses on credit exposures

A)  It would be recommendable to provide an analysis of the losses incurred in 
the reporting period, using a format similar to that presented under the 
Tabular presentations and examples heading (Table 8).

Guidance for preparation of the information relating to this section:

(1)  Table 8 is not intended to be an obligatory format in which to publish this in-
formation. On the contrary, entities are recommended to use alternative for-
mats if they believe that they convey the information more effectively; none-
theless, it is advisable to at least furnish all the information required in the table.

(2)  For each reporting period, it is recommended to give a brief description of 
the factors that influence management’s judgement when determining the 
losses relating to the coverage of credit losses on credit exposures.

(3)  For the disclosure recommended herein, it is advisable to use the same cat-
egories as those used to present the information under heading A of section 
3 of this guide. 
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B)  At the end of each reporting period, it is recommended to furnish a break-
down of the allocation of the coverage of credit losses on credit exposures  
(see	Table	9).

Guidance for preparation of the information relating to this section:

(1) See instructions (1) and (3) of heading A above.

(2)  The entity could supply a narrative discussion of the risk elements of its 
credit exposures and of the factors considered when allocating the coverage 
of credit losses on credit exposures. The discussion could encompass the 
risk components of certain loan categories. It is recommended to disclose in 
advance the amount of loan write-offs, by category, expected to take place 
in the following reporting period. 

C)  It would be important to know the reasons underlying the expected losses, 
as well as the impact on expected losses of the adoption of commercial poli-
cies geared towards increasing market share, and of the proliferation of 
transactions that is habitually observed in periods of economic expansion.

5 Foreclosed assets

A)  It is recommended that entities describe their policies for the control, ad-
ministration and management of foreclosed assets, as well as the related 
marketing strategy, indicating for example whether the assets have been 
placed with a company incorporated for the purpose of selling them.

B)  In addition, it would be recommendable to provide information on the fair 
values of foreclosed assets, grouped together into various types (e.g. build-
ings, land and financial assets). Other interesting disclosures that could be 
taken into consideration are, for example, the geographical distribution of 
the assets, their age (time held by the entity), the gains or losses on asset 
disposals and the financing of sales.

C)  Lastly, it would be recommendable for the entity to disclose its expectations 
with regard to these assets, mainly in relation to their disposal and the po-
tential impact on profit or loss.

6 Deposits

Although there are numerous quantitative disclosures for deposits, there are not 
many disclosures of a qualitative nature. 

A)  The management report could be the ideal place to address the following 
matters:

 –  Deposit classification policy and criteria of the entity (wholesale/retail, etc.).
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 –  Deposit management policy: growth targets, potential of a given type 
of deposit with respect to others, etc.

 –  Foreseeable trend in the entity’s deposits and the projected impact on 
profit or loss.

B)  When addressing this heading in the management report, it would be rec-
ommendable to express the relationship between the entity’s deposits and 
its liquidity and sources of funding. In this connection, it would be useful to 
reflect on the policies in place in relation to the management of deposits and 
the loan-to-deposit (LTD) ratio. Thus, if the LTD ratio were high, an explana-
tion could be given of the reasons for the entity’s aggressive policy and of 
how it manages the potential liquidity risk at the same time. If on the other 
hand the LTD ratio were low, it would be advisable to give a detailed defini-
tion of the numerator and the denominator; this would enable users to de-
termine whether the ratio is the result of a conservative strategy or the inclu-
sion in the denominator of alternative sources of funding to retail deposits 
(e.g. central bank funding), in which case it would be useful to know the 
potential impact of excluding these sources. 

C)  Lastly, it would be recommendable to discuss the risk of deposit concentra-
tion based on the deposit segmentation criteria applied. Reference could be 
made to the greater exposure to a given type of deposit, to the policies for 
managing such deposits by, for example, establishing special redemption 
policies, etc.

7 Regulatory capital, return on capital and equity

The current disclosures are based on the definitions set in the Basel I and II Capital 
Accords. However, since each State has interpreted and implemented the Basel cap-
ital definitions in a different way and, accordingly, requires specific disclosures, us-
ers of financial information face a series of problems when it comes to analysing 
and comparing information between different entities. Also, many entities world-
wide have not yet adopted Basel II. Furthermore, the reconciliation of regulatory 
capital to equity gives rise to certain complexities.

A)  Accordingly, the following information would be of considerable use to users:

 –  Pillar 1 capital requirements, including the capital surcharges for glob-
al systemically important banks (G-SIBs) and the use of counter cycli-
cal capital buffers or the minimum internal ratio set by management.

 –  Qualitative and, where appropriate, quantitative description of the im-
pact of the decisions/strategies adopted regarding capital targets 
throughout the year within the general framework of management’s 
strategic planning; it would also be recommendable to include general 
information on management’s view of the level of capital required or 
set as a target for the coming years.

 –  The financial institution’s involvement in and ability to use internal 
models or standardised models for calculating regulatory capital and,
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   in particular, an explanation of which business segments are being 
assessed using internal models and of when this approach was vali-
dated.

B)  Also, it would be recommendable to provide a reconciliation of equity to 
regulatory capital, a summary of the instruments composing regulatory 
capital and a statement of changes in capital to help users put the entity’s 
financial position into context (Table 10). 

C)  Lastly, it is recommended that the possibility be assessed of including in the 
management report any stress tests that might have been carried out by 
third parties, if they have been published, together with any necessary qual-
ifications or explanations of the results.

8 Liquidity, funding and capital resources

The disclosures of liquidity and sources of funds should provide information to fa-
cilitate comprehension of the entity’s liquidity position and sources of funds at con-
solidated level (or with a greater level of detail, where appropriate).5152

A)  It would be recommendable for the entity to show how it manages its poten-
tial liquidity requirements. As a complement to this qualitative disclosure, a 
quantitative analysis could be offered of the components of the liquid re-
serves held in order to meet potential liquidity requirements. The analysis 
would be more complete if it were provided not only at year-end, but also 
using average figures51.

  The entity could disclose the components of its liquid reserves following 
the internal definition provided by management. The entity could also dis-
cuss the extent to which this internal definition corresponds to the one pre-
scribed or proposed by the regulatory authorities. The entity could describe 
any assets or securities that could be used to meet its liquidity requirements 
but which would not meet the definition of component	of	 liquid	 reserves	
provided by the regulatory authorities.

  This qualitative description could in turn be supplemented with an explana-
tion of any possible limitations on the use or transfer of the liquid reserves 
of subsidiaries (or reserves denominated in foreign currency) that might be 
restricted in some way, when they have a significant impact on the entity or 
a business line.

  Another recommendable disclosure with regard to liquidity would be that of 
charges associated with liquid assets52. It would be very useful for users 
for financial information to be able to identify the assets that cannot be 
pledged or used to obtain funding in any other way, either because they 
have already been pledged or because of other restrictions affecting them. It

51 See footnote 44 (average balances) in this connection.

52 In this connection, the rules that may ultimately be approved as a result of the ongoing consultation 

process launched by various international bodies would have to be taken into account.
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  would also be recommendable and useful to quantify the assets available to 
be used as a guarantee in the ordinary course of business because they are 
unencumbered. This quantification could be used as a starting point for 
identifying assets available to cater for potential funding or guarantee re-
quirements.

B)  It would be recommendable for the entity to disclose its strategy regarding 
funding, focusing the explanation on key sources of funding and any poten-
tial funding concentrations that might exist. The objective would be to ena-
ble users of the information to acquire a precise idea of the sources of fund-
ing available, the confidence in wholesale funding, any restrictions due to 
country or currency risk and the changes in these funding sources over time.

  The following would be some of the key aspects on which it is recommend-
ed that disclosures be made, pursuant to the preceding discussion:

 –  Funding plan: types of funding sources available and the level of ac-
cess the entity has to them.

 –  Concentrations: significant concentrations of funding sources, paying 
particular attention to wholesale funding and its distribution across 
different jurisdictions and currencies.

 –  Change: how the funding sources to which the entity has had recourse 
have changed over time.

C)  Also, the management report could be an appropriate place to present the 
entity’s strategies regarding the management of capital resources. In this 
regard, the management report could be used to provide a detail of the al-
location of economic capital to the various businesses, facilitating a measure

  of the margin for the adoption of risks by the entity (e.g. the ratio of availa-
ble funds to economic capital), or to indicate the managers’ expectations 
regarding the possible generation of “cushions” of resources as a result of 
the disposal of assets (reporting on the quality and weighting of these re-
sources, the expected impact on results, the resulting capacity to adopt risks 
and other effects, such as the possible reduction of the funding capacity as-
sociated with the collateralisation of the assets disposed of).

D)  It would be advisable for the entity to provide a qualitative description of 
the calculation methodology, the circumstances taken into account and the 
assumptions used when internal stress tests are performed on liquidity and 
funding, without it being necessary to publish the quantitative results of the 
tests. The most commonly assessed circumstances are a downgrade of the 
entity’s credit rating, a change in systemic market risk, changes in interest 
rates and significant losses in the stock markets.

  Lastly, it would be recommendable for the entity to provide a description of 
its contingency plans and the actions that would be undertaken in the de-
fined stress scenarios.
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9 Response to regulatory change

The current environment is characterised by a substantial regulatory burden which, 
to a large extent, is an attempt to respond to the problems evidenced by the crisis. 
Accordingly, entities are experiencing a more uncertain environment which, to a 
certain extent, forces them to reassess how they carry on their businesses. 

Therefore, it could be useful for users of the information (and perhaps also for 
the entities themselves) to present an assessment of their ability to respond to 
regulatory change in the light of their organisational structure. In this respect, 
reference could be made to the possible existence of a Regulation Committee or, 
in more general terms, to the entity’s attitude towards regulatory change.

10 Key financial indicators

Following is a series of key indicators of the entity’s business performance, which 
supplement the corresponding section of the general guide (Section III heading 
2.1, Key financial and non-financial indicators). Accordingly, we refer to the con-
tent of that heading with respect to the description of the importance and mean-
ing of indicators of this kind and the recommendations regarding their treatment 
and presentation in the management report. Also, since it is the entities them-
selves that decide which indicators are of key importance in the framework of 
the management of their own particular business, the following list is provided 
solely as an example and in no case is intended to be an exhaustive list of such 
indicators.

It would be appropriate to define all the ratios and concepts used, especially where 
there are differences with respect to the definitions in the guide or the applicable 
banking regulations.

The following indicators should be calculated on an annual basis using average bal-
ances (following the criteria specified in the footnote on page 40 of section 1) when-
ever this is possible and the entity considers that it adds value for users of the infor-
mation. If these indicators have been disclosed in the notes to the financial 
statements, the corresponding reference could be made to this disclosure.

A)  It is recommended that the entity disclose only the indicators of each of its 
management areas (capital adequacy, asset quality, etc.) that it considers 
representative of the directors’ management efforts. 

B)  Additional disclosures. To the extent that it might be representative with 
respect to the manner in which the directors manage the entity’s businesses 
and that it might help users of the financial information to understand the 
changes therein, it is recommended that the following additional informa-
tion be disclosed:

 –  Earnings and returns.

 –  Main gaps relating to the components of profit before tax with respect 
to the previous reporting period.
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 –  Earnings: separate and cumulative earnings of one reporting period 
with respect to the previous one.

 –  Costs: Analysis of and changes in salient items.

 –  Staff cost budget model.

 –  Liquidity.

 –  Breakdown of maturities between wholesale and retail.

 –  Breakdown of wholesale maturities between guaranteed (collateral-
ised) or cleared at clearing houses, and other wholesale maturities.

 –  Breakdown of wholesale maturities not guaranteed (collateralised) or 
cleared at clearing houses by maturity and type of instrument.

 –  Analysis of changes in retail liabilities (deposits).

 –  Statement of position of the various liquidity lines defined by the entity.

 –  Comparison of liquid assets with retail maturities.

 –  Analysis of liquid assets by rating and eligibility.

 –  Stress scenarios on the structural liquidity gap.

Capital adequacy TABLE A

Name Possible purpose

Ratio of regulatory capital to 

risk-weighted assets.

This is the ratio required by Basel III to determine the entity’s ability to 

absorb losses with the available Tier 1 and Tier 2 capital.

Ratio of Pillar 1 regulatory 

capital to risk-weighted assets. 

This is the loss-absorbency ratio that measures only the ratio of common 

equity to risk-weighted assets. The minimum required by Basel III is 4.5%.

Change in risk-weighted assets 

in the portfolios.

Detail of and change in the weighting assigned to each loan portfolio for 

capital adequacy purposes.

Leverage ratio. The ratio of capital to total exposure (including all on balance sheet assets 

and certain off balance sheet assets such as loan commitments). It 

enables the size and profile of the entity’s risk exposure to be identified.

Capital planning in stress 

situations.

Future capital needs arising from compliance with future Pillar 1 capital 

requirements, including the assessment of all additional risks (e.g. those 

arising from the internal capital adequacy assessment process and from 

the consideration of various stress scenarios). 

Use of capital by type of 

financial product.

Identifies the structure of the portfolio of financial products classified by 

the cost of regulatory capital. Enables enhanced measurement of the 

actual return on products and strategy management that is more in line 

with the cost-benefit ratio.

Use of guarantees for capital 

adequacy purposes.

Percentage ratio of eligible guarantees for capital adequacy purposes to 

total risk coverage. This enables the quality of the guarantees received to 

be assessed and stratified by product, identifying areas of improvement 

so that risk mitigation actions can be taken.
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Asset quality TABLE B

Name Possible purpose

Ratio of debt instruments 

classified as substandard (or any 

other equivalent classification) 

to total loans.

Percentage ratio of substandard assets to total lending; this makes it 

possible to project changes in the non-performing loans ratio due to the 

migration of these substandard instruments to written-off loans.

Distribution of debt 

instruments by industry/total 

debt instruments. 

Structure of the loan portfolio by industry classification, identifying 

percentages for industries with higher or lower risk profiles. This enables 

industry-based lending strategies to be identified.

Ratio of doubtful assets to total 

assets by segment, and the 

related changes.

Percentage ratio of loans granted to customers classified as doubtful 

(because they have not been repaid on the agreed-upon dates) to total 

assets. It is recommended that these data be classified by segment, since 

the information thus obtained from this ratio is more relevant because it 

is more precise. Also, it would be advisable to present the ratio for at least 

the years covered by the financial statements so that changes in the ratio 

can be analysed.

Changes in segment 

aggregates based on 

distribution of credit risk.

Inter-period comparison of the structure of the loan portfolio by purpose. 

This enables significant changes in lending with specific characteristics to 

be stratified and identified.

Earnings and returns TABLE C

Name Possible purpose

Return on assets (ROA) The return on total assets. It is calculated by dividing the company’s profit 

after tax by the carrying amount of all its assets.

Return on equity (ROE) This is the return the company obtains on its shareholders’ money. The 

ratio of accounting profit to the resources required to obtain that profit.

It is proposed to redefine the following ratios using a logical step presentation of (5) salient lines in an 

entity’s income statement, breaking down each one by: amount, percentage of gross income and change in 

terms of average total assets (ATA).

Income statement line Amount 
Percentage of 
gross income

Change in terms 
of ATA

1.  Net interest income 

2.  Gross income 

3.  Administrative expenses

4.  Depreciation and amortisation 

charge

5.  Provisions and impairment 

losses

6.  Profit from operations

7.  Profit before tax

8.  Profit for the year from 

continuing operations

9.  Consolidated profit for the 

year

Efficiency ratio The ratio of administrative expenses to gross income; in this case, the 

lower the ratio, the more efficient the entity is. This ratio enables the 

bank’s stability to be measured: a bank with a lower efficiency ratio that 

suffers significant falls in income will incur losses much later.
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Liquidity TABLE D

Name Possible purpose

Ratio of liquid assets to total 

assets

Liquid asset ratio.

Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR) Ratio of liquid assets to short-term liabilities. This ratio measures the 

extent to which short-term claims of creditors are covered by assets that 

can be converted into cash in the period until the claim matures. In other 

words, it indicates the extent to which the entity will be capable of 

realising its current assets in order to meet its current liabilities. 

Net Stable Funding Ratio (NSFR) The aims of this ratio are for entities (1) to finance their medium- and 

long-term assets with stable long-term funds, and (2) to reduce their 

over-reliance on wholesale market funding.

Lending gap and moving 

annual total average balances

Difference between the global lending portfolio and average borrowed 

funds. This is an indicator of purely global banking activity. It is important 

for changes to be discussed.

Ratio of customer deposits to 

total (non-interbank) loans

Difference between the retail lending portfolio and average borrowed 

funds. This is an indicator of purely retail banking activity. It is important 

for changes to be discussed.

Liquidity coverage ratio by 

currency

Also called the short-term liquidity ratio, this ratio aims to guarantee that an 

entity retains an appropriate level of available liquid assets to cover the net 

balance of inflows and outflows in a stress scenario over a 30-day horizon.

Sensitivity to market risk TABLE E

Name Possible purpose

Ratio of the net position in 

currencies other than the 

functional currency to capital

This ratio is intended to be used to assess the entity’s vulnerability to 

fluctuations in the exchange rates of currencies other than the functional 

currency. Thus, higher exposure in foreign currency is synonymous with 

higher foreign currency risk.

Other TABLE F

Name Possible purpose

Geographical distribution of 

loans/total loans

Stratification of the lending portfolio by geographical distribution enables 

country-risk exposure to be assessed so that it can be actively managed 

when international macroeconomic events occur.

Spread between the benchmark 

lending rate and the average 

rate on deposits

Difference between the interest rate established by investment 

management for loan transactions and the average interest rate on the 

portfolio of deposits. This makes it possible to identify the leeway 

available for the management of net interest income.

Spread between the average 

rate on the entity’s deposits and 

the official benchmark interest 

rate

This ratio aims to compare the average interest rate on the entity’s 

deposits to the official benchmark rates, which are those defined in Article 

27 of Ministry of Economy and Finance Order EHA/2899/2011, of 28 

October, on transparency and customer protection in banking services. 

Spread between the highest 

and the lowest interbank 

interest rates (for each period 

reported upon in the financial 

statements)

Identifies the cost of funding by wholesale counterparty, facilitating 

possible strategies for the management of the cost of access to funding.

Ratio of loans denominated in 

currencies other than the 

functional currency to total loans

Percentage exposure of lending to fluctuations in the exchange rates of 

currencies other than the functional currency. It allows lending to be 

classified by currency and significant concentrations to be identified.

Ratio of liabilities denominated 

in currencies other than the 

functional currency to total 

liabilities

Percentage exposure of liabilities to fluctuations in the exchange rates of 

currencies other than the functional currency. It allows liabilities to be 

classified by currency and significant concentrations to be identified.
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11 Branch network

Disclosures relating to a banking institution’s branch network and its possible im-
pact on the bank’s future development could be very useful to users of the financial 
information. This type of information is very closely linked to the outlook for an 
entity’s positioning and to the projections made with respect to the markets in 
which the entity operates or is considering doing so in the near future. 

Furthermore, the impact of new technologies on the banking sector should not be 
disregarded and, in this connection, entities are recommended to provide informa-
tion on the impact of new technologies on their distribution models and on how 
they interact with customers. Thus, it is recommended that the following informa-
tion be provided:

A)  Geographical distribution, or segmented information prepared using any 
other criterion, with respect to the business management model, on the ba-
sis of the entity’s branch network.

B)  Future outlook with respect to the expansion or contraction of the branch 
network, by geographical area (or by the segmentation criterion used in 
managing the entity), based on management’s expectations regarding 
whether the entity is likely to increase or reduce its business volume.

C)  Policy for the establishment of branches by segment; it would also be rec-
ommendable to show the number of branches by type and relate this infor-
mation to the level of bankarisation in the geographical area or any other 
segment (companies, consumer loans, individuals, private banking, etc.).

D)  Description of the extent to which new technologies have affected the cus-
tomer relationship model; which would include e-banking, telephone bank-
ing, the development of applications for electronic devices, etc. and their 
possible impact on the entity’s distribution model.



85

Section IV

Specific recommendation 

guide for the banking 

industry

Tabular presentations and examples

Average balance sheet5354 TABLE 1

Year N Year N-1

Average 
balance Interest

Average 
rate

Average 
balance Interest

Average 
rate

Assets and interest income

Assets

Cash and balances with central banks

Loans and advances to credit institutions

Loans and advances to customers

Debt instruments54

Income from hedging transactions

Other interest-earning assets

Total interest-earning assets 

Investments in Group entities       

Total earning assets       

Other assets       

Assets arising from discontinued operations       

Average total assets       

Liabilities and equity       

Deposits from credit institutions       

Customer deposits       

Marketable debt securities       

Subordinated liabilities       

Other interest-bearing liabilities       

Expenses of hedging transactions       

Total interest-bearing liabilities       

Other liabilities       

Non-controlling interests       

Shareholders’ equity       

Liabilities arising from discontinued operations       

Total average liabilities and equity       

53 If the condition described in the footnote 48 of this specific guide is met, it would be recommendable for 

the entity to break down the information differentiating between domestic transactions and transac-

tions in the markets over which the entity distributes its business.

54 If applicable, a distinction should be made between corporate and public-sector debt; in the latter case, 

the information should be broken down by issuer country.
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Analysis of changes due to rate/volume55 TABLE 256

Year N Year N-1

Net 
change

Arising from 
changes in

Net 
change

Arising from  
changes in

Volume
Interest 

rate Volume
Interest 

rate

Interest income

Cash and balances with central banks

Loans and advances to credit institutions

Loans and advances to customers

Debt instruments57

Other interest-earning assets

Total interest-earning assets disregarding 

hedging transactions

Income from hedging transactions

Total interest-earning assets

Interest expense

Deposits from credit institutions

Customer deposits

Marketable debt securities

Subordinated liabilities

Other interest-bearing liabilities

Total interest-bearing liabilities 

disregarding hedging transactions

Expenses of hedging transactions

Total interest-bearing liabilities

57

Detail of available-for-sale financial assets and held-to-maturity TABLE 3 
investments

31/12/N

Cost/ 
amortised 

cost

Gross 
unrealised 

gains

Gross 
unrealised 

losses Fair value

Available-for-sale financial assets     

Treasury bills     

Other public corporations     

Guaranteed foreign debentures     

Other debt securities     

Investment securities     

Money market funds     

Other assets     

Total available-for-sale financial assets     

Held-to-maturity investments     

Other assets     

Total held-to-maturity investments     

Total securities     

55 If the condition described in the footnote 48 of this specific guide is met, it would be recommendable for 

the entity to break down the information differentiating between domestic transactions and transac-

tions in the markets over which the entity distributes its business.

56 The entity may add as many columns as it considers necessary in order to reflect the impact of any other 

effect it considers appropriate (non-performing loans, etc.).

57 If applicable, a distinction should be made between corporate and public-sector debt; in the latter case, 

the information should be broken down by issuer country.
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Detail by residual maturity date TABLE 4

31/12 N

Residual maturity
Amortised 

cost
Gross unrealised 

gains
Gross unrealised 

losses
Fair 

value
Average 

rate

Less than 1 year

1 to 5 years

5 to 10 years

More than 10 years

Total

Detail of the total amount of loans and credits58 TABLE 5

Year N Year N-1

Credits, loans and leases to residents

Commercial, financial; agriculture and industry

Real estate – Development and construction

Real estate – Mortgage

Term loans granted to individuals

Finance leases

Loans to public authorities

International credits, loans and leases

Governments and official institutions

Banks and other financial institutions

Commercial and industrial

Other loans

Total credits, loans and leases

Detail by maturity (see footnote to Table 5) TABLE 6

31/12/N
Less than  

1 year
1 to 

5 years
More than 

5 years Total

Credits, loans and leases to residents     

Commercial, financial; agriculture and industry     

Real estate – Development and construction     

Real estate – Mortgage     

Term loans granted to individuals     

Finance leases

Loans to public authorities 

International credits, loans and leases     

Governments and official institutions     

Banks and other financial institutions     

Commercial and industrial     

Other loans     

Total credits, loans and leases

58 This detail is presented solely as an example. The entity shall decide the extent to which this detail ap-

plies to its particular case or to how it manages its portfolio, and it must be consistent in the presentation 

of the various tables detailing its lending.
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Detail of difference between fixed and floating rate loans TABLE 7

Loans to residents Loans to non-residents Total

Fixed rate    

Floating rate    

Total    

Detail of losses relating to the coverage of credit losses TABLE 8 
on credit exposures (see footnote to Table 5)

Year N

Balance at beginning of year EUR X

Credit loss write-downs and provisions

Residents

Commercial, financial; agriculture and industry

Real estate – Development and construction

Real estate – Mortgage

Term loans granted to individuals

Finance leases

Loans to public authorities 

Non-residents

Recoveries

Residents

Commercial, financial; agriculture and industry

Real estate – Development and construction

Real estate – Mortgage

Term loans granted to individuals

Finance leases

Loans to public authorities 

Non-residents

Write-off of impaired balances against recorded impairment allowance

Reclassifications

Other changes

Balance at end of year EUR X

Ratio of net write-downs in the year to average outstanding balances in the year X

Allocation of the coverage of credit losses on credit exposures TABLE 9 
(see footnote to Table 5)

Amount
Loans in each category/

total loans (%)

Residents   

Commercial, financial; agriculture and industry   

Real estate – Development and construction   

Real estate – Mortgage   

Instalment loans granted to individuals   

Finance leases   

Loans to public authorities

Non-residents   

EUR X 100%
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Example of reconciliation of regulatory capital to on balance TABLE 10 

sheet equity

EUR 
million

EUR 
million

EUR 
million

Total equity according to the balance sheet

Paid-in share capital

Retained earnings

Share premium

Other equity instruments

Other reserves

Regulatory accounting adjustments to accounting basis

Preference share premium

Other equity instruments

Deconsolidation of special purpose entities

Prudential valuation adjustment

Deferred tax assets that rely on future profitability

Goodwill and intangibles

  According to the balance sheet

  Deferred tax liabilities

  Positive purchased goodwill on acquisition

  Other (regulatory adjustments)

Securitisation positions

Securitisation positions

Shortfall of provisions to expected losses

  Impairment losses per IRB approach

  Expected loss

  Other (regulatory adjustments)

Threshold deductions

  Investments in insurance subsidiaries

    According to the balance sheet

    Reverse amount relating to banking associates

    Reverse positive purchased goodwill on acquisition

  Investments in joint ventures and associates

  Deferred tax assets arising from temporary differences

  Amounts below threshold

Other (items under transitional arrangements)

Other (items under transitional arrangements)

Prudential filters

Gain on pension fund adjustments

  Assets according to the balance sheet

  Liabilities according to the balance sheet

  Taxes

  Other (regulatory adjustments)

Own credit spread

Cash flow hedge reserve

Other (items under transitional arrangements)
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EUR 
million

EUR 
million

EUR 
million

Non-controlling interests

According to the balance sheet

Transferred to other tiers of capital

Restricted amount in common shares, Pillar 1

Common Equity Tier 1 capital

Additional Tier 1 capital

Preference share premium

Other equity instruments

Transfer from common shares, Pillar 1

Hybrid capital securities

  According to the balance sheet

  Reversal of own credit spreads

Other (items under transitional arrangements including regulatory 

adjustments)

Tier 2 capital

Transfer from common shares, Pillar 1

  According to the balance sheet

  Reverse the amount that relates to banking associates

Collectively assessed provisions

  According to the balance sheet

  Amortisation

  Reversal of own credit spreads

Subordinated debt

Other (items under transitional arrangements including regulatory 

adjustments)

Other (items under transitional arrangements including regulatory 

adjustments)

Total regulatory capital
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Recommendations regarding the points to be 
included

The aim of the following specific recommendations is to summarise, in accordance 
with the applicable legislation and the philosophy established in pillars I, II and III 
of the guide, the content that the management reports of listed small and medium-
sized enterprises might have. 

Recommendation 3.10 of the guide for preparing the management reports of listed 
companies acknowledges the need for adapting the content of the report to the size 
and complexity of the entity, particularly in the case of listed small and medium-
sized enterprises: 

  “3.10. Tailor the management report to the nature of the business, taking 
into account the size and complexity thereof. It is recommended that the 
content of the management report should be balanced and adapted to the ac-
tivity carried on by the company and to the size and complexity of its opera-
tions. In particular, the content of the management reports of listed small and 
medium-sized enterprises should be consistent with their size, which	may	in-
volve	summarising	or	abridging	the	content	recommended	herein	to	ensure	that	
preparation	costs	are	not	disproportionate.”

As a result, the following recommendations were prepared in an attempt to adapt 
the content of the management report to the particular characteristics of this type of 
company, by summarising or abridging its content, in order to take into considera-
tion that the complexity of their organisation and operations, and the nature of the 
risks they assume, may be reduced by the small size of their activity. It was also 
taken into consideration that a simplified report model would give rise to cost sav-
ings and that certain formats would be helpful for those responsible for drafting 
and approving the management report.

In strict accordance with the Fourth Directive59 for the purposes of applying this 
specific guide, an LSME is understood to be an entity other than a credit institution 
that does not exceed two of the following limits in two consecutive reporting periods:

–  Revenue exceeding EUR 35 million

–  Total assets exceeding EUR 17.5 million

–  Average number of employees for the reporting period exceeding 250 employees

Companies failing to reach, for two consecutive years, two of the thresholds re-
ferred to in the paragraph above may be considered LSMEs.

59 Fourth Council Directive 78/660/EEC of 25 July 1978 based on Article 54 (3) (g) of the Treaty on the an-

nual accounts of certain types of companies establishes the limits, updated periodically (the last time 

being 2006), that define medium-sized companies.
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The management report aims to present a fair review of the performance of the 
business, together with a description of the main risks that the entity faces. As a 
result, irrespective of the simplification objective encouraged by this recommenda-
tion, no information that, due to its nature or significance, should be known by the 
entity’s shareholders and the players in the market may be disregarded as a result of 
following certain formats the purpose of which is to facilitate the preparation of the 
management report.

Accordingly, if there is any such information not included in the formats shown 
below, it should be added and explained by the entity when preparing the manage-
ment report, using either items of information contained in this recommendation or 
others. However, if any of the items shown below were not applicable to the entity’s 
particular circumstances, this would be mentioned specifically in the management 
report and the related explanation would be provided if deemed necessary.

As explained in Appendix B, if the information requested in the formats mentioned 
above is included in the financial statements or the ACGR, reference may be made 
to these documents.

Entities following this guide when preparing their management reports may in-
clude, at the beginning, a statement that it was prepared following the guide’s spe-
cific recommendations for listed small and medium-sized companies for preparing 
management reports.

The adaptation of the nine points of the general guide that are of particular impor-
tance for the management reports of companies of this type in view of their particu-
lar characteristics is shown below.

1 Situation of the entity

1.1 Organisational structure

Contents Structure of the entity and modus operandi of the board. Rules for delegating management 

powers and responsibilities according to the division of the entity into components.

Comments

1.2 Modus operandi of the entity

Contents The entity’s general objectives and main actions for achieving them, including a 

description of the business model.

Comments

2 Business performance and results

2.1 Evolution and trend relating to income

Contents Description of the main factors (market, new products or services, technological progress, 

etc.) that explain the changes in the main income items in the reporting period, 

differentiating between changes in volume, price and exchange rates. Where appropriate, 

this analysis should be provided by segment.

Comments
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2.2 Evolution and trend relating to costs

Contents Description of the main factors that explain the changes in the most significant cost items 

in the reporting period, differentiating between changes in volume, price and exchange 

rates. In particular, commentary should be provided on the trend in staff and procurement 

costs, reflecting the past and forecasts. Where appropriate, this analysis should be 

provided by segment.

A commentary on the changes in staff costs:

A commentary on the changes in procurement costs:

A commentary on the changes in other significant cost items:

2.3 Evolution and trend relating to profit or loss

Contents The changes in profit or loss in the reporting period and its components (profit (loss) from 

operations, profit (loss) before tax, etc.), and trends observed, taking into consideration the 

trends in recurring income and costs, and the impact of non-recurring transactions (sales 

of non-current assets, transactions with financial instruments, unusual impairment losses, 

discontinued operations, etc.). Where appropriate, this analysis should be provided by 

segment.

Comments

2.1 Key financial and non-financial indicators

2.4 Economic and financial indicators

Contents Basic economic and financial indicators, covering as many reporting periods as necessary 

to explain changes, including as much narrative as necessary to cover their meaning and 

performance. Where appropriate, the indicators may be selected from among those 

included in Appendix B to the guide.

Selected indicators relating to the company’s competitive position (by segment):

Selected indicators relating to the returns on assets (by segment):

Selected indicators relating to the return on equity:

2.2 Issues relating to the environment and employees

2.5 Indicators of environmental matters

Contents Indicators of the results of environmental management, comparing the policies with the 

results achieved in the reporting period, including as much narrative as necessary to cover 

their meaning and performance. Where appropriate, the indicators may be selected from 

among those included in Appendix B to the guide.

Description of the objectives and policies relating to environmental management, including the operation 

and control of the established risk management systems:

Applicable legislation and degree of compliance:

Main actions carried out in the reporting period to improve environmental quality:

Results of environmental management in the following areas: materials, waste, energy, water and gas emissions:
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2.6 Indicators of social matters

Contents Basic social indicators. Reconciliation of the objectives pursued to the actions and results 

obtained in the period. Where appropriate, the indicators may be selected from among 

those included in Appendix B to the guide.

Description of the social objectives and policies, and the main actions carried out in the reporting period:

Main actions and indicators relating to employment, safety, health and the working environment:

Main actions and indicators relating to the training and education of employees:

Main actions and indicators relating to the management of equality in diversity (women, social minorities, 

people with disabilities, etc.):

3 Liquidity and capital resources

3.1 Liquidity

Contents Identification of the entity’s sources for obtaining liquidity, for both the payment of current 

obligations and for investment commitments and loan repayments, as well as the short- 

and long-term liquidity management objectives and the degree of compliance. 

Description of the entity’s usual sources for obtaining liquidity, including any restrictions on the transfer of 

the Group companies’ funds: 

Alternative or additional sources:

Likely trends and fluctuations in the expected cash flows: 

A commentary on the sufficiency of the expected liquidity in order to cover the entity’s investment and 

financing objectives:

3.2 Capital resources

Contents Description of the policy for raising equity and borrowings, for the purpose of meeting the 

contractual obligations arising from investing activities or for maintaining the entity’s 

operating capacity. Recommendations 11 to 18 of Section III may provide certain 

indications for covering this area. 

Policy for raising equity and borrowings at the entity and capital structure:

Description of the investment commitments/needs, together with the required disbursements:

Objectives relating to the cost of borrowed funds:
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3.3 Contractual obligations and off balance sheet transactions

Contents Analysis and description of the cash outflows in future years for which a commitment has 

already been made, whether or not they arise from items recognised in the balance sheet.

Description of the payment needs, identifying the liability items that give rise to them (loans, obligations 

under finance leases, etc.) and the off balance sheet transactions that create an obligation to use liquidity in 

the future (operating leases, purchase/investment commitments, etc.):

Overall estimate of the payments arising from contractual obligations and off balance sheet transactions for 

the following and subsequent reporting periods, grouped together by interval in the most significant way 

for the entity. As a more informative alternative, the following figure may be used:

Contractual obligations

Maturity (payments per period)

Total
Within 
1 year

1 to 3 
years

4 to 5 
years

After 
5 years

Payables      

Obligations under finance lease      

Operating leases      

Purchase commitments60      

Other obligations61      

Total contractual obligations      

4 Main risks and uncertainties6061

4.1 Operational risks

Contents Analysis of the entity’s objectives and the actions it carries out to manage operational risks.

Description of the operational risks and the uncertainties that represent: 

The most important objectives and actions in the reporting period to mitigate operational risks (in particular, 

those relating to industry regulation operating security, the concentration of customers and suppliers and 

internal control failures):

4.2 Financial risks

Contents Analysis of the entity’s objectives and the actions it carries out to manage the risks 

connected with the use of financial instruments. In each case an indication is given of the 

level of acceptable risk and the entity’s hedging policies.

Interest rate risk:

Foreign currency risk, making a distinction between transactions in currencies other than the euro and 

investments in subsidiaries with a currency other than the functional currency:

Financial instrument price risk:

Commodity price risk:

Credit risk: 

60 “Purchase commitments” are understood to be agreements to purchase goods or services that are en-

forceable and legally binding on the entity, in which all the important terms and conditions are specified, 

including: set or minimum amounts that must be acquired, price provisions (pre-set, minimum or vari-

able) and the approximate terms in which the transactions will be performed.

61 “Other obligations” are understood to be other financial liabilities reflected in the entity’s balance sheet. 
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5 Significant events after the reporting period

5 Significant events after the reporting period

Contents Expected consequences of the events occurring after the reporting period. 

Events providing evidence of conditions that existed at the end of the reporting period:

Events indicative of conditions that arose after the reporting period:

6 Information on the outlook for the entity

6 Outlook for the entity

Contents Foreseeable effects of the decisions taken on the overall evolution of the key variables 

relating to the entity’s financial position, profitability and cash flows. Recommendations 34 

and 35 of Section III may provide certain indications for covering this area.

General forecasts regarding the financial position:

General forecasts regarding results and profitability:

General forecasts regarding cash flows: 

7 R&D&I activities

7 R&D&I activities

Contents Objectives and activities relating to research, development and innovation, with the results 

obtained and the foreseeable impact on the entity.

Efforts relating to R&D&I (affected segments, material and financial resources used):

Results of the R&D&I activities in the reporting period (patents, procedures, production improvements, etc.):

Impact of R&D&I on the entity’s outlook (if not included in point 6):

8 Acquisition and disposal of treasury shares

8 Acquisition and disposal of treasury shares

Contents Objectives and policies relating to the entity’s treasury share transactions that enable it to 

explain the activities performed in the reporting period.

Explanation of, and reasons for the main treasury share purchase transactions in the year:

Explanation of, and reasons for the main treasury share sale transactions in the year:

Percentage of the issued shares and foreseeable use to which the treasury shares held by the entity at the 

end of the reporting period will be put:
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9 Other salient information

9.1 Stock market information

Contents Commentary on the evolution in the year of the key indicators that show the share 

performance on the market.

Commentary on the changes in the share price in the year, with a comparison to the market as a whole:

9.2 Dividend policy

Contents Explanation of the dividend policy followed by the company, based on the results 

obtained.

Commentary on the dividends declared in the year, as part of the policy followed by the entity, with an 

indication, where appropriate, of the prospects regarding the continued implementation of this policy in 

the future:

9.3 Credit rating management

Contents Information, where appropriate, on any changes in the credit rating in the reporting period.

Comments on the changes in the entity’s credit rating in the reporting period, indicating the measures 

taken:

9.4 Other information

Contents Description of any other news, circumstances or data relating to management that may be 

relevant for users.

Comments
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Appendix A:  Examples and proposals to serve as 
guidance (in relation to Section III)

These examples, which are merely for illustrative purposes, have been selected from 
true cases and have been drawn up to better explain the guide’s recommendations. 
They have no regulatory value and are not intended to cover all the matters that 
could be addressed in the management report, as their sole purpose is to act as a 
guide so that companies may draw inspiration from them when drafting certain of 
the sections of which management reports are composed. As the sources of the texts 
are highly diverse, upon reading them a degree of heterogeneity may be noted, but 
it has been considered that they contribute the value added of covering a broader 
spectrum of entities, management styles or business sectors. In most cases names, 
figures and dates have been replaced with generic references (“X”, “Y”, “Z”, “N” or 
similar denominations), in order to avoid revealing the sources.

A.1 Situation of the entity

Example of the organisational structure

Organisational structure: among the main responsibilities of the group’s board of 
directors are strategy management, resource allocation, risk management and 
corporate control, in addition to accounting and financial reporting. 

The group’s executive committee (GEC) is made up of the members of the board 
of directors, heads of major business segments who do not sit on the board of 
directors and the head of region “A”. On (date: ) the appointment of the head of 
region “B” (which excludes country J) as a member of the GEC became effective. 
His/Her appointment underlines the strategic importance of this region as one of 
our most important growth factors. At its regular meetings, the GEC analyses 
business performance, discusses issues related to the strategy of the group and 
makes recommendations which are then presented to the board of directors. Mr 

“Z” chairs the two bodies, the board of directors and the GEC.

Functional Committees

Regional Committees 

Business 
segment 2

Business 
segment 3

Business 
segment 1

Group Executive Committee 
Board of directors/Heads of Business 

segments/Heads of the regions
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Example relating to strategy

Strategy: despite the volatility of the IT industry over the last decade, the company 
has achieved excellent returns with stable growth in earnings per share. The com-
pany has changed its business structure, discontinuing certain segments while 
increasing its presence in high-value areas such as software services and integrat-
ed solutions. As part of this change, it has acquired more than X companies since 
year “N” to supplement and adjust its portfolio of products and offerings.

This very clear strategy adopted by the company has led to stable earnings in key 
business areas, while its offering and the number of potential markets have both 
grown. The detail of the cornerstones of this strategy is as follows:

–  Transmission of value to the company’s customers through business inte-
gration and information technology innovation.

–  Redirection of the structure of the business towards higher value-added 
products and services.

–  Become the leading globally integrated entity.

Consistent with this strategy, the company is also using its capabilities to strength-
en its position in certain growth areas. Some of the growth initiatives of the 
company are “Initiative 1”, “Initiative 2” and “Initiative 3”. Each represents a sig-
nificant growth opportunity with very attractive profit margins for the company.

Example of a description of the business model

Business model: the company’s business model is designed with the aim of 
achieving two main goals:

1)  Help customers to increase their capacity for innovation, efficiency and 
competitiveness through the application of business knowledge and solu-
tions based on information technology.

2)  Provide long-term value to the company’s existing stakeholders.

The business model has been developed over time through strategic investments 
in capabilities and technologies with a potential for higher long-term growth in 
relation to the value they are able to provide company’s customers.

The company’s overall capabilities include services, software, systems, research 
and the funding required by these capabilities. The extensive range of businesses 
and capabilities are combined so that it is possible to offer integrated solutions to 
the company’s customers.

The business model is sufficiently flexible to adapt to the ongoing changes that 
occur in the market or in the global economic context. The company continues to 
sell certain businesses and strengthen its position through strategic organic invest-
ments and the acquisition of high-value segments such as “A, B or C”. In addition, 
the company has become a globally integrated enterprise, which has resulted in an
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improvement in its overall productivity, and is directing its investments and op-
erations at markets with the highest growth rates in the world.

The business model -underpinned by the company’s financial model- has enabled 
it to achieve strong revenues and cash flows and high returns for stakeholders on 
a sustainable basis.

A.2 Outlook and earnings for business activities

Example of commentaries on the changes in evolution of sales and profits

Segments

Year N Year N-1

Millions 
of euros

Percentage 
of the total

Millions 
of euros

Percentage 
of the total

Segment 1 A M S P

Segment 2 B N T Q

Segment N … … … …

Revenue ∑V(N) 100 ∑V(N-1) 100

Segments

Year N Year N-1

Millions 
of euros

Percentage 
of the total

Millions 
of euros

Percentage 
of the total

Segment 1 X K W Q

Segment 2 Y L Z R

Segment N

Segment profit ∑B(N) 100 ∑B(N-1) 100

Sales increased in all segments with respect to year N-1, except in “Segment 1” 
due to the crisis that the geographical area covered by the segment activity is ex-
periencing and the considerable increase in local competition. For this reason, 
the results of this Segment are negative, and will probably continue to be for the 
next two years. To put an end to this situation, agreements are being entered into 
with very powerful distributors in the region, who consider this time period nec-
essary in order to consolidate their commercial channels.

The sharp increase in the sales of “Segment 2” was due to the bankruptcy of one 
of our major competitors, which has left the market partially undersupplied. This 
situation will be short lived, as the entry of new owners in the competitor group 
will restore production levels in the near future.



106

CNMV

Guide for the preparation 

of management reports 

of listed companies

Example of commentaries on the evolution of changes in profit/loss 
from operations: 

(in millions of euros, except percentages) N N-1
Change
(N / N-1)

Revenue X M -S%

Operating expenses Y N T%

Earnings per share (diluted) Z O U%

Year N compared with year N-1

Operating income increased primarily due to the sales of products from the “A” 
Range -the new OS X-2020- but decreased due to the low demand for the products 
of the “B” Range, the updating of which was discontinued two years ago. The 
negative performance of the euro against the US dollar had an adverse impact on 
the final figure for revenue this reporting period. 

Profit from operations increased as a result of a rise in revenue, partially offset by 
higher operating expenses. The main changes in operating expenses were as follows:

–  The cost of sales increased by EUR “P” million due to the higher cost of for-
eign purchases and the average increase of “k%” in staff costs for the year, 
arising from the obligations assumed vis-à-vis employees in collective bar-
gaining processes in prior years.

–  The advertising and selling expenses increased by EUR “H” million, as a re-
sult of the major effort in promoting the “A” Range and the operating system.

–  The research and development expenditure not capitalised increased by EUR 
“G” million, due to the improvements made to the “OX” operating system.

–  In addition, losses on uncollectible receivables increased by EUR “Q” million 
and higher local taxes accounted for an increase in costs of EUR “B” million.

The significant change in diluted earnings per share is a reflection of the increase 
in revenue net of operating expenses and of the lower effective income tax rate. 
Acquisitions of ordinary shares during the reporting period also had a positive 
effect on the final figure for earnings per share. 

Example of commentaries on price seasonality

Additionally, the price of product “X” has a distinctly cyclical nature, having expe-
rienced considerable price volatility in recent years. This price behaviour is asso-
ciated primarily with changes in volumes or the conditions under which supply 
and demand are established, and the financial position of the various market op-
erators. To reduce this risk, in recent years the group has made significant invest-
ments aimed at increasing productivity and the quality of the product sold. Also, 
the possibility of using hedges on the price of product “X” for future sales is as-
sessed on an ongoing basis. Regardless of the cyclical behaviour of the market, 
the business of producing and selling product “X” carried on by the group is 
subject to the industrial and commercial risks inherent to this industry and the 
term of the concession for the factory located in “place”.
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Example of commentaries on the changes in sales 

For the segment/product S, revenue in year “N” was EUR “X” million, represent-
ing an increase of “X%” with respect to the EUR “Y” million earned in year “N-1”. 
This increase in revenue was due mainly to the “T%” increase in sales of products 
and, to a lesser extent, a favourable exchange rate, which helped increase revenue 
from sales by “P%”.

Example of commentaries on the changes in the gross margin 

The cost of goods sold amounted to EUR “X” million in year “N”, representing 
“X%” more than the EUR “Y” million incurred in year “N-1 “. The gross margin 
decreased from “Y%” in “N-1” to “X%” in “N” (Y>X). The reason for the decrease 
in this margin is the increase in raw material prices, to which the negative impact 
of the increase in the cost of labour must be added.

Example relating to raw material prices

The raw materials used in the production process of “Product 1” (or of “Segment 
1”), experienced a significant price increase in the reporting period. In certain 
cases these effects were significant and, therefore, in the severest cases, the com-
bination of the effects of pressure on the end prices of the products and the price 
rise in raw materials made the manufacture of certain products unprofitable.

Example of reconciliation with figures obtained from the financial statements

When presenting earnings, the group considers that the calculation and presenta-
tion of free cash flow and operating free cash flow -despite not being measures 
recognised within the framework of IFRSs- are useful to users of the information 
for the following reasons:

The free cash flow enables both the group and third parties to measure our liquid-
ity and the cash generated by the operations of the group. This indicator reflects 
the cash available for discretional activities. 

The free cash flow makes it easier to compare earnings with other companies, 
although our measurement of free cash flow may not be directly comparable with 
indicators with the same or a similar name published by other companies.

These measures are used directly by the company’s managing bodies for purpos-
es of planning, reporting or establishing incentives.

These measures are useful for financial analysts and rating agencies.

Following is a reconciliation of the free cash flows to the figures obtained from 
the financial statements:
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(amounts in millions of euros) N N-1 Change

Cash generated by operating activities Z Y O%

Capex ( B ) ( A ) -P%

Disposals of assets and rights on property, plant and equipment C D Q%

Operating free cash flow G H I%

Taxes F E V%

Dividends received from associates and other investments W W R%

Dividends paid to non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries ( L ) ( J ) M%

Interest received and paid (net) K N S%

Free cash flow T U -X%

Free cash flow decreased by “X%” to EUR “T” million due to higher tax charges 
and the payment of dividends to the non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries. 
However, this negative impact was tempered by an increase in cash generated by 
operations and lower capital expenditure disbursements. 

Cash generated by operating activities increased in year “N” by “O%” to EUR “Z” 
million, due to favourable exchange rate fluctuations and improved working capi-
tal. Capex decreased by “P%”, due largely to a decrease in the expenditure on invest-
ments in “Market 1”. Tax payments increased by “V%” compared to “N-1”, which 
was due to the elimination of the exemption for prompt payment that existed in 
the “Market 2” during that reporting period. Dividends received from associates 
and investments remained stable at EUR “W” million. The net interest payments 
decreased by “S%” to EUR “K” million, due to a lower net average debt balance.

Example of disclosures on environmental management

The company is committed to the integration of the concept of “sustainability” in 
its business, especially with regard to resource conservation and climate change. 
For us, this is an opportunity and a responsibility.

Strategies and plans

Our environmental strategy acknowledges the company’s impact along the entire 
value chain, from raw materials to finished goods. Our aim is, firstly, to reduce 
the company’s impact on the environment and second, to save costs, which are 
estimated to amount to EUR “X” million until year “N +5”. This dual objective will 
be achieved through a reduction in demand for energy, materials and distribu-
tion costs. The analysis of the impact of the company on the environment shows 
that we need to focus on three main areas:

1.  Reducing	CO
2
	and	other	substances	that	contribute	to	climate	change: action 

needs to be taken within the scope of the company’s own operations, which 
generate 40% of the CO

2
 emitted to the atmosphere (the rest is divided 

among product use by customers, distribution, etc.). Since year “N-3” re-
sources have been allocated to a fund to finance energy saving projects. A 
total of “x” projects have been completed to date, which have prevented the 
emission of “t” tonnes of greenhouse gases into the atmosphere. Investment 
in renewable energy production has also increased through the fund created 
for this purpose.
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2.  Use	 of	 water: in year “N” the company reduced water consumption by ap-
proximately “m” million litres. Net water consumption decreased from “y” to 

“z” between “N-3” and “N”, which is an improvement of “X%” with respect to 
the established target. The company also improved wastewater treatment.

3.  Environmental	management,	which	includes	the	use	of	materials,	the	genera-
tion	of	waste	and	pollution: the company attempts to ensure efficient use of 
materials, by minimising the generation of waste, pollution and harm to 
persons and the environment. Increasing the efficiency with which materi-
als are used is a priority and aims to achieve a reduction of “Z%” until year 

“N +5”. This will help to reduce the use of raw materials and the generation 
of waste by “H%”, which will represent a reduction “v” times higher than 
the norm for this type of industry.

The company manages environmental issues using a system in accordance with 
recognised international standards, focusing on prevention and planning rather 
than on subsequent intervention to remedy adverse events that have already oc-
curred. Each segment is responsible for achieving the management, sustainabili-
ty and improvements in this area.

The internal audit team includes environmental issues among its routine tasks 
and inspections of plants and processes, and reports its finding to the audit com-
mittee on a regular basis. The company is working in conjunction with its suppli-
ers to reduce the environmental impact of the production process.

Example of disclosures the impact of emission allowances on the financial 
statements

Profit from operations for the year ended “31/12/N” was positively affected by a 
net gain of EUR “X” million from the sale of “carbon credits” (which will be rein-
vested in energy saving projects). In year “N-1” income of EUR “Y” million was 
recognised in this connection.

As mentioned previously, the gains on the sale of “carbon credits” will be used in 
full to finance energy efficiency projects.

Example of disclosures on employees and the remuneration policy

Performance and remuneration

Advancement within the company is configured to promote high performance, 
which helps retain the best employees and also attracts new hires. The perfor-
mance-based remuneration, bonuses and share-based incentives serve the func-
tion of aligning the interests of employees with the objectives of the company, at 
both short and, especially, long-term. 

Communication and the employees’ degree of involvement

Our communication channels are designed to keep employees informed of, com-
mitted to and involved in the activities across all areas of the company. Manage-
ment encourages open and honest communication with employees. In year “N” a 
new and updated intranet portal was introduced. In view of the evolution of the 
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business, changes that affect employee are expected to take place; however, the 
company will remain committed to these policies and the employees will be con-
sulted internally about such changes.

Distribution of the employees by segment

Market 1 (X thousand)

Market 2 (Y thousand)

Market 3 (Z thousand)

Inclusion and diversity

The company is committed to employment policies free of discriminatory prac-
tices against existing and potential employees on the basis of race, colour, creed, 
age, disability, etc. The company is particularly committed to providing access to 
the recruitment process to potential employees with mental handicaps through 
positions specially designed for them to enable them to develop their skills.

Health and safety

The health and safety programmes are designed to address the causes of exces-
sive pressure in the work environment and the pursuit of reconciliation of work 
and family life.

In this regard, the company has set out to minimise the number of accidents in 
the workplace because they reduce employee morale and damage the reputation 
of the company. An indicator has been developed based on the average time lost 
due to injuries or occupational illness per million hours worked. The company’s 
goal is for this indicator to fall by “X%”; this objective was achieved in year “N”, 
because the indicator stood at “P”, whereas in year “N-1” the value was “Q”.

Although the company carries out campaigns to reduce absenteeism among em-
ployees, over the last three years it has not been possible to significantly reduce 
the rate of absenteeism of factory (by “T%”) and sales staff (by “Y%”), although 
absenteeism among administrative staff and the purchasing and warehouse divi-
sions has been virtually eliminated.

Employee satisfaction

The company needs to ensure that it retains the best employees and, therefore, it 
needs to know what their level of satisfaction is and how the work environment is 
changing. To this end, as in previous years, a survey was conducted among com-
pany employees in which they were asked to indicate their degree of satisfaction 
on a scale from 1-5. The results indicate that the average degree of satisfaction of 
the workforce is “Z” points (“W” points in “N-1”) (Z>W). This change in the degree 
of satisfaction is due to “reason 1”, “reason 2” and “reason 3”. The breakdown of the 
results, by geographical area, is as follows [breakdown	by	geographical	area].



111

Appendix A

Examples and proposals 

to serve as guidance 

(in relation to Section III)

A.3 Liquidity and capital resources

Examples of a description of the cash situation and management

CASE 1: 

At “N” (date) the company’s main source of liquidity was a cash item amounting 
to EUR “X” million. There is no available source of liquidity which has not been 
used. 

CASE 2: 

In the current complex scenario in which obtaining liquidity is a complicated and 
increasingly expensive exercise, the company ensures its liquidity by arranging 
long-term loans and credit lines.

The company’s cash is managed centrally in order to achieve maximum resource 
optimisation based on cash pooling systems. Debt is concentrated at the parent 
(“X%” of the total at the end of “N” and “Y%” of the total at the end of “N-1”).

Example of disclosures on the generation of liquidity 

Management believes that given the current levels of spending, approximately 
EUR “X” million will be required in order to maintain the company’s operating 
capacity over the next twelve months. In addition, the company has a debt of 
EUR “Y” million which will mature during this period.

Some of the funds will be generated through future revenue collection and debt 
rescheduling agreements, although there is no certainty as to the outcome of such 
restructuring. 

Company management is considering various options and is exploring alterna-
tives to obtain the cash required to maintain the company’s operating capacity 
and achieve the objectives set for the next twelve months, either through the ar-
rangement of debt or equity. If the additional funds described are not obtained, 
the company would be forced to restrict, or reduce, its level of operations. Fur-
thermore, the failure to obtain sufficient capital to maintain the company’s oper-
ating capacity could have an adverse effect on its earnings.
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Example of disclosures on the policy regarding the term of borrowings

The company’s total borrowings at 31/12 year “N (N-1)” amounted to EUR “X (Y)” 
million, of which, EUR “V (W)” million were classified as current borrowings, or 
non-current borrowings maturing at short-term, and “XV (Y-W)” as non-current 
borrowings. This increase (X>Y) in the level of borrowings is due to [insert	reason].
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A 31/12/“N”, the average maturity profile of borrowings (EUR “P” million) was “t” 
years. The accompanying bar chart details the exact amount of borrowings and 
the maturity thereof:

The company seeks to match the maturity profile of its debt to its capacity to 
generate the cash flows needed to repay it, maintaining a suitable buffer. In prac-
tice, the goal is to attempt to ensure that the average maturity of the company’s 
borrowings is at least “y” years (e.g., y> t), or that this time period is regained in a 
reasonable period of time if it were to fall below this period. 

Examples of disclosures on the composition of capital resources

CASE 1:

The company does not expect any material change in the ratio of equity to debt, 
or in the relative cost of capital resources in year “N +1”, compared with that of 
year “N”. 

CASE 2:

The company expects that in year “N +1” the following changes will take place 
with respect to liquidity and capital resources. On one hand, the cash and cash 
equivalents position will foreseeably decrease as a result of increased cash used 
in operating and investing activities and in debt repayments to third parties not 
related to the company. 

On the other hand, the company’s objective is to endeavour to reduce its debt, 
which will lead to a decrease in the debt-to-equity ratio.
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Example of a table of liability maturities

The MRWG proposes the use of a tabular format to provide the breakdown of the 
scheduled maturities of all contractual obligations, accrued or otherwise. This 
tabular presentation should include, in principle, all the obligations included in 
the categories listed in the table below.

The proposed time intervals cover various maturity scenarios of the company’s 
contractual obligations, however, different intervals could be used if in this way 
the understanding of the information detailed is improved.

Contractual obligations

Maturity (payments per period)

Total
Within 
1 year

1 - 3 
years

4 - 5 
years

After 
5 years

Borrowings

Obligations under finance leases

Operating leases

Purchase commitments62

Other obligations63

Total contractual obligations

The tabular format is accompanied by footnotes, or other types of comment relat-
ing to the information contained in the table that facilitate the understanding of 
the maturities and amounts of the company’s contractual obligations. Also, al-
though the table contains figures that are not reflected in the balance sheet (off - 
balance sheet transactions), the other figures should correspond to those con-
tained in the company’s audited financial statements for the last reporting period.

6263

Examples of disclosures on the limits on the transfer of funds

CASE 1: 

The company is part of a group that operates in the “1, 2, 3 and 4 market seg-
ments”. To date, except in “Market 3”, we are unaware of the existence of any 
economic or legal restrictions on the possibility of transferring funds to the com-
pany from subsidiaries, either as dividends, loans, advances, capital repatriation 
or any other form. However, there is no certainty as to whether such restrictions 
will be adopted in the future. If they are adopted, the potential impact on the 
business would be […]. The geographical diversification of the business would 
reduce the impact of any such restrictions, should they be adopted in any of the 
countries in which the company operates. 

CASE 2:

The company depends on dividends, distributions and other payments from our 
subsidiaries to finance the payment of its obligations. Restrictions of a regulatory 
or legal nature could limit our ability to transfer funds freely.

62 Purchase commitments are understood to mean an agreement to purchase goods or services that is 

enforceable and legally binding on the entity, which specifies all significant terms and conditions, in-

cluding: certain or minimum amounts that must be purchased, price provisions (pre-established, mini-

mum or variable) and the approximate periods in which the transaction will be performed.

63 “Other obligations” are understood to be other financial liabilities reflected in the entity’s balance sheet.
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Example of off balance sheet transactions 

In the ordinary course of business, and in order to manage its own operations 
and financing, the company has resorted to performing certain transactions that 
are not reflected in the balance sheet, such as guarantees or other obligations, in 
relation to both capital expenditure and other expenses. 

The total amount of possible penalties and other guarantees, on which no losses 
have arisen, was EUR “X” million for year “N” (EUR “Y” million for “N-1”).

Our goal is to optimise borrowing costs on certain financial transactions. In 
this regard, when it is economically beneficial, we have opted to use operating 
leases instead of purchasing assets. The future rental payment obligations 
amount to EUR “Z” million (EUR “V” million in “N-1”), which correspond to 
the lease of “Equipment” in “Market 1”. The amount that had to be paid as a 
result of continuing operations in year “N” was EUR “W” million (EUR “T” mil-
lion in “N-1”). 

A.4 Main risks and uncertainties

Example of disclosures on operational risks

Main risks associated with the activity: due to the very nature of the activity (pro-
duction and sale of products for human consumption), the risks are mainly con-
centrated in three areas: food and environmental safety, specific responsibility of 
the Quality Department, which reports regularly to the General Manager who in 
turn reports to the Executive Chairman; Customer credit risk, responsibility of 
the Risk Committee, which reports directly to the General Manager; and Indus-
trial safety on the integrity of the company’s business assets.

All the processes –in line with the certification standards that the group has con-
solidated– include mechanisms to identify, quantify and hedge risk. Notwith-
standing the foregoing, the Board of Directors closely monitors the situations that 
may pose a significant risk and the measures taken in this regard, including the 
periodic testimonies of the persons responsible for risk areas.

Example of disclosures on interest rate risk

The company’s financial instruments are exposed to interest rate risk (floating 
interest rates), which poses a degree of uncertainty regarding the amount of 
interest payable. In order to manage this risk, the interest rate curves are ana-
lysed regularly and on occasion derivative instruments consisting of interest 
rate swaps are used that satisfy the conditions for being considered as cash flow 
hedging instruments. The fair value of the interest rate swaps is the estimated 
amount that the company would receive or pay to settle the swap at the balance 
sheet date.
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Example of disclosures on foreign currency risk:

The risks related to exchange rates and the policy to manage them are summa-
rised as follows:

•  In order to control the foreign currency risk on transactions in currencies 
other than the euro, the company uses purchase and sale currency forward 
contracts. They are negotiated by the “D Department” in accordance with 
policies approved by management.

•  To control the exchange rate on financial transactions, relating mainly to 
long-term loans received in currencies other than the euro, the company 
uses financial derivatives such as “cross currency swaps”.

•  The company is also exposed to foreign currency risk as a result of the trans-
lation of the financial statements of three of its subsidiaries in Latin Ameri-
ca, the functional currency of which is not the company’s presentation cur-
rency. The sensitivity to a change in the value of the euro against these 
currencies is as follows: (include table/paragraph that shows/describes a 
sensitivity analysis).

Example of disclosures on price risk (raw materials)

To address the risk of volatility in raw material prices, a natural hedge is applied 
to “X%” of the company’s sales through the application of an alloy surcharge that 
makes it possible to pass on to the customer the price fluctuations in “Material m” 
on the commodities exchange of “Country P” in the period of manufacture of the 
order as well as fluctuations in the euro/US dollar exchange rate. 

Owing to this hedge, a decrease of “Y%” in the price of “Material M” in the com-
modities market of “Country Q”, represents for the company a change in the 
gross margin as a percentage of sales of “Z%” (Z>Y).

Example of the assessment of credit risk

It is company policy to hedge credit risks through credit insurance, documentary 
credits or bank guarantees confirmed by banks with AA credit ratings in coun-
tries with low financial risk. In year “N” compensation arising from the insurance 
policy amounting to EUR “X” million was claimed (EUR “Y” million in “N-1”). 

The company also has a risk committee responsible for monitoring the compa-
ny’s policy regarding credit risk. Also, if necessary, customers’ creditworthiness 
is analysed on a case-by-case basis, establishing credit limits and payment terms 
and conditions. Customers who do not meet the necessary credit conditions are 
billed in cash. Depending on the local laws of the country in which the customer 
operates, there are retentions of title clauses which make it possible to recover 
the goods in the event of default.

The company makes any valuation adjustments to trade receivables that it deems 
necessary to provision for doubtful debt risk, to cover balances of a certain age or 
those affected by circumstances that allow them to be reasonably considered to 
be doubtful debts.
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Example of disclosures on customer concentration and the management thereof

In “Market 1”, the company’s sales are concentrated at certain large customers. 
Sales to the three largest customers in year “N” generated X% of all profits ob-
tained by the company in that market (Y% in “N-1”). On 31/12/”N”, the company 
had notes receivable from these customers amounting to EUR “V” million (EUR 

“W” million at 31/12/”N-1”). 

The company is exposed to a concentration of credit risk with respect to these 
large customers and, therefore, if one of them had some kind of financial prob-
lem, the negative impact on the financial profit or loss of the company could be 
significant.

Example-proposal of tabular presentation of interest rate risk

31/12/N

Financial assets 

(define) (a)

Financial liabilities 

(define) (a)

Net exposure 

before interest rate 

hedging 

instruments 

(c)=(a)-(b)

Hedging 

instrument interest 

rate (d)

Net exposure after 

hedging 

transactions 

(e)=(c)-(d)

At fixed 

interest 

rate

At 

floating 

interest 

rate

At fixed 

interest 

rate

At 

floating 

interest 

rate

At fixed 

interest 

rate

At 

floating 

interest 

rate

At fixed 

interest 

rate

At 

floating 

interest 

rate

At fixed 

interest 

rate

At 

floating 

interest 

rate

Within 1 year

Between 1 and 

2 years

Between (other 

intervals)

After 5 years

Total

NOTE: For a better understanding of the company’s exposure to this type of risk, the foregoing informa-

tion could be broken down based on the exposure by currency, where necessary

Example-proposal of tabular presentation of foreign currency risk

31/12/N

Assets

(a)

Liabilities 

(b)

Obligations 

denominated in a 

foreign currency (c)

Net position before 

hedging transactions

(d)=(a)-(b) +/- (c)

Hedges

(e)

Net position before 

hedging transactions

(f)=(d)-(e)

EUR

USD

Other

Total
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Example-proposal of presentation of risk exposure to financial instruments

Assets

31/12/N

Assets at fair value 

through profit or 

loss

Available-for-sale 

financial assets

Held-to-maturity 

investments

Hedging 

derivatives Total

Shares

Bonds and interest rate 

instruments

Cash equivalents and other 

current financial assets

Derivatives

Other instruments

Total

Liabilities

31/12/N

Liabilities at fair 

value through 

profit or loss

Available-for-sale 

financial liabilities

Other financial 

liabilities

Hedging 

derivatives Total

Deposits from banks

Customer deposits and 

loans

Debt securities

Derivatives

Other instruments

Total

Example-proposal relating to commodity price risk 
(table of purchase and sale of contracts)

Raw material “X”

(or rather for all raw 

materials)

Nominal amount by 

maturity

Total

Market 

value

Entity’s intention

(own use, hedging, 

trading)N + 1 N+ 2 N + …

Exchange rate or unit of 

measurement

Buy contracts

Futures or purchase 

options

Buy contract hedge

Sell contracts

Put options

Buy contract hedge
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A.5 Significant events after the reporting period

Example of disclosures on events after the reporting period

CASE 1

From December 31 “N” up to the date of preparation of the consolidated financial 
statements, the following events took place at the group, which do not affect the 
amounts contained therein:

Financing activities

•  On “day d of month m” of “N +1”, “company 1” renewed the loan from “Bank 
B”, guaranteed by the group, for a total amount of USD “X” million (equal to 
approximately EUR “Y” million) at a floating rate and maturing in N+20. 
This renewal removed the uncertainty existing at 31 December, which led to 
the classification of the loan under current liabilities in the consolidated bal-
ance sheet at that date.

•  On “day d of month m” of “N+1”, as part of its programme to issue debt in-
struments, “Company S” registered with the Financial Services Authority 
(“FSA”) in London and updated on “day d of month m” of year “N”, a EUR 

“Y” million an extension to the issuance of mortgage bonds carried out on 
“day d of month m” of “N” for an initial aggregate amount of EUR “Z” million, 
maturing on “day d of month m” of “N +15”. The amount, following the 
strategy designed by the board of directors, will be used to acquire non-
controlling interests in subsidiaries in country “P”.

 Sale of the group’s ownership interest in “Company S, S.A.”

“Company D, S.A.U.”, wholly owned by the group, entered into an agreement with 
“Company W” on “day d of month m” of “N +1” for the sale by the former of “S%” 
of the share capital of the Company H held by it. The purchase and sale amounts 
to EUR “T” million, which “Company D, S.A.U.” will receive in cash when the 
transaction is closed. The agreement is subject, among other conditions, to the 
approval of the transaction by the Spanish cabinet.

CASE 2

The coup d’état that occurred in the country “PZ” last February raises uncertain-
ties about the evolution of the group’s business in the region in which “PZ” is lo-
cated. Although there is no risk regarding the group’s assets, operations may not 
return to normal for several months and, therefore, a decrease in sales can be 
expected as well as a possible reduction in profits in the coming year, which are 
currently impossible to quantify.
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A.6 Information on the outlook for the entity

Example of information on the outlook for the group

To estimate the prospects of the group it is necessary to consider the evolution 
and development achieved in recent years, which points to a future that offers 
medium-term growth prospects. The group’s medium-term strategy is based on 
the growing contribution of the activities related to the “A”, “B”, “C” markets, and 
the continuing development of the activities in market “D”.

Moreover, the strengthening of the group’s capacity in market “A” through “Seg-
ment 1”, the increased production capacity of “Product X” as well as the develop-
ment of the “T” business, will also help to strengthen long-term prospects. To the 
extent that current projections are met, “the group” will have a new business base 
that may be stable and ongoing for the coming years.

With the understandable reservations caused by the current situation but taking 
into account the greater flexibility of the organisational structure, the specialisa-
tion and diversification of activities within the investment opportunities project-
ed for the domestic market and the competitive capacity in the international 
market, as well as the exposure of a portion of its business activities to the sale of 
raw materials and currencies other than the euro, we are confident that the group 
should be in a position to continue to progress positively in the future.

Example of disclosures relating to the outlook for the entity

Our revenue, earnings and financial position are affected by, among other things, 
the market conditions that affect the demand and pricing of “Activity 1” and “Ac-
tivity 2” and the decisions of our customers with respect to whether to use our 
products and services rather than buy equipment from or contract our competi-
tors. However, we believe that, unless there is a significant and widespread global 
recession, industrial activity should be less affected in view of the longer-term 
nature of the development projects of “Activity 1” and “Activity 2” in interna-
tional markets.

Example of disclosures on changes in significant items

For the year N the group expects its consolidated revenue to be close to EUR “X” 
million, while its gross profit from operations should stand at EUR “Y” million. 
Net debt at year-end is expected to be less than three times the EBITDA discussed 
in the previous sections, thereby fulfilling one of the basic objectives of the finan-
cial policy decided upon by the Board of Directors.

To achieve these objectives the group will continue to implement its operating 
policy of internationalisation, operating efficiency and the search for profitability.

In terms of debt, the divestment plan initiated in year N-3 will continue to be 
implemented, based on selling assets that are considered mature and non-strate-
gic, including “Asset A”, “Asset B”, “Asset C”, and other developed businesses. The 
losses on the sale of these assets –to be made in the coming two years– are not 
expected to have a significant effect on consolidated earnings.
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A.7 R&D&I activities

Example of the disclosures on R&D activity policy 

The group carries out research and development activities in the following fields: 

a) development of “A”-based new products, 
b) design of containers and packaging, and
c) enhancement of industrial production processes. 

To carry out these activities a Research Division was created, provided so far with a 
permanent staff of “I” researchers, who carry out certain programmes, approved by 
the Board of Directors, in association with universities and other research centres.

Based on the average for the last three years, “P%” of the group’s consolidated 
sales revenue has been earmarked for research and development, although the 
target over the next five years is “Q%”.

Example of R&D&I

The company remains committed to technological innovation as a key tool to 
gain competitive advantages, pre-empting market trends and differentiating its 
products. By introducing new technologies and developing new products and 
business processes, we seek to become a more effective, efficient and customer-
oriented group.

We have developed an open innovation model for managing technological inno-
vation, with priorities for applied research and development, or R&D, which are 
aligned with our strategy. This model promotes open innovation initiatives such 
as the creation of a venture capital fund and participation in forums of coopera-
tion with the company, among other activities. 

It also makes use of the know-how developed at technological centres, universi-
ties and start-ups, among other sources, and encourages innovation in association 
with other agents that become “technology partners”, including customers, uni-
versities, public authorities, suppliers, content providers and other companies. 
The group believes that differentiating its products from those of the competitors 
and improving market position must not be based solely on acquired technology.

It is also important to promote R&D in an effort to achieve this differentiation 
and to make headway with other innovation activities. The objective of the 
group’s R&D policy is to:

• Develop new products and services to gain market share;
• Increase customer loyalty;
• Improve innovation management;
• Promote global products;
• Support open innovation.

In year “N” projects relating to sustainable technological innovation, process effi-
ciency, the creation of new sources of revenue, customer satisfaction, the pres-
ence in new markets and technological leadership were carried out. Technological
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innovation activities are integral to the activities of the “Business segment 1”, 
“Business segment 2” and “Business segment 3”.

Most of the R&D activities are carried out by División de Investigación y Desarrollo, 
S.A.U.	 our wholly-owned subsidiary which primarily works on its own business 
lines. In carrying out its functions, División de Investigación y Desarrollo S.A.U. re-
ceives assistance from other companies and universities. Its mission focuses on im-
proving our competitiveness through technological innovation and product devel-
opment. Our R&D division conducts experimental and applied research and product 
development to extend the range of our services and reduce operating costs. It also 
provides technical assistance to its operations in Latin America and Europe.

The technological innovation activities at División de Investigación y Desarrollo 
S.A.U. focus on certain areas, which are as follows [detail	areas]. At December 31 

“N”, División de Investigación y Desarrollo S.A.U. had “I” employees and was work-
ing with skilled professionals from more than “E” companies and “Z” universities.

The total expenditure on R&D was EUR “X” million and EUR “Y” million in “N” 
and “N-1” respectively. These costs in turn accounted for S% and T% of consoli-
dated revenue. These figures were calculated using the guidelines established in 
the OECD manual. 

In “N” the group registered “P” patents, “S%” of which were registered at the 
Spanish Patent Office and (1-S) at the European Patent Office, the US Office or 
are international patents.

Examples of company innovation

The company understands research and development to be a series of activities 
aimed at introducing innovative elements in the business. These range from intro-
ducing new technologies to improving sales processes, etc. Based on our strategic 
objectives the following initiatives and activities were carried out in year “N”:

– Trials regarding the new generation of […]
– New machine to machine (M2M) capacities for [...]
– Use of specific designs for process safety […]

Investment in research –essential for the company– amounted to EUR “I” million 
in “N” (EUR “U” million “N-1”); an amount charged in full to income, since it was 
commissioned from specialised companies and university research centres.

In “N” and “N-1” the cost of development projects, using entirely in-house re-
sources, amounted to EUR “X” million and EUR “Y” million, respectively. Of this 
amount “S%” was capitalised in “N” (“T%” in “N-1”). The company expects to 
maintain a similar level of expenditure on R&D in “N +1”.

Expenditure on innovation projects, charged in full to income, amounted to EUR 
“V” million in “N” (EUR “W” million in “N-1”).

As a result of the achievements in the development of new products, the launch 
of a brand of “X” and one specific to “Y” are being completed. Additionally, five 
patents related to manufacturing processes for these products were registered, 
two of which have been assigned for use by third parties for a period of ten years.
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A.8 Acquisition of treasury shares

Example of disclosures on acquisitions due to withdrawal of a shareholder 

In “N”, one of the shareholders exercised its right of withdrawal and the company 
bought its shares, as provided for in the bylaws approved by the shareholders at 
the Annual General Meeting. After the appropriate valuation of the shares, the 
company purchased 0.5% of the ordinary shares –the full shareholding of the 
withdrawing shareholder– for a price of EUR “X” million. In order not to ad-
versely affect the price of the other shares, it was decided to submit a request to 
the General Meeting for the retirement of the shares, which will be performed in 
the coming months if the related approval is obtained. The effect that the pur-
chase and subsequent retirement will have on equity per share is a reduction of 
EUR 0.12 with respect to the value at year end.

Example of disclosures relating to treasury shares to cater for long-term remu-
neration plans

In the past the group’s policy was based on a lack of intervention in the stock 
market, leaving traders to set prices according to conditions of supply and de-
mand. Three years ago the Board proposed the acquisition of treasury shares ac-
count to the shareholders at the General Meeting in order to cater for the share-
based remuneration plan established for employees of the group to acquire -in 
two years when the plan vests and the payments have to be made- “X%” of the 
ordinary shares, or a smaller amount if the shares granted to the employees (see 
note “N” to the financial statements) do not reach that figure.

As a result of this policy, forward purchases of treasury shares were arranged that 
cover “Y” ordinary shares for an amount of EUR “Z” each. These commitments 
ensure access to almost “W” treasury shares bought at an average price of EUR 

“T”, which represents a significant saving over the closing price (“C%”) and en-
sures full coverage of the obligations vested to date under the share-based remu-
neration plan.
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A.9 Other salient information 

Example of stock market information 

In stock market terms, year N was negative for the IBEX 35 index and the group. 
The group’s share price fell by X%, while the IBEX 35 registered a decrease of Y% 
(e.g. X>Y):
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The detail of the group’s key stock market data in years “N” and “N-1” is set out 
below:

N N-1

Closing price (EUR)

Change in price

Period high (EUR)

Date of high for period

Period low (EUR)

Date of low for period

Period average (EUR)

Total volume of shares traded (thousands)

Daily volume of shares traded (thousands)

Effective total volume traded (millions of euros)

Effective daily volume traded (millions of euros)

Number of shares (millions)

Stock market capitalisation at end of period (millions of euros)

The diluted earnings per share, reported at the bottom of the income statement 
amount to an “X%” return on the opening market price in “N” (“Y%” in “N-1”). 
Also, the dividend yield earned in the year is a shareholder return of “Z%” (“R%” 
in “N-1”) on the opening market price.

Therefore, by adding the dividend yield to the changes in the share price, the total 
return was “V%” in N (“W%” in “N-1”).
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Example of disclosures on comparative stock market performance 

The major European markets ended year “N” with widespread falls affected by 
the sovereign debt crisis throughout Europe, which resulted in the bailout of Por-
tugal and the request by Greece for a second bailout, continuing doubts about the 
financial stability of the other peripheral countries and pressure exerted by the 
rating agencies. 

The performance of the markets in year “N” was marked by the sovereign debt 
crisis especially in the southern European countries. Thus, the yield on Spanish 
10-year bonds closed year “N” at “X%” (“Y%” at the end of “N-1”) and the spread 
vis-à-vis the German benchmark bond stood at “x.x” basis points (“y.y” basis 
points at the end of “N-1” The benchmark Portuguese bond closed with a spread 
of “v.v” basis points (“w.w’ points at the end of “N-1”), the Italian bond with a 
spread of “ z.z” basis points (“r.r” points at the end of “N-1”, whereas in Greece, the 
10-year bond closed at “t.t” basis points (“s.s” at the end of “N-1”). 

The group’s shares saw a negative return of “P%” (EUR “S” per share at the end 
of “N”), underperforming European benchmark sector (-V%) mainly as a result of 
Spain’s macroeconomic risk in view of its exposure to southern Europe and the 
revaluation of “Competitor 1” (+ A%) due to its high relative weighting in the in-
dex. The other main European competitors also ended the year with decreases: 

“Competitor 2”: - B%; “Competitor 3”:-C%; “Competitor 4”-D%.

However, the overall performance of the group’s shares in “N” stood at “M%” (in-
cluding dividends paid in “N”, EUR “Q” on “day d of month m” of “N” and EUR 

“W” on “day d of month m”). At the end of N, the group occupied seventh position 
globally in the “sector S” in terms of market capitalisation (EUR “L” million) and 
is ranked “O” among the hundred largest companies in the world. The group’s 
daily traded volume in the Spanish continuous market was “R” million shares in 

“N” (“U” million shares in “N-1”).

Example of disclosures on dividend policy

The strategy of the parent of the group is to continue with the dividend policy in 
place to date, distributing for this purpose at least 50% of the profit of each year. 
To date this policy has ensured a field of “X%” of the opening market price for the 
year. It is currently considered that two interim dividends may be distributed a 
year, with a value of EUR “Y” each.
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Appendix B: Indicators (relating to Section III)

The following tables contain examples of indicators, including their name, purpose 
or aim and, in the case of ratios, a possible calculation method that may vary accord-
ing to the entity using them. Each entity should assess and, accordingly, use the in-
dicators that are most representative of its activity, and should describe how they 
are calculated and, where necessary, explain what they aim to measure and their 
interpretation. The intention is not for all entities to apply them for the same pur-
poses. Similarly, this list does not aim to include all the indicators to be used. Some 
of the indicators are ratios and others frequently used aggregates.

To improve understanding the indicators have been divided as follows: general fi-
nancial and economic indicators (Table A), industry-specific indicators (Table B), 
social indicators (Table C) and environmental management indicators (Table D). 

Industries have been divided as follows: Energy, Products and Services, Manufac-
turing, Construction and Real Estate and Insurance, notwithstanding that in some 
cases subsector ratios are given. In relation to the Banking industry, it should be 
noted that the proposed indicators may be found in the corresponding specific rec-
ommendation guide in Section IV.

General financial and economic indicators  TABLE A

Name Possible calculation (Ratios) Possible purpose

Earnings Before Interest, 
Taxes, Depreciation and 
Amortisation (EBITDA)

Profit or loss from operations + 
Depreciation and amortisation 
+Impairment losses + Other items that 
do not give rise to cash inflows or 
outflows from transactions (to be 
defined by the user)

Alternative performance measure used by entities to estimate the resources 
that may be obtained from operating assets.

Liquidity from profits Cash flows from operating activities / 
Consolidated profit or loss

Measure of the relationship between the profit or loss and the liquidity 
obtained from operating activities.

Adjusted profit from 
operations

Profit or loss from operations + Profit 
or loss of associates – Non-recurring 
items

Measure used to assess operating performance, including the profit or loss 
of associates attributable to the entity and excluding any non-recurring 
profit or loss.

Equity structure indicators

Liquidity ratio Current assets / Current liabilities Measures the company’s ability to meet its short-term payment obligations. 

Solvency ratio (Equity+ Non-current liabilities)/Non-
current assets

Measures the extent to which non-current assets are financed by long-term 
funds.

Debt-equity ratio Net debt (Gross debt – Cash and 
financial assets) / Capital employed 
(Equity + Net debt)

Indicates the company’s level of leverage through borrowings.

Debt service coverage 
ratio

Net debt / EBITDA Measures the ability to repay borrowings in terms of number of years.

Profitability indicators 
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Name Possible calculation (Ratios) Possible purpose

Gross margin (Sales – Cost of sales) / Sales Percentage used by management to assess the company’s profitability.

ROE - Return on Equity Profit or loss for the year / Average 
equity in the year 

Assessment of the profits that the company obtains from its assets and 
liabilities in relation to shareholders’ investment in the entity. 

ROA - Return on Assets Profit or loss for the year / Average 
total assets

Measures the return on average total assets not taking into account the 
company’s financial structure. 

ROCE-Return on Capital 
Employed

Profit or loss from operations profit 
after tax / (Fixed capital + Working 
capital used in operations)

Assessment of the capacity of the company’s assets to generate profits from 
operations. It may be calculated on the basis of average capital (ROACE).

Operating or management indicators

Inventory turnover ratio (Average inventories in the year / 
Sales) x 365

Measures the average number of days that inventories remain in the 
company’s warehouse (the effect of VAT, where applicable, should be taken 
into account).

Average collection 
(payment) period

[Average accounts receivable (payable) 
in the year / Sales (operating costs)] x 
365

Measures the average number of days from the sale (purchase) until the 
related collection (payment) is made. The effect of VAT, where applicable, 
should also be taken into account.

Number of customers – Measures the company’s ability to generate or, where applicable, maintain 
revenue.

Proportion of new 
customers

Number of new customers / Total 
customers

Measure that evaluates the company’s success at attracting new customers.

Revenue from new 
customers 

Revenue from new customers / 
Number of new customers

Measures the company’s success with respect to the attraction of customers 
in the year.

Default ratio Write-downs for the year/Sales Provides information on the effectiveness of the process of collection from 
customers.

Customer cancellation 
rate

– Relates to the migration, turnover or cancellation of customers in a given 
period.

Stock market indicators

Market price – Market price of the share at the end of the reporting period.

Market capitalisation Market price at the end of the 
reporting period x number of shares 
issued at the end of the reporting 
period

The company’s value on the stock exchange.

PER – Price-Earnings 
Ratio 

Share market price / Earnings per share Its value indicates the number of times that net annual profit is included in 
the price of a share. A higher PER means that investors are paying more per 
unit of profit.

Equity per share Equity / number of shares outstanding 
at year-end

Indicates the proportion of equity represented by each share.

Dividend yield Dividend payments per share/average 
price

Other

Market share – Valid for analysing the company’s overall performance and its future 
prospects. The information can be broken down by segment.

Credit rating – Measure of the market’s perception of the company’s solvency provided by 
the agency that awards the rating.

Exchange rates – It is advisable to include information on the changes in the exchange rates 
applicable to the various currencies with an influence on the company’s cash 
flows, profits or equity.
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Financial and economic industry-specific indicators  TABLE B

Name Industry Possible calculation Possible purpose

Number of stores Products and services – It is recommended to provide a breakdown by own stores 
(distinguishing in turn between leased or owned stores) and 
franchised stores/by country and segment.

Sales at own stores 
and franchised stores

Products and services Revenue of own stores 
(franchised) / Total revenue

Measures the distribution of sales by type of store.

Net store openings Products and services Additions – Disposals of stores Measures the net change in the number of stores.

Commercial surface 
area

Products and services – Surface area in square metres for commercial use.

Sales at comparable 
stores

Products and services Amount of sales at stores that have been open for the last 
two full years. Enables two years to be compared to 
determine what portion of the increase is due to higher sales 
of the existing stores and which portion is due to new 
openings. 

Sales per m2 Products and services Total sales / m2 of retail space Aids analysis of the performance of sales outlets over time.

Employee ratio Products and services Sales/average headcount Reflects the average commercial efficiency of the company’s 
employees.

ARPU - Average 
Revenue per User 

Products and services Total revenue for the period /
total active users

Measures the average revenue per user obtained in a period 
by a company with a large customer base. Particularly 
relevant in the services industry (for example at 
telecommunications companies).

Number of subscribers Products and services Indicator used to estimate future profit growth.

Accesses Products and services 
(Telecommunications)

Number of connections or any 
other telecommunications 
service contracted at year-end

This is a more accurate indicator than the number of customers 
taking into account that the same customer may contract 
several services. This data is usually broken down by category 
(landlines, mobile phones, data and internet, pay TV etc.).

Churn rate Products and services 
(Telecommunications)

Number of disconnections/
average number of customers 

Measures the percentage of disconnections or access 
cancellations in the period.

Penetration Products and services 
(Telecommunications)

Number of customers of a certain 
category or type / Total customer 
base 

Traffic Products and services 
(Telecommunications)

– Minutes of voice communications consumed by clients.

Minutes of use (MOU) Products and services 
(Telecommunications)

Total number of minutes of 
annual voice use per mobile 
access /12 months

Average monthly use per mobile access. 

AVERAGE SACS Products and services 
(Telecommunications)

Acquisition costs/ number of 
accesses

Average subscriber acquisition cost.

RevPar -Revenue Per 
Available Room

Products and services 
(Hotels)

Revenue per room / total number 
of available rooms

Indicator to assess the results of a hotel chain or 
establishment. It relates to a specific period. The number of 
available rooms is multiplied by the number of nights per 
period.

Number of products 
under development

Manufacturing Indicator related to the company’s foreseeable outlook.

Percentage of revenue 
from new products 

Manufacturing Indicative of returns obtained by the company on new 
products. Helps to assess whether or not it is appropriate to 
develop new products.

Installed capacity Energy and 
manufacturing 

Volume of production that can be obtained in a given period 
in a particular branch of activity.

Average use of 
capacity

Energy and 
manufacturing

Average percentage performed by a plant in the period to be 
analysed.

Change in the demand 
for gas and electricity

Energy (generation, 
distribution and 
retailing business)

– Measures the performance of the market in which the entity 
carries on its activity. The changes may be explained by 
factors associated with management or influenced by 
seasonality and/or climate.
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Name Industry Possible calculation Possible purpose

Production and sales 
in physical units 

Energy and 
manufacturing

– Data in the measurement unit corresponding to each 
significant product (e.g. oil, petrochemical products, etc.)

Unit selling prices Energy and 
manufacturing

Revenue from sales / Units sold Individual monetary value assigned to products (e.g. crude 
oil, gas, etc.)

Market prices of 
reference products

Energy and 
manufacturing

– Market prices of the various products with a significant 
influence on the entity’s revenue and expenses, for example, 
market prices of raw materials (e.g. international benchmarks 
for the price of crude, natural gas and metals: Brent / WTI/ 
Henry Hub/ Spanish electric pool /LME).

Clean dark spreads Energy and 
manufacturing

– Relates to the profit obtained by a coal-fired power plant 
after payment of the cost of the coal and emission 
allowances.

Clean spark spreads Energy and 
manufacturing

– The profit obtained by a gas-fired power plant after payment 
of the cost of the fuel.

Load factor Energy (generation 
business)

Actual energy generated / Total 
generable energy at full load 

Measures the use of the plant’s capacity in a given period.

Availability factor Energy (generation 
business)

Available time / Total period 
(as a %)

Time during which a plant has been available with respect to 
the total period analysed.

Total energy 
distributed

Energy (transmission 
and distribution 
business)

– GWh distributed.

Transmission/ 
distribution network 
(electricity/gas)

Energy (transmission 
and distribution 
business)

– Size of the network.

SAIDI Energy (transmission 
and distribution 
business)

– Interruption time compared to the medium-voltage installed 
capacity. It is an indicator of the quality of supply (by 
segment and country).

Segmentation of 
contracts or sales

Energy (regulated 
and retailing 
business)

Customers in each segment / 
total (as a %)

Distinguishes the manageable market share from the non-
manageable market share as the latter depends on price 
decisions made by the regulator.

Grid loss rate Energy (transmission 
and distribution 
business)

Availability of supply Energy (transmission 
and distribution 
business)

Hydro reserves Energy (generation 
business)

Reserve / reservoir storable total 
(as a %)

Measures the generation company’s future capacity with 
hydro resources at a given date; the estimate of the 
equivalent can be provided in MWh or GWh.

Power under 
construction

Energy (generation 
business)

Indicator of the entity’s future capacity.

Lifting cost Energy (exploration 
and production)

Cost of extracting crude oil and 
gas / Production

The purpose is to calculate the unit cost of extracting a barrel 
of crude and gas.

Finding cost Energy (exploration 
and production)

(Investment in exploration) / 
Incorporations of proven reserves 
as a result of discoveries and 
extensions

The purpose is to calculate the cost of incorporating a new 
barrel to the company’s proven reserves.

Proven reserves Energy (exploration 
and production)

The quantities of product (crude oil, etc.) that may be 
estimated with a reasonable degree of certainty, that may be 
produced –on the basis of a given date, of known reserves 
and under existing economic terms and conditions, 
operational methods and government regulations– prior to 
the expiry of the agreements whereby the corresponding 
operating rights are obtained. 

Reserve replacement 
ratio

Energy (exploration 
and production)

Additions to net proven reserves 
for the period / Net production 
for the period

The purpose is to identify whether proven reserves above 
production for the period are being incorporated. 

http://es.wikipedia.org/wiki/Energ%C3%ADa_el%C3%A9ctrica
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Name Industry Possible calculation Possible purpose

Number of wells Energy (exploration 
and production)

Indicates the number of exploratory and development wells 
finished in the period and the number of exploratory wells 
being drilled at the end of the year. Indicates the number of 
productive wells of the company at the end of the year.

Mining ownership Energy (exploration 
and production)

Number of blocks or net area 
(km2)

Area in which the company owns a share measured in 
number of blocks or surface area which, in turn, may be 
broken down into “developed/exploratory”.

Principal productive 
assets

Energy (exploration 
and production)

Principal assets used by the company in operations, 
indicating the % owned by it, whether they are operated or 
not and whether they contain mainly liquids or gas.

Number of points of 
supply

Energy (downstream, 
transmission and 
distribution)

Number of points of supply by country.

Project/order backlog Construction / 
Manufacturing /
Products and services 

Amount of agreements entered into for the execution of 
construction or services projects.

Coverage period Construction / 
Manufacturing / 
Products and services

Order backlog / Turnover Indicator used to evaluate the entity’s future revenue.

Apparent 
consumption 

Construction / 
Manufacturing

Production- changes in 
inventories – exports + imports

Steel and cement for example.

Km built Construction Railways, roads, tunnels.

Occupancy rate Real estate m2 leased / total m2 available Measures the occupancy level of properties available for 
lease.

Number of units sold 
and remaining

Real estate – Number of housing units or premises sold, broken down by 
each development in the period. And the number of 
remaining units.

Fraction of recycling Construction (urban 
services and 
industrial waste)

Total tonnes of waste treated/
total tonnes of collected waste

Percentage of waste treated in recycling plants of the total 
waste collected. It would be useful to supply data of the 
numerator and denominator.

Treatment of 
hazardous and non-
hazardous waste 

Construction (urban 
services and 
industrial waste)

Percentage of hazardous/non-hazardous waste according to 
use: recovered, stabilised or transferred to an end manager/
other uses.

Water collection / 
consumption for 
management 

Products and services 
(water services)

m3 of water collected (consumed) 
and percentage of represented 
by each source of the total

Measures the proportion of water collected / consumed 
according to origin (underground, surface, desalinated and 
other means of collection / municipal supply, recycled, 
underground, surface and other sources).

Water lost in 
distribution

Products and services 
(water services)

Percentage of water lost in the distribution network.

Number of vehicles/
travellers 

Construction 
(concessions)

Average number of vehicles / travellers per day.

Solvency margin Insurance Realisable equity/Minimum 
solvency margin amount

Sufficiency of the realisable equity to cover the required 
minimum under regulations, expressed as a percentage.

Excess solvency 
margin 

Insurance Realisable equity - Minimum 
solvency margin amount

Sufficiency of the realisable equity to cover the required 
minimum under regulations, expressed in absolute terms.

Expense ratio Insurance (Operating expenses net of 
resinsurance +Bonuses and 
rebates- Other technical income 
+ Other technical expenses)/
Earned premiums net of 
reinsurance)

Proportion of the operating and technical expenses for the 
year to the amount of the premiums for the year.

Claims ratio Insurance (Incurred losses net of 
reinsurance + Change in other 
technical provisions)/Earned 
premiums net of reinsurance)

Incurred losses in relation to earned premiums.

Combined ratio Insurance Expense ratio + Claims ratio Effect of management costs and losses for the year on the 
premiums for the year.
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Social indicators  TABLE C

Name Possible purpose

Executive retention rate Measures the degree of retention and attraction of executive personnel. Useful for the strategic 
management of the company.

Employee retention rate Measures the staff turnover, regardless of employee role.

Integration rate Percentage of the workforce with a disability (may be used in relation to other groups to be 
integrated into the entity).

New employees Growth of the workforce in the period.

Employee welfare supplement Amount of employee welfare aid (for medical expenses and education of children) per employee. 

Training hours per employee Refreshing employee knowledge and the assimilation of new technologies. This indicator measures 
the employees’ ability to adapt to change.

Customer satisfaction index Measures customer satisfaction in the markets in which the company operates (based on surveys 
performed by independent agents).

User complaints and claims index A statistical summary of the complaints and claims handled by the Customer Care and Service 
department in the year, according to the classifications given by the entity to the complaints and 
claims it manages.

Absenteeism rate Percentage of working hours lost due to common minor illnesses or lack of motivation for work.

Working hours lost due to occupational 
accidents or illness 

Total number of working hours lost. 

Environmental management indicators  TABLE D

Name Possible purpose

Greenhouse gas emissions (Total/ Direct / 
Indirect)

Refers to the equivalent tonnes of CO
2
 emitted directly in production activities, indirectly (through the 

purchase of electricity, materials, etc.) or both.

CO
2
 emissions avoided Tm of carbon dioxide emissions avoided as a result of a change in procedures or improved production 

techniques.

Emission-free installed capacity Amount in MWh and percentage of total installed capacity (%).

Emission-free output Amount in MWh and percentage of total output (%).

Energy saving Percentage reduction in MWh acquired from the electricity grid in the year.

Water recycling Reused water (in tonnes).

Effluent management improvements Percentage reduction in the discharge of liquids into the network with respect to the figures for the 
previous period.

Activity as regards quality/environmental 
certification 

Percentage of total revenue represented by revenue from businesses carried on with quality/
environmental certification.
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Appendix C:  Information also included in other 
documents

1 General considerations and principles

As an integral part of the recommendation guide for the management report, this 
Appendix will address all the identified cases of information being duplicated in the 
documents constituting entities’ financial and management information, laying 
down in the first place certain general principles for the treatment of this informa-
tion that must or may be included in more than one document.

The discussions of the Working Group have brought to light several instances of 
duplication with regard to the information that must be, or is recommended to be, 
included in the management report and that which has to be included in other 
documents that must mandatorily be presented, such as the notes to the financial 
statements or the Annual Corporate Governance Report (ACGR), or in documents 
that are very commonly presented on a voluntary basis, such as those which contain 
social or environmental information.

The reflections of the Group have led it to advocate that such duplications be avoided 
to the extent possible, for which purpose it has drawn up the following recommenda-
tions, the main objective of which is to identify what type of information, among the 
disclosures that could potentially be duplicated, is the most suitable for inclusion in 
each document with a view to obviating the unnecessary repetition of information.

Possible duplications in the management report FIGURE 1

Cases of duplication of 
information

Documents which include information on…

Pillar II 
Section

Notes to the 
financial 

statements

Annual 
Corporate 

Governance 
Report
(ACGR)

Management 
report

Documents 
presented 
voluntarily

Situation and activity 2.1 X X

Liquidity and capital resources 2.3 X X

Significant events after the 

reporting period 2.5 X X

Research and development 

activities 2.7 X X X

Acquisition and sale of treasury 

shares 2.8 X X X

Main risks and uncertainties 2.4 X X X X

Social and environmental 

information 2.2.2 X X

Share performance 2.9.1 X X
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There are several reasons for this duplication, but in general it is due to the signifi-
cant increase in corporate reporting disclosures required. Regulators and standard 
setters initially established a general obligation to report certain matters in the man-
agement report, and have subsequently required disclosure of information of the 
same nature, in greater detail, in more formal documents such as the notes to the 
financial statements or the ACGR, leading to repetition, a good example of which 
are the current rules on financial risk reporting.

Also, companies have perceived the need to report fully certain aspects of their busi-
ness activities, and they continue to do so through reports specially prepared for 
this purpose, even though the related legislation obliges them to include certain 
matters in the management report. The clearest example of this duplication is the 
information on social or environmental issues.

The principles that should serve as a guide for companies when taking decisions 
about what to include in each of the documents constituting their corporate infor-
mation are as follows:

Principle of hierarchy: the information that must mandatorily be included in ob-
ligatory standard documents (notes to the financial statements or the ACGR) may 
not be replaced by that contained in the management report. Similarly, the informa-
tion that must be included in the management report may not be replaced by that 
included in documents presented on a voluntary basis.

Principle of separation of content by level: the management report should, pref-
erably, include the objectives and strategy relating to the various matters, to-
gether with a description of their possible evolution, leaving specific data on the 
business activities carried on in the reporting period for the other documents. 
However, the description of a company’s policies may require, so that it can be 
correctly understood, the inclusion of data summarising the business activities 
carried on.

Principle of cross-referencing: in order to enable users to adequately follow the 
performance of a company in each of the areas included in the various documents, 
the relationship between the data included should be established through cross-
referencing. This cross-referencing must include the name of the document or a 
specific section and, when it does not form part of the same reporting package, 
the means of finding or accessing it. When references are made to documents not 
drawn up or signed by the board of directors, this circumstance should be indi-
cated.

Even if these principles are followed, it may be inevitable to repeat, in the various 
documents, certain information contained in others, in order to make it possible for 
users to understand the data pertaining to certain matters. In such cases, it is recom-
mended that summaries or outlines containing the essential data and information 
be used, using cross-referencing so that any users interested in broadening their 
understanding can do so.

The cases of duplication identified have been grouped together into three types, 
which are addressed in the sections below. Firstly, repetitions between the notes to 
the financial statements and the management report are dealt with, followed by 
those between the management report and the ACGR and, lastly, those between the 
management report and documents presented on a voluntary basis.



133

Appendix C

Information also included 

in other documents

2  Information to be included in the management report and in the 
notes to the financial statements

The information on the company’s activity or situation, the capital managed by it, 
events after the reporting period and research and development activities is includ-
ed in both the notes to the financial statements and the management report. The 
criterion for deciding which part of the information is to be included in the notes 
and which part is to be included in the management report is as follows: the man-
agement report should contain information on policy, objectives and strategy, while 
the specific information on activities is more appropriate for the notes to the finan-
cial statements.

2.1 Activities or situation of the company

IAS 1.138 requires certain minimum disclosures in the financial statements relat-
ing to the legal identification of the company, its activities and the name of its 
ultimate parent. Companies use this note to disclose, among other things, the geo-
graphical scope of their activities, a general description of their products and ser-
vices, their main business areas, the composition of the group and their func-
tional currency.

However, Recommendations 1 and 2 on the situation of the company in the man-
agement report (see Section III of this guide) place emphasis on the organisational 
and functional structure of the entity, so that users can ascertain how decisions are 
made and the company’s activities are controlled and the risks involved in these 
processes.

Based on the philosophy that should govern the preparation of the management 
report, a description of the company’s circumstances and the way it manages its 
business is more relevant than a description of its legal situation. The important 
thing in this description of the context of the business is to provide an understand-
ing of the entity’s objectives and the type of strategies that it implements to achieve 
them, the business model, the markets in which it operates (together with the re-
lated regulatory framework and degree of competition) and the exposure of its prod-
ucts or services to technology or seasonality risks or risks relating to changes in the 
administrative regulations to which they are subject.

Therefore, the idea underlying the division envisaged by the Working Group be-
tween the activity-situation note and the section of the management report of the 
same name is to separate the objective data required to understand the status of the 
entity and of the group (to be included in the notes to the financial statements) from 
those relating to the organisational and control activities performed by the board of 
directors, taking into account the economic and business context in which the entity 
operates (to be included in the management report).

2.2 Liquidity and capital resources

Paragraphs 134-136 of IAS 1, Presentation	 of	 Financial	 Statements require listed 
entities to disclose information that enables users of their financial statements to 
evaluate their objectives, policies and processes for managing what they regard as 
capital (which is either imposed as a result of regulatory requirements or defined by 
the entity for internal purposes).
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Except for certain entities in the financial services and insurance sectors whose 
capital is defined in the related regulations, companies usually define capital as con-
sisting of shareholders’ equity, plus certain other equity items (e.g. some or all of the 
valuation adjustments included in accumulated comprehensive income) and liabili-
ties with special characteristics (e.g. convertible bonds or participating loans).

The information that it is recommended be included in the management report 
under liquidity and capital resources may bear a certain relation to the concept of 
managed capital, but it does not necessarily relate to the same notion of capital nor 
does it aim to provide complementary information on this concept. Rather, the phi-
losophy underlying Recommendations 11 to 21 in Section III is that of requiring a 
description of the sources and of the uses of a company’s liquid funds within the 
context of its financial and investment strategy.

Therefore, emphasis is placed on a company’s capacity to generate sufficient liquid 
funds to be able to maintain its liquidity at short term and its solvency at medium 
to long term, which entails having sufficient net cash inflows from operations to 
cover current liabilities and supplementing these cash flows with other sources of 
financing in order to be able to implement investment plans.

When describing liquidity and capital resources it is particularly important to dis-
cuss the projected trends in the company’s liquidity position, foreseeable changes in 
the capital structure and the impact of contractual obligations and other off balance 
sheet transactions that might jeopardise the sufficiency of the company’s liquid 
funds in the future.

2.3 Events after the reporting period

Events that occur in the period between the end of the reporting period and the date 
when the financial statements are authorised for issue may provide evidence of 
conditions that existed at the end of the reporting period, in which case they change 
the measurement of certain items and lead to the adjustment of the financial state-
ments (Type I); or may be indicative of conditions that arose after the reporting 
period, knowledge of which is important for the users but which, because of their 
nature, do not lead to any adjustment to the financial statements (Type II).

Events that provide new evidence of existing conditions must be described in the 
notes to the financial statements in order to support the accounting adjustment 
made. The treatment given to these events in the notes to the financial statements 
will generally be sufficient to completely disclose their effects.

Knowledge of events that occur in the period between the end of the reporting pe-
riod and the date when the financial statements are authorised for issue which pro-
vide new information (e.g. a business combination, the grant of a new loan or the 
loss of an important customer) may be important for the users to be able to assess 
the current situation of the company and make future predictions, particularly if a 
Type II event indicates that the application of the going concern assumption may no 
longer be appropriate.

A company must include in the notes to the financial statements a description of the 
nature of the event and an estimate of its financial effect, or a statement that such 
an estimate cannot be made (see paragraph 21 of International Accounting Stand-
ard 10, Events	after	the	Reporting	Period).



135

Appendix C

Information also included 

in other documents

The information and comments to be included in the management report focus, 
except in highly atypical cases, on these Type II events, and the philosophy underly-
ing Recommendation 33 in Section III is to tie in the expected effects of these events 
with the manner in which the entity conducted its business in the past or that in 
which it will undertake it in the future, so that in the users can place the event in 
context and project its consequences at short, medium and long term, in the light of 
the strategy that the company is going to implement as a result of the occurrence 
thereof.

2.4 Research and development activities

Under paragraph 118 of International Accounting Standard 38, Intangible	Assets, an 
entity must disclose, in the particular case of each class of intangible assets, their 
nature, their useful life, the amortisation method used and the line item(s) in which 
the period amortisation charge is included and a reconciliation of the carrying 
amount at the beginning and end of the reporting period. Also, under IAS 38.126, 
an entity must disclose the aggregate amount of research and development expend-
iture recognised as an expense during the period and, therefore, not included in any 
asset account.

The content of the aforementioned information, which addresses above all account-
ing categories, can make it possible for the users of the financial information to as-
certain the results that the company has achieved in the reporting period from its 
R&D&I activities. However, the greatest use can be gained from knowledge of these 
results if they are placed in the context of the entity’s objectives and strategy con-
cerning R&D&I activities, where their importance and expected effects on the com-
pany’s economic situation and performance can be explained.

For this reason, recommendations 36 to 39 in Section III, assuming that the re-
quired information is disclosed in the financial statements, focus on providing an 
analysis of the consequences that the research and development policy has for the 
company’s situation and profitability and of those that it might have in the future.

Similarly, the objective of the aforementioned recommendations is that the compa-
ny describe the areas on which its research is centred, explaining the results thereof 
(e.g. registered patents or procedures) and their use in innovations made to the 
products or services provided.

In summary, the recommendations serve to ensure that the reporting company de-
scribes the role that R&D&I activities play in its general policy and the consequenc-
es that they had in the reporting period and those that they might have in the future.

3  Information to be included in the management report, in the notes to 
the financial statements and in the ACGR

Information on treasury share transactions and on the management of the main 
risks and uncertainties is provided in the notes to the financial statements, in the 
management report and in the Annual Corporate Governance Report. The criterion 
for deciding which part of the information is to be included in the notes and which 
part is to be included in the management report is as follows: the management re-
port should contain information on policy, objectives and strategy, whereas the 
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specific information on activities is more appropriate for the notes to the financial 
statements or the ACGR.

The Recommendations made below were drawn up taking into account that, as pro-
vided for in Article 526 of the Spanish Limited Liability Companies Law, the ACGR 
forms part of the management report of listed companies and, therefore, that the 
users will have simultaneous access to both documents, meaning that the duplica-
tion of information can be avoided without being detrimental to the interests of 
possible stakeholders.

However, since the ACGR is much more standardised, the criterion applied has been 
to preserve the completeness of the information included in the mandatory models 
created and, specifically, in Circular 5/2013, of 12 June, of the Spanish National Se-
curities Market Commission and any subsequent implementing regulations, which 
establish the format of the ACGR and the information to be included.

3.1 Acquisitions and sales of treasury shares

IFRSs do not contain any significant reporting requirements in relation to treasury 
shares, apart from disclosure of the amounts relating to the shares acquired and 
sold in the reporting period, together with the number of treasury shares held at the 
end of the reporting period and their value. Also, this information may be disclosed 
in the principal financial statements or in the notes to the financial statements (see 
paragraphs 33 and 34 of IAS 32, Financial	Instruments:	Presentation and the refer-
ences to treasury shares in IAS 33, Earnings	per	Share	and to treasury share transac-
tions	in the examples contained in IAS 7, Statement	of	Cash	Flows).

Under Spanish corporate legislation, the reporting requirement relating to treasury 
shares encompasses both those issued by the company presenting the management 
report and those of the parent of the group of which the company forms part. More 
specifically, Article 148.d of the Spanish Limited Liability Companies Law (SLLCL) 
states as follows:

  “The management report of the acquirer company and, as the case may be, that 
of the parent must disclose at least:

 1. The reasons for the acquisitions and disposals made in the year.

 2.  The number and par value of the shares acquired and disposed of during 
the year and the percentage of share capital they represent.

 3.  In the case of acquisition or disposal for valuable consideration, the con-
sideration paid for the shares.

 4.  The number and par value of all the shares acquired and held as treasury 
shares by the company itself or by a nominee and the percentage of share 
capital they represent.”

As regards the ACGR, section A.8 of the Schedule to Circular 5/2013 requires that 
information be disclosed on the number of shares acquired during the reporting 
period, together with the terms and conditions and deadline of any possible man-
date bestowed on the board of directors by the shareholders at a general meeting to 
carry out transactions involving treasury shares. It also provides that information 
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must be disclosed on the number of treasury shares controlled directly or indirectly 
at the end of the reporting period.

The stance taken in the recommendation guide regarding the management report, 
applying the philosophy described at the beginning of this Appendix, is to respect 
the content of the requirements concerning the ACGR, since it is understood that 
this information complements that provided for in Article 148.d of the Spanish 
Limited Liability Companies Law. In this connection, the ACGR must contain very 
specific information on the number of treasury shares acquired and held, together 
with certain details concerning the resolutions adopted by the shareholders at a 
general meeting in this regard, whereas the SLLCL requires more detailed monetary 
information on the amounts of the treasury share acquisitions and sales, together 
with an explanation of the reasons for such transactions.

Recommendations 40 and 41 in Section III of this guide were specifically designed 
to offer the users an explanation of the policy implemented by the company in rela-
tion to treasury shares and of the consequences that the implementation of this 
policy in the reporting period has had for the shareholder.

Alternatively, should the company so prefer, the disclosures concerning the number 
of treasury shares and the amounts relating to the treasury share transactions per-
formed referred to in recommendation 40 (including any retirements of shares and 
the details relating to reserves that are restricted as a result of treasury shares) can 
be provided in the notes to the financial statements, with the information contained 
in the management report being restricted to an explanation of the related policy 
and the consequences that the strategy and actions involving treasury shares have 
had for the shareholders in the reporting period.

3.2 Main risks and uncertainties

IFRS 7, Financial	 Instruments:	 Disclosures requires very detailed qualitative and 
quantitative information, in the notes to the financial statements, about the nature 
and extent of exposure to the risks arising from transactions with financial instru-
ments performed by a company (credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk). The 
other risks to which an entity is exposed are not addressed on an individual basis by 
IFRSs.

Section E of the Schedule to Circular 5/2013 requires that certain information be 
disclosed in relation to risk control systems, starting with a general description of 
the company’s risk policy (operational risk, technology risk, financial risk, legal risk, 
reputational risk, tax risk, etc.), together with an indication of the risks that have 
arisen in the reporting period. In addition, it requires disclosures on the bodies re-
sponsible for establishing or supervising risk control mechanisms and information 
on the level of compliance with regulations affecting the company or its group.

In recommendations 22 to 32 of Section III of this guide these possible information 
overlaps have been taken into account with a view to minimising their effect. To 
this end, it was decided to follow a general approach that identifies the main risks, 
dividing them into two large groups (operational risks and financial risks). Moreo-
ver, special attention was paid to liquidity risk which, although a financial risk, be-
cause of its nature, is of particular importance for the continuity of a company and, 
therefore, as mentioned earlier, a special section was created, called “Liquidity and 
capital resources”, which contains an explanation of the sources and projected uses 
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of liquid funds and of the way in which the entity’s capital structure is expected to 
change.

Accordingly, the approach adopted in drawing up the recommendations is to ex-
plain in the management report the policy implemented by the company to miti-
gate these operational and financial risks and the strategy followed and measures 
taken in the period, followed by a description of the effects of each of the risks, 
where material, or, if they have been dealt with in another document, the related 
references. If such other documents contain complementary information, it might 
be useful for them to have a reference to the related information contained in the 
management report so that the users of the information can gain a complete under-
standing of the risks affecting the company and the way in which the company 
eliminates or mitigates such risks.

4  Information to be included in the management report and in 
documents presented voluntarily

The diversification of business reporting has given rise to documents presented 
voluntarily containing specialised information for the parties interested in the evo-
lution of companies. These documents address highly important issues such as so-
cial or environmental matters or share performance.

During its deliberations, the Working Group showed respect for the issuance of 
such documents, because they provide information on a company’s commitment to 
issues of concern to investors and the general public. However, since the manage-
ment report is a document of a general nature, it was concluded that it should con-
tain at least the most essential information on policies and indicators relating to 
these issues so that users can find all the important information in a single docu-
ment, without prejudice to the possibility of including the appropriate references 
that will enable them to gain a more in-depth knowledge of the actions taken in the 
areas concerned.

4.1 Social and environmental information

There has been a significant move towards highlighting the social and environmen-
tal aspects of companies’ operations as a result of a very widespread policy of being 
more in touch with society and of building awareness of “sustainability” in all mean-
ings of the word. Financial and management reporting, within this across-the-board 
shift, is complemented by the publication of information from a triple economic, 
social and environmental perspective constituting an integrated approach to the 
data that project a company’s identity.

Financial statements of companies prepared in accordance with the SGAP must in-
clude a note containing information on environmental issues, a rule which also ap-
plies to consolidated financial statements. The information to be included is defined 
in the Spanish Accounting and Audit Institute (ICAC) Resolution of 25 March 2002 
(Spanish Official State Gazette (BOE) of 4 April) and relates to expenses, assets, pro-
visions and obligations corresponding to the prevention, reduction and remediation 
of the environmental impact of the business activities carried on.

The information that must be included in the management report pursuant to Arti-
cle 262 of the SLLCL in relation to both key financial indicators and, where appro-
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priate, key non-financial indicators relevant to the particular business, including 
information relating to environmental and employee matters, does not conflict with 
and is not incompatible with the issuance of independent documents containing 
information of this nature.

In any case, the objective of recommendations 8 to 10 of Section III of this guide is 
merely to ensure that companies explain their social and environmental policies, 
along with their targets and the measures that they plan to adopt to achieve them, 
including the related management systems, and provide certain key indicators evi-
dencing their achievements in the reporting period, together with their future objec-
tives in these areas and the actions that they intend to take in order to achieve them. 
In this regard, the information included in the management report may take the 
form of a summary of that contained in more extensive voluntary documents ex-
plaining these issues in greater detail.

As regards the employees and the related breakdowns, companies may opt to in-
clude this information in a note to the financial statements rather than in the tables 
showing a detail of the headcount by category in the management report.

4.2 Stock market information

The reason underlying the publication by listed entities of data relating to their 
share performance and yield lies in their desire to demonstrate to shareholders and 
potential investors the attractiveness of their shares. As a result, a large number of 
companies publish shareholder updates in this connection.

In this regard, recommendation 42 in Section III of this guide, on stock market in-
formation, constitutes a suggestion aimed at ensuring that the management report 
contains information that is useful for the users thereof. The management report 
should include the essential data relating to the shares issued, including an assess-
ment of the changes in the share price and yield, based on the policy regarding 
dividends and other distributions to the shareholders (recommendation 43 of Sec-
tion III). The related data may be supplemented with an explanation of the meas-
ures taken to further the interests of the shareholders.

Consequently, as in the case of the social and environmental information, the infor-
mation relating to the share performance may take the form of a summary of the 
content of independent documents made available to the shareholders, to which the 
appropriate reference may be made. When there are no documents of this nature, it 
is much more advisable to include information on share performance in order to 
complete the perspective that the users of the management report can gain of the 
company’s policy and strategy in the period and of the measures that the company 
has taken in this connection.
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Appendix D:  Analysis of the regulatory framework 
of the principal markets

Introduction

This Appendix analyses in greater detail the form and content requirements for the 
management report existing in the applicable documents in certain markets (Cana-
da, the US, Germany and the UK) and in two documents drawn up by international 
bodies (the IOSCO and the IASB).

The objective here is to expand upon the section Regulatory	framework	of	the	prin-
cipal	markets included in the general guide drawn up by the Working Group. The 
aim is to analyse the content of the main documents currently existing in this field, 
issued by both national and international bodies, and to be able to assess the simi-
larities or differences with respect to the document prepared by the MRWG. In ad-
dition, two tables have been included for the following purpose:

1.  One contains a list of the documents indicated above and an analysis of their 
structure from the standpoint of four parameters: 1) objectives; 2) content; 3) 
principles and rules for the preparation of the management report; and 4) ex-
amples and illustrations. The last column of the table relates to the document 
drawn up by the MRWG, which encompasses the four parameters indicated 
above.

2.  Since the document issued by the IASB in 2010 was considered to be the inter-
national reference document for the purposes of the management report, the 
second table contains a comparison of that document with that drawn up by 
the MRWG. The references for the analysis are, once again, the four parame-
ters indicated above.

The document issued by the IASB in 2010 was considered to be the international 
reference document because it was the most recent of those analysed to be pub-
lished and, as confirmed by the IASB in the 2005 Discussion Paper and in the Basis	
for	Conclusions of the 2010 document, when it was drawn up the work performed 
on the most advanced legislation of the time (in Canada, the US, Germany and the 
UK) was taken into account.

The main conclusions can be summarised as follows:

The documents analysed are practically identical in terms of parameters 1 and 3 
(objectives and principles and rules for the preparation of the management report, 
respectively) in the sense that, in essence, the objectives, principles and rules consid-
ered are the same but in certain cases are worded differently.

As regards the content of management reports (parameter 2), the requirements of 
all the European documents are very similar, which is not surprising because the 
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content requirements are set forth in EU directives64 that must be complied with in 
all EU Member States. The only difference in this regard is that since the guide 
drawn up by the MRWG offers specific recommendations as to how to implement 
the content requirements relating to the matters that have to be reported, it ad-
dresses this issue in greater detail, as is the case of the US MD&A, which, in keeping 
with a criterion of best international practices, served as the inspiration for the de-
velopment of the recommendations contained in this guide.

The most significant differences relate to the inclusion of examples and illustrations 
(parameter 4). Only the US and UK documents include certain illustrations or exam-
ples. However, there are fewer examples than in the guide drawn up by the MRWG 
and they are less detailed. It was considered positive to include examples of this 
nature in the MRWG Guide so that they could assist issuers of management reports 
in interpreting the disclosure recommendations addressed herein.

Analysis

IASB

In 2007, following the publication of a Discussion Paper by the International Ac-
counting Standards Board (IASB) in 2005, a project to draw up a guide for manage-
ment reports was included in the IASB’s agenda. Thus, in December 2010 the IASB 
published a document called IFRS Practice Statement Management	 Commentary. 
This document has three main objectives:

1.  To set out a non-binding framework for the presentation of management com-
mentary;

2. To foster good practice; and

3.  To promote comparability across all entities that present management com-
mentary.

“Management commentary” is defined by this document as a narrative report that 
relates to financial statements that have been prepared in accordance with IFRSs: 

“Management commentary is a narrative report that provides a context within 
which to interpret the financial position, financial performance and cash flows of 
an entity. It also provides management with an opportunity to explain its objec-
tives and its strategies for achieving those objectives. Users routinely use the type 
of information provided in management commentary to help them evaluate an 
entity’s prospects and its general risks, as well as the success of management’s 
strategies for achieving its stated objectives. For many entities, management com-
mentary is already an important element of their communication with the capital 
markets, supplementing as well as complementing the financial statements.”

This document attempts to provide a broad non-binding framework for the presen-
tation of management commentary to accompany the financial statements prepared 
in accordance with IFRSs. Its methodological approach seeks to establish:

64 See “EU Directives” in “Regulatory framework”.
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1. Principles.

2. Qualitative characteristics and criteria for presentation.

3. Content or items making up the management commentary.

The document65 states that management should present commentary that is consist-
ent with the following principles:

a)  To provide management’s view of the entity’s performance, position and progress.

b)  To supplement and complement information presented in the financial state-
ments.

c)  In aligning with those principles, management commentary should include 
forward-looking information.

The document cites as qualitative characteristics66: relevance, faithful representa-
tion, comparability, verifiability, timeliness, understandability and materiality.

Also, the presentation criteria67 are as follows: management commentary should be: 
1) clear and straightforward; 2) suitable for the nature of the business, taking into 
account the size and complexity of the entity and the regulatory environment in 
which it operates; 3) consistent with its related financial statements; 4) free from 
duplication; 5) useful to users; 6) free from generic disclosures; and 7) free from im-
material disclosures.

Lastly, the document68 indicates that although the particular focus of management 
commentary will depend on the entity publishing it, it should include information 
that is essential to an understanding of:

1.  The nature of the business: depending on the nature of the entity publishing 
the management commentary, it should include a discussion of aspects such as 
the industries in which the entity operates, the entity’s main markets and com-
petitive position within those markets, significant features of the legal, regula-
tory and macro-economic environments that influence the entity, the entity’s 
main products, services, business processes and distribution methods and, 
lastly, the entity’s structure and how it creates value.

2.  Management’s objectives and its strategies for meeting those objectives: man-
agement should disclose its objectives and strategies in a way that enables us-
ers of the financial reports to understand the priorities for action as well as to 
identify the resources that must be managed to deliver results. Management 
should discuss significant changes in an entity’s objectives and strategies from 
previous periods.

3.  The entity’s most significant resources, risks and relationships: management 
commentary should set out the critical financial and non-financial resources 

65 Paragraph 12 et seq.

66 Paragraphs 20 and 21 of the document.

67 Established in paragraph 22 of the document.

68 Paragraphs 24 et seq.
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available to the entity and how those resources are used in meeting manage-
ment’s stated objectives for the entity.

  Also, as regards risks, management should disclose an entity’s principal risk 
exposures (strategic, commercial, operational and financial risks) and changes 
in those risks, together with its plans and strategies for mitigating those risks, 
as well as disclosure of the effectiveness of its risk management plans and 
strategies. Management should disclose its principal strategic, commercial, op-
erational and financial risks. The description of the principal risks facing the 
entity should cover both exposures to negative consequences and potential 
opportunities.

  Lastly, management should identify the significant relationships that the enti-
ty has with stakeholders, how those relationships are likely to affect the perfor-
mance and value of the entity, and how those relationships are managed.

4.  The results of operations and prospects: management commentary should in-
clude explanations of the performance and progress of the entity during the 
period and its position at the end of that period. Those explanations provide 
users of the financial reports with insight into the main trends and factors af-
fecting the business. Management should discuss the degree to which objec-
tives have been met through management’s strategies, and provide analysis of 
significant changes in financial position, liquidity and performance compared 
with those of previous periods. In this way, according to the IASB, the extent 
to which past performance may be indicative of future performance can be 
analysed. As regards prospects, management should provide an analysis of the 
prospects of the entity, which may include targets for financial and non-finan-
cial measures. This information can help users of the financial reports to un-
derstand how management intends to implement its strategies for the entity 
over the long term. When targets are quantified, management should explain 
the risks and assumptions necessary for users to assess the likelihood of achiev-
ing those targets.

5.  The performance measures and indicators that management uses to evaluate 
the entity’s performance against stated objectives: Management should dis-
close performance measures and indicators (both financial and non-financial) 
that are used by management to assess progress against its stated objectives. 
These indicators will be affected by the evolution of the industry in which the 
entity operates. Comparability among entities is enhanced if the performance 
measures and indicators are accepted and used widely within the related in-
dustry. As regards comparability among reporting periods, consistent report-
ing of performance measures and indicators increases the comparability of 
management commentary over time. However, if an entity’s objectives or 
strategies change, management should consider whether the measures and 
indicators presented in previous periods continue to be relevant. If manage-
ment changes the performance measures and indicators used, the changes 
should be identified and explained.

  Financial performance measures that are not required or defined by IFRSs 
should be defined and explained. When financial performance measures are 
derived or drawn from the financial statements, those measures should be 
reconciled to measures presented in the financial statements that have been 
prepared in accordance with IFRSs.
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IOSCO

The Technical Committee of the IOSCO published a report called “General Princi-
ples Regarding Disclosure of Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial 
Condition and Results of Operations” in February 2003. This report, which aims to 
provide a non-binding framework for analysing the financial information presented 
in companies’ financial statements, is structured as follows:

1. Objectives or principles that the document must achieve/respect; and

2. Qualitative characteristics and presentation criteria.

The report states that “the purpose of MD&A-type disclosure is to provide manage-
ment’s explanation of factors that have affected the company’s financial condition 
and results of operations for the historical periods covered by the financial state-
ments, and management’s assessment of factors and trends that will have a material 
effect on the company’s financial condition and results of operations in the future. 
Companies should provide the information that is necessary for an investor’s under-
standing of the company’s financial condition, changes in financial condition and 
results of operation”.

UK

In 2003 the Accounting Standards Board (ASB) revised a guide issued in 1993 with 
a view to specifying the content of a financial statement, called Operating and Fi-
nancial Review (OFR) and provided for in the UK Companies Act (1985). The pur-
pose of this revision was to establish a framework to enable management of compa-
nies to discuss the principal factors underlying the companies’ performance and 
financial position. The application of this report was, initially, voluntary and it co-
existed with the management report. The management report, which was intended 
for users of companies’ financial information and published in conjunction with it, 
had to contain, for example, information on a company’s activities, development, 
results, corporate governance, shareholders and management team.

At the beginning of 2005 UK legislation introduced corporate reporting-related meas-
ures from a dual standpoint: on the one hand, it strengthened the reporting require-
ments relating to the management report, broadening the range of matters to be in-
cluded in the Business Review (a document forming part of the management report), 
as a result of the transposition of Directive 2003/51/EC amending certain other Direc-
tives and, on the other, it gave mandatory force to the requirement for listed compa-
nies to prepare an OFR. In addition, it established the need to draw up certain stand-
ards for the preparation of the OFR now that its preparation was to become 
mandatory. The Government gave the ASB a statutory power to make those standards.

UK legislation described the objective of the Operating and Financial Review as fol-
lows:

“The objective of this Reporting Standard is to specify the best practice for an OFR, 
which should be a balanced and comprehensive analysis, consistent with the size 
and complexity of the business, of:

a)  the development and performance of the business of the entity during the fi-
nancial year;
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b) the position of the entity at the end of the year;

c)  the main trends and factors underlying the development, performance and 
position of the business of the entity during the financial year; and

d)  the main trends and factors which are likely to affect the entity’s future devel-
opment, performance and position”.

In May 2005 the ASB issued a document called Reporting Standard (RS) 1. This 
document constituted a guide to help the issuers of an OFR, now mandatory, to 
prepare it. RS 1 is a Standard based on principles which establish that the Operating 
and Financial Review should set out an analysis of the business through the eyes of 
the board of directors. Similarly, the Standard offers a general framework that man-
agement can apply in order to comply with the requirements set forth in the related 
legislation. However, the application of the framework and structure of the OFR 
constitutes a discretionary power of company management. RS 1 defines the Oper-
ating and Financial Review as follows:

  “The OFR is a narrative explanation, provided in or accompanying the annual 
report, of the main trends and factors underlying the development, perfor-
mance and position of an entity during the financial year covered by the finan-
cial statements, and those which are likely to affect the entity’s future develop-
ment, performance and position” (#3. Definitions).

In addition to this general-framework or principle-based approach, the ASB also 
prepared an implementation guide to accompany RS1. The guide proposes certain 
examples, illustrations and suggestions regarding specific content and key indica-
tors relating to the information to be included in the document.

However, in 2006 the obligation for listed companies to present an OFR was re-
placed by the obligation to present a Business Review. Government circles consid-
ered that the requirements of the two documents were similar and, therefore, they 
opted for the Business Review, through which the requirements of Directive 
2003/51/EC were met. The presentation of a Business Review became obligatory for 
large and medium-sized companies, including listed companies. This mandatory 
document in which, as in the case of the OFR, company management provides in-
formation about the business, must contain a balanced and comprehensive analysis 
of the development, performance and position of the business, which will include a 
description of the main risks and uncertainties, together with an analysis using such 
financial and non-financial indicators as might be required. It can be seen that the 
new requirements constituted a considerably faithful transposition of the wording 
of Directive 2003/51/EC.

The former Reporting Standard 1 was renamed “Reporting Statement” and was re-
vised by the ASB and published in 2006. This document contains good practices for 
preparing the information to be included in the Business Review. Its application is 
voluntary.

In summary, the documents currently used in the UK in relation to the management 
report are, as a general rule, the Business Review, included as a part of the more 
extensive Management report, governed by Section 417 of the UK 2006 Companies 
Act, and, as a guide, the aforementioned Reporting Statement. The specific content 
of the Business Review is as follows:
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A. Results of operations for the period.

B. Key performance indicators.

C. Description of the main risks and opportunities of the entity.

D. Forward-looking information.

E. Dividend policy.

F. Capital and R&D expenditure.

G. Capital structure.

H. Cash flows.

I. Liquidity.

J. Events after the reporting period.

K. Corporate responsibility (Reporting Statement 28).

 – Environmental issues

 – Employees (Equality Act, Section 78)

 – Social and community affairs

 – Contractual obligations

Germany

Tradition in Germany regarding management reports dates back to 1931, with Ger-
many being the European pioneer in this connection. Initially, all listed companies 
were obliged to prepare a management report with certain requirements that were 
very similar to those currently in force.

Several changes gave rise to the current management report, which is based on the 
legal requirements established by the European Union in this connection and its 
content is practically identical to that specified in the related directives.

In September 2012 the Deutsches	Rechnungslegungs	Standards	Committee (DRSC), 
the German accounting standards committee, published German Accounting Stand-
ard (GAS) 20, on the management report. This Standard is based on the legal re-
quirements of the European Union and also takes into account SEC requirements 
and the guides existing in Canada and the UK. GAS 20 establishes the principles, 
format and content to be used in preparing the management report. The document 
states that:

  “The Group management report (management report) must present a fair re-
view of the development and performance of the business and the position of 
the group. The expected development must be addressed and discussed in con-
junction with the most significant risks and opportunities. The main factors 
that might affect the future value of the company should be described; and it 
would be advisable for the key performance indicators used internally in the 
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management of the company to be identified. The management report consti-
tutes the means of presenting information to the users through the eyes of 
management. Thus, GAS 20 establishes that the intention of the management 
report is to redress the information asymmetry between, on the one hand, 
company management and, on the other, the users of the information con-
tained in the financial statements”.

The principles set forth in the document are as follows: completeness, reliability, 
clarity and transparency, materiality, proportionality of the information and con-
veyance of management’s perspective. The basic structure is as follows:

A. Nature of the business:

 1. Business model.

 2. Objectives and strategies.

 3. Management control system.

 4. Research and development.

B. Results:

 5. Macroeconomic and industry data.

 6. Business development and performance.

 7. Position of the entity.

 8. Performance measures and indicators.

C. Forward-looking information.

D. Risks and opportunities.

 9. Risks.

 10. Opportunities.

Canada

In Canada the provincial regulatory bodies known collectively as the Canadian Se-
curities Administrators (CSA) are responsible for establishing the requirements and 
content of the information complementing the financial statements. In December 
2003 a document called National Instrument 51-102 Continuous Disclosure Obliga-
tions was published, which contained the new requirements for preparing MD&As 
applicable in Canada.

In November 2002 the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (CICA) drafted 
a guide on the information to be published in MD&As. It identified six principles 
and a framework divided into five sections containing recommendations regarding 
disclosure practices. The CICA does not have statutory powers to publish standards 
on financial information of this nature and, therefore, this guidance is used by com-
panies on a strictly voluntary basis. However, the four largest Canadian regulators 
(members of the CSA) have explicitly encouraged companies to follow the recom-
mendations of the CICA.

The guide establishes that “useful MD&As explain the ‘why’ behind both past per-
formance and future prospects by connecting the internal and external information. 
They should enable readers to view the company through the eyes of management 
and provide material information for investors that enables them to make better 
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investment decisions. They should have a forward-looking orientation and focus on 
management’s strategy for generating value for investors over time”.

United States

In the US the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) is responsible for the 
Management Discussion and Analysis (management report). The Sarbanes-Oxley 
Act of 2002 established that the SEC had to carry out extensive additional legisla-
tive work which included the publication of various rules and proposals on issues 
such as accounting policies and fundamental estimates, liquidity, off balance 
sheet arrangements, contractual obligations and transactions with dependent 
third parties.

The SEC published two interpretative guidance documents in 2003 (nos. 33-8350 
and 34-48960) in which it was stated that “the purpose of MD&A is not compli-
cated. It is to provide readers information “necessary to an understanding of [a 
company’s] financial condition, changes in financial condition and results of op-
erations”. The MD&A requirements are intended to satisfy three principal objec-
tives:

1.  to provide a narrative explanation of a company’s financial statements that 
enables investors to see the company through the eyes of management;

2.  to enhance the overall financial disclosure and provide the context within 
which financial information should be analysed; and

3.  to provide information about the quality of, and potential variability of, a com-
pany’s earnings and cash flow, so that investors can ascertain the likelihood 
that past performance is indicative of future performance”.

The content of the US MD&As (Management Discussion and Analysis of Financial 
Condition and Results of Operations) is regulated in Item 303 (§ 229.303) of Regula-
tion S-K. This report must include:

A) Content of the MD&A:

 – Liquidity;

 – Capital resources;

 – Results of operations;

 – Off balance sheet arrangements;

 – Contractual obligations; 

 – Quantitative and qualitative disclosures about market risk.

B)  The causes for material changes in financial statement line items from one 
period to the next, to the extent necessary to an understanding of the compa-
ny’s business as a whole.

C)  The information provided must refer to the segments into which the company 
is divided.

D)  In addition to this information, the entity must provide such other informa-
tion that it believes to be necessary for users to gain an understanding of its 
financial condition, changes in financial position and results of operations.
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Table of similarities/differences between markets

Canada
NI 51-102

US
MD&A

UK
RS 1

Germany
GAS 20

IASB
MC 

Framework
OICV-IOSCO

MD&A
MRWG 

Document

Objectives of the management report       

Content of the management report       

Principles and rules for preparing the 

management report       

Illustrations and examples  * **    

 Includes   Not included

**  The volume and level of detail of the examples/illustrations are less extensive than in the case of the document drawn up by the MRWG (tables 

showing disclosure examples).

**  Included in Section on Implementation Guidance. It is specified that they should not be used as a template. The level of detail is less than in the 

MRWG Document.

Name per MRWG 
Document IASB MC Framework for Presentation MRWG Document

Objectives of the 
management report 
(Pillar I)

 1.  Provide management’s view of the performance, 
position and progress of the company.

 2.  Complement the information presented in the 
financial statements.

 3.  To achieve the foregoing, forward-looking 
information should be included in the content of 
the report.

 1.  Provide a faithful representation of the situation of the 
company and its business performance.

 2.  Disclose the entity’s risks, uncertainties and opportunities.
 3.  Complement the information contained in the financial 

statements.
 4.  Relevance, reliability, understandability, comparability, 

timeliness and usefulness for the user at which it is aimed.

Content of the 
management report 
(Pillar II)

 1.  The nature of the businesses.
 2.  Management objectives and strategies aimed at 

achieving them.
 3.  The most significant resources, risks and 

relationships of the entity.
 4.  The results of operations and prospects.
 5.  Performance measures and indicators used by 

management to assess the progress of the 
company with respect to the targets set.

 1.  Situation of the entity:
    – Organisational structure.
    – Modus operandi.
 2.  Business performance and results:
    – Key indicators.
    – Issues relating to the environment and employees.
 3.  Liquidity and capital resources.
 4.  Main risks and uncertainties.
 5.  Significant events after the reporting period.
 6.  Information on the outlook for the entity.
 7.  R&D activities.
 8.  Acquisition and disposal of treasury shares.
 9.  Other salient information.

Principles and rules for 
the preparation of the 
management report 
(Pillar III)

 1.  Relevance.
 2.  Faithful representation.
 3.  Comparability.
 4.  Verifiability.
 5.  Timeliness.
 6.  Understandability.
 7.  Materiality.
 8.  Be clear and straightforward.
 9.  Suitable for the nature of the business, taking into 

account the size and complexity of the entity and 
the regulatory environment in which it operates.

10.  Consistent with its related financial statements.
11.  Avoid duplication.
12.  Be useful to users.
13.  Avoid generic disclosures.
14.  Avoid immaterial disclosures.

 1.  Discussion through the eyes of management.
 2.  Clear, concise and coherent wording.
 3.  Objectiveness when explaining and analysing events, 

plans, forecasts and their consequences.
 4.  Specify sources, bases and assumptions contained in the 

forward-looking information.
 5.  Consistency with prior reports.
 6.  Avoid, to the extent possible, duplication with respect to 

the financial statements and other information.
 7.  Avoid immaterial disclosures.
 8.  Avoid the use of generic or standard disclosures.
 9.  Identify information from external sources and that 

produced by the company.
10.  Tailor the management report to the nature of the 

business, taking into account the size and complexity 
thereof.

Illustrations and 
examples

Does not contain illustrations or examples. Contains detailed guidance, illustrations and examples.
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Appendix E: Glossary of terms and abbreviations

In order to enhance the usefulness and uniformity of the information for investors 
and analysts of listed entities, set forth below are definitions of certain of the terms, 
together with the meanings of the main abbreviations, used in this document:

Term Content/Definition/Explanation

ACGR See Annual Corporate Governance Report.

Alternative performance 
measures (APM)

Financial variables (aggregates, indexes, ratios, etc.) specifically designed by the entity in order to 
show a facet of its activity, position or performance. The calculation of these variables is not 
standardised and, therefore, they require an explanation or, where appropriate, a reconciliation to 
other measures envisaged in accounting legislation.

Annual Corporate 
Governance Report 
(ACGR)

A document which contains information on the composition, functioning and certain governance 
aspects in the period of the board of directors of listed entities. It is a specific part of the management 
report and, therefore, it is subject to the same approval and publication requirements. Apart from the 
obligatory information required by the relevant legislation, the ACGR must follow, through a “comply 
or explain” approach, each of the 58 recommendations of the Unified Code of Good Governance 
prepared by a special working group for the CNMV in 2006.

Annual financial 
statements

A set of accounts made up of a balance sheet, an income statement, a statement reflecting changes 
in equity in the period, a statement of cash flows and notes to the financial statements which entities 
issue on an annual basis and which are authorised for issue by the directors. If the entity is obliged to 
apply consolidation bases, it will also issue consolidated financial statements together with the 
separate financial statements.

Audit Committee Specialised committee within the board of directors of a listed entity made up mostly of independent 
directors and chaired by one of them. The committee’s mission is to oversee the effectiveness of the 
company’s internal control, internal audit function and risk control; to supervise the preparation of 
statutory financial information; and to propose the appointment of auditors to the managing body 
for submission to the annual general meeting or equivalent body.

Auditors’ report A document which explains the activity performed by the auditors in relation to the financial 
statements, including their opinion, which may be unqualified, qualified or adverse or contain a 
disclaimer of opinion. The auditors include in the report a paragraph in which they comment on the 
consistency of the figures in the management report with those contained in the accounting records.

Average balance sheet* Balance sheet reflecting the average positions of the asset, liability and equity items. Banks habitually 
use balance sheets of this nature to show the return on assets and cost of liabilities in the period.

Basel Committee on 
Banking Supervision 
(BCBS)     

The Basel Committee on Banking Supervision is the principal regulatory body for the prudential 
regulation of banks. It also provides a forum for cooperation on banking supervisory matters. Its 
mandate is to strengthen the regulation, supervision and practices of banks worldwide in order to 
enhance financial stability. The BCBS does not possess any formal supranational authority. Its 
decisions do not have legal force. Rather, the BCBS relies on its members’ commitments to achieve its 
mandate.

Board of directors The highest decision-making body of an entity, responsible for establishing operating policies and for 
implementing strategies or measures aimed at achieving the objectives that have been defined. The 
Spanish Limited Liability Companies Law (Ley de Sociedades de Capital) confers upon it powers to 
manage and represent the company on the terms established therein. In particular, the company’s 
directors are obliged to formally prepare the financial statements and the management report, which 
is sometimes referred as directors’ report. 
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Business model Set of strategies chosen or designed by the entity for the purpose of carrying on its business activities 
and generating income and profits.

Capital resources An analysis included in the management report that makes reference to the obtainment of funds 
(equity or borrowings) to cater for the entity’s development or expansion plans. This analysis is 
usually supplemented by a description of the costs of the various alternative sources of funding.

Charged assets*     An asset is considered to have been charged if it has been pledged or is subject to some kind of 
agreement that secures, guarantees or enhances the creditworthiness of any transaction in which the 
asset has been provided as security.

CNMV Comisión Nacional del Mercado de Valores, the Spanish National Securities Market Commission.

Com. Code The 1885 Spanish Commercial Code, including the subsequent amendments thereto.

Comparability The qualitative characteristic of financial reporting that enables users to identify and understand 
similarities in, and differences between, figures measuring the same attribute at different entities or 
at different points in time at one entity.

Contingency plans Procedures designed by management of the entity to attempt to ensure the continuity of normal 
operations in the event of highly adverse scenarios (liquidity shortfalls, suspension of operations, ban 
on operating in certain sectors or segments, etc.).

Contractual obligations Set of obligations giving rise to an outflow of economic benefits for the entity, due either to 
commercial or financial agreements or to the maturity of contingent liabilities or other types of firm 
commitments.

Country risk Risk to which debtors or borrowers resident in a given country are exposed due to circumstances 
other than normal commercial risk. Sovereign risk (where loans have been made to the State), 
transfer risk (where currency exchange restrictions affect debtors’ ability to pay) and international 
financial activity risk (war, catastrophes, expropriation, etc.) are components of country risk.

Credit concentration 
risk*     

A risk to which banks are exposed as a result of having a significant proportion of their lending 
concentrated at multiple borrowers in a given location, sector of activity or with similar socio-
economic characteristics.

Credit concentration*     See Credit risk concentration.

Credit rating*     An evaluation of the degree of solvency of the entity made by a specialised agency. This constitutes 
useful information for the users of the financial information, particularly for the entity’s commercial or 
financial creditors.

Credit risk The risk that the payment obligations existing between the entity and its counterparties in financial 
or operating transactions (customers, banks, shareholders, borrowers, etc.) may not be met.

Directors Persons forming part of the board of directors or equivalent body of the entity. They can act 
individually (sole director) or collectively (board of directors).

Directors’ report See Management report

Doubtful receivables   The total amount of debt instruments, regardless of the holder thereof or of the associated 
guarantee, with respect to which any amount of the principal, interest or expenses contractually 
agreed upon is more than three months past due, except where these instruments have to be 
classified as bad debts; and contingent liabilities in which the principal has defaulted.

Duplication of 
information

Generic reference to mandatory information that might have to be included in more than one 
corporate document.

EBA*     European Banking Authority, which was created by Regulation (EU) No 1093/2010 of the European 
Parliament and of the Council of 24 November 2010 and officially established on 1 January 2011. The 
purpose of the European Banking Authority is to contribute towards safeguarding certain public 
values such as the stability of the financial system, the transparency of markets and financial products 
and the protection of depositors and investors.

EBITDA Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortisation. An alternative performance measure 
used by entities to approximate the funds that they would be able to obtain from operating assets.
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Enhanced Disclosure 
Task Force (EDTF)

The Enhanced Disclosure Task Force (EDTF) was created by the Financial Stability Board (FSB) in 
December 2011 in order to develop a set of principles for the improvement of reporting by banks, 
based on current market conditions and risks, so as to facilitate the improvement of disclosure 
comparability.

Environmental 
indicators

Indicators relating to the impact that the activities of the entity have had on living and inert natural 
systems, including in particular ecosystems, soil, air and water.

Equity The equity (assets less liabilities) of an entity.

ESMA European Securities and Markets Authority. This European Union authority was created in 2010 to 
contribute to safeguarding the stability of the European Union’s financial system by ensuring the 
integrity, transparency, efficiency and orderly functioning of securities markets, as well as enhancing 
investor protection. In particular, ESMA fosters supervisory convergence both amongst domestic 
securities regulators and across financial sectors by working closely with the other European 
supervisory authorities.

Events after the 
reporting period

Those events, both favourable and unfavourable, that occur between the end of the reporting period 
and the date when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

Financial information A set of documents that listed entities generally make available to investors and other users which 
contain a summary of the entity’s activities and the evolution of its situation. The annual package of 
financial information is made up of at least the following documents: financial statements, 
management report and auditors’ report.

Financial risk The risk arising from transactions involving the use of collection rights and payment obligations, and 
from operating in financial markets, including operations in currencies other than the functional 
currency. Financial risks include market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.

Financial statements These constitute a structured representation of the financial position and financial performance of an 
entity. A complete set of financial statements is made up of a balance sheet, an income statement, a 
statement reflecting the changes in equity, a statement of cash flows and notes to the financial 
statements, which describe the activities of the company and its situation at the end of the reporting 
period. Financial statements issued on an annual basis are usually called annual financial statements.

Foreclosed assets*     Assets that banks receive from their borrowers or other debtors in full or partial settlement of 
financial assets representing accounts receivable from the latter.

Global systemically 
important banks 
(G-SIBs)

A G-SIB is defined as a financial institution whose distress or disorderly failure, because of its size, 
complexity and systemic interconnectedness, would cause significant disruption to the wider 
financial system and economic activity.

IASB The International Accounting Standards Board, which was created in 2001 and issues International 
Financial Reporting Standards.

IASC International Accounting Standards Committee, which issued International Accounting Standards 
and approved the related interpretations in the period from 1973 to 2000. In April 2001 it was 
replaced by the IASB.

IASs International Accounting Standards, originally issued by the IASC between 1973 and 2000. They 
remain in force to the extent that they have not been amended or withdrawn by the IASB.

IFRSs International Financial Reporting Standards, issued by the IASB. They include both IFRSs in the true 
sense and IASs issued by the IASC, together with the interpretations relating to the two sets of 
standards.

IOSCO International Organization of Securities Commissions (IOSCO). A body that brings together the 
world’s securities regulators.

Key indicators Financial or non-financial variables used by management to measure the entity’s development, 
evolution, trends, performance or market positioning. The use of these indicators in the management 
report helps entities to communicate their operating objectives and simplifies the analysis made by 
the users of the information of the degree to which these objectives have been met. Key indicators 
are also used to make comparisons with the related industry or significant companies taken as a 
benchmark.
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Liquidity An analysis included in the management report that makes reference to the internal and external 
generation, and to the use, of liquid resources, as part of the entity’s financial and investment 
strategy. Information of this nature is important for enabling users to assess the company’s prospects 
and even the probability of its continuation as a going concern.

Liquidity risk The risk that the entity will be unable to meet its payment obligations. See Liquidity.

Listed company See Listed Entity.

Listed entity An entity whose securities are officially traded on a regulated market. Sometimes reference is made 
to “(listed) company” to express this same idea.

Loan-to-deposit (LTD) 
ratio*     

A ratio which compares, at a given point in time, the total loans made by an entity with the total 
deposits it has received. The ratio is used for analysing the liquidity policy of banks.

LSMEs Listed small or medium-sized enterprises.

Main risks and 
uncertainties

Set of circumstances that might give rise to doubts as to the favourable evolution of the performance 
of the reporting entity and, therefore, both their nature and their treatment are addressed in detail in 
the management report.

Management A term which refers, in general, to the team responsible for the planning, management and control of 
an entity. It is made up of the board of directors and the executives who report directly to the entity’s 
board of directors or chief executive officer.

Management 
commentary

See Management report.

Management objectives General targets or results that the entity wishes to achieve, for the purpose of which policies are 
established and strategies are implemented by the board of directors.

Management policies See Management Strategies.

Management report A document which forms part of the financial information of listed entities and other companies, in 
which the directors provide a fair explanation of the evolution of the business and the situation of the 
company, together with a description of the main risks facing the entity and the main business 
activities carried on. In practice, entities may also use names for this document which are equivalent 
to “management report”, such as “directors’ report”, “management commentary”, “management 
discussion and analysis” (MD&A) or “operating and financial review” (OFR).

Management strategies Set of coordinated actions or procedures through which it is aimed to achieve the entity’s 
management objectives.

MRWG CNMV Management Report Working Group, whose mission is to draw up a document to serve as the 
basis for this guide. The composition of this Group is shown in Appendix F.

Market risk The risk of changes in price conditions in the markets in which the entity operates, which can take the 
form of changes in interest rates, in exchange rates, in the price of financial instruments and in the 
price of raw materials.

Market yield Return on a security or on a stock market index for an investor.

Materiality Information is material if its omission or misstatement could influence the economic decisions taken 
by users on the basis of the financial information reported by the entity.

Maturity profile The distribution over time of the maturities of the loans received by the entity (and of those granted 
in the case of banks). 12-month maturity buckets are generally used for its calculation, or other 
representative periods of time (e.g. within 1 year, 1 to 3 years, 3 to 5 years and within more than 5 
years).

MD&A Management Discussion and Analysis. See Management report.

Moving annual total 
(MAT)

A concept that is expressed by the sum of the values of the data points of a time series for the last 
twelve months. It represents the monthly average of a variable that factors out the effect of 
seasonality.

Net return on interest-
earning assets*     

Result of dividing the net interest income by the total interest-earning assets.

Non-GAAP measures See Alternative Performance Measures.
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Off balance sheet 
transactions

Obligations acquired by the entity which, because they do not meet the requirements for recognition 
as liabilities, are not included in the company’s debts even though there is a definitive or binding 
agreement in relation to them. Examples of off balance sheet transactions are irrevocable future 
payments under operating leases or non-current or current asset purchase commitments. However, 
contingent liabilities arising from litigation, arbitration proceedings or other regulatory measures do 
not constitute off balance sheet transactions.

Operational risk Risk of a slowdown in or the suspension of the activities carried on by the entity that might give rise 
to losses, arising, among other things, from accidents, control failures, barriers or obstacles hindering 
competition, fraud, concentration of purchases or sales, the evolution of the countries in which 
operations are carried on, a deterioration of the entity’s image or a worsening of its reputation.

Outlook Set of projections or estimates regarding the future evolution of the entity, based on current 
conditions and reasonable assumptions regarding the entity’s future performance.

Personnel indicators Indicators relating to personnel management issues, referring in general to employment, the 
relationship between the company and its employees, occupational health and safety, training and 
education, as well as the treatment of diversity and equal opportunities.

Prospective information Information that relates to future events, actions or periods, which may take the form of quantitative 
estimates, based on assumptions used in economic models, or merely qualitative estimates. The 
supply of prospective information must be understood and assumed in a context of risk and 
uncertainty, and it must be disclosed and explained as such.

R&D&I activities Research, development and innovation activities.

Rating See Credit Rating.

Regulation S-K Generic name for the set of accounting and non-accounting documents that issuers of listed 
securities in the US must make public through the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC). Item 
303 contains the disclosure requirements in relation to Management’s discussion and analysis 
(MD&A) of financial condition and results of operations. Items 801 and 802 contain specific Industry 
Guides for companies operating in special industries, such as banks, insurance companies and real 
estate companies.

Regulatory capital*     The volume of capital that the regulator obliges a regulated entity (bank or insurance company) to 
have based on the risks that it assumes in its business activities. The equity must cover the regulatory 
capital requirements, and the capital adequacy may be demonstrated using a table reconciling the 
regulatory capital to equity.

Regulatory risk Risk arising from an unforeseen change in the regulatory conditions in any of the sectors in which the 
entity operates.

Relevance One of the qualitative characteristics of the information included in the management report. 
Information has the quality of relevance when it can influence the economic decisions of users.

Reliability One of the qualitative characteristics of the information included in the management report. 
Information has the quality of reliability when it is complete, neutral and free from material error and 
bias.

Research and 
development

See R&D&I Activities.

Restructured loans*     Loans arising from the transformation or re-instrumentation of previously existing loans, for which 
payment rescheduling terms and conditions are agreed upon, which are normally accompanied by 
changes in interest rates, collateral, caveats or other variables provided for in the related loan 
agreement.

Risk management The set of policies and actions that the entity implements in order to assume and address the risks to 
which it is exposed as a result of its business activities. The management report contains a description 
of the entity’s risk management, as well as of the effectiveness achieved in this connection.

ROCE Return on Capital Employed. An alternative measure of performance that is usually calculated by 
dividing net operating profit after tax by the sum of non-current assets and working capital.

ROE Return on Equity. An alternative measure of performance that is usually calculated by dividing the 
profit or loss for the period by the equity used by the entity.

SEC Securities and Exchange Commission. Securities market regulator and supervisor in the US.
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Segment (operating/
business)

Each of the components of the entity that carries on business activities, giving rise to income and 
expenses, whose operating results are reviewed regularly by the board of directors, based on specific 
financial information, in order to assess their performance and make decisions about resources to be 
allocated to the segment.

Sensitivity See Sensitivity analysis.

Sensitivity analysis An analysis that shows the effect, on the profit or loss for the period or on equity, of reasonably 
possible changes in a relevant market risk variable to which the entity is exposed (e.g. interest rates, 
exchange rates, etc.).

SGAP Spanish General Accounting Plan

SLLCL Spanish Limited Liability Companies Law (Ley de Sociedades de Capital). The SLLCL represents a 
consolidation of the previously existing legislation on public and private limited liability companies, 
the wording of which was approved by Spanish Legislative Royal Decree 1/2010, of 2 July.

SNCA The Spanish National Chart of Accounts (see Spanish General Accounting Plan).

Stress test*     Simulations of the performance or needs (for liquidity or capital) of an entity in situations that are 
highly detrimental to its business activity, such as a significant increase in customer default or the 
suspension of operations. It is an extreme example of the sensitivity analysis that can be made of 
certain risks in the management report.

Transparency Directive Directive 2004/109/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 15 December 2004, requiring 
the disclosure of accurate and timely information by security issuers in order to guarantee a high level 
of investor protection and the efficiency of regulated securities markets in the European Union.

Treasury shares Generic name for securities issued by the entity and later acquired from third parties. Both the 
definition and the treatment also encompass the shares of the parent of the group.

Users of financial 
information

Persons or groups interested in the activities carried on by an entity, who use the financial 
information as the basis for taking decisions vis-à-vis their interests.

** Article 3 of the Spanish Audit Law addresses this in detail.
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